APPENDIX F

Geology, Soils, Mineral Resources, and Paleontological Resources

APPENDIX F1

Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Report – Sacramento Country Day School, White Rock Road CONSULTING GROUP, INC. 1234 GLENHAVEN COURT · EL DORADO HILLS, CA 95762

P^H 916.933.0633 • F^x 916.933.6482 • E^M mail@youngdahl.net

Sacramento Country Day School % The FHK Companies 640 Watt Avenue, Suite 100 Sacramento, CA 95864 Attention: Mr. Fred Katz Project No. 03293 28 August 2003

Exp. 0-30

Subject: SACRAMENTO COUNTRY DAY SCHOOL White Rock Road Folsom, California PRELIMINARY GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING STUDY

References: 1) Proposal and Executed Contract for Services for Sacramento Country Day School, prepared by Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc., project no. P03-146, dated 1 July 2003.

Dear Mr. Katz:

In accordance with your authorization, Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc., has performed a preliminary geotechnical engineering study for the project site located on White Rock Road in Folsom, California. The purpose of the geotechnical phase of this study was to explore and evaluate the surface and subsurface soil and rock conditions at the site and to develop generalized geotechnical information for the proposed project. Our scope for the investigation was limited to a reconnaissance level field study, laboratory testing and preparation of a preliminary geotechnical engineering study per our proposal (Reference No. 1).

Based upon our field study, subsurface exploration program, laboratory testing and engineering analysis, we believe the primary geotechnical issues to be addressed consist of limited drainage and locally expansive soil. Other geotechnical issues which are not listed above may become more apparent upon conducting a more detailed investigation and plan review once more specific development plans are complete. The descriptions, findings, conclusions and recommendations provided in this report are formulated as a whole and specific conclusions or recommendations and should not be derived or used out of context. Please review the limitations and uniformity of conditions section of this report.

This report has been prepared for the exclusive use of Sacramento Country Day Schedlahutheir consultants, for specific application to this project, in accordance with generally accepted geotechnical engineering practice. Should you have any questions or require additional information, please contact our office at your convenience.

Very truly yours, Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc.

Keith E. Millard, R.G. Project Geologist

Reviewed by:

Robert F. Black, P.E. Project Engineer

Paniel C. Scolp 15 NO. 2133

David C. Sederquist, C.E.G, CH. GAPIRATION DATE Senior Engineering Geologist + 9-30-08

Distribution: (4) to Client

Important Information About Your

Geotechnical Engineering Report

Subsurface problems are a principal cause of construction delays, cost overruns, claims, and disputes

The following information is provided to help you manage your risks

Geotechnical Services Are Performed for Specific Purposes, Persons, and Projects

Geotechnical engineers structure their services to meet the specific needs of their clients A geotechnical engineering study conducted for a civil engineer may not fulfill the needs of a construction contractor or even another civil engineer Because each geotechnical engineering study is unique, each geotechnical engineering report is unique, prepared *solely* for the client No one except you should rely on your geotechnical engineering report without first conferring with the geotechnical engineer who prepared it *And no one* --- *not even you* --- should apply the report for any purpose or project except the one originally contemplated

Read the Full Report

Serious problems have occurred because those relying on a geotechnical engineering report did not read it all Do not rely on an executive summary Do not read selected elements only

A Geotechnical Engineering Report is Based on A Unique Set of Project-Specific Factors

Geotechnical engineers consider a number of unique, project-specific factors when establishing the scope of a study Typical factors include: the client's goals, objectives, and risk management preferences, the general nature of the structure involved, its size, and configuration; the location of the structure on the site; and other planned or existing site improvements, such as access roads, parking lots, and underground utilities Unless the geotechnical engineer who conducted the study specifically indicates otherwise, do not rely on a geotechnical engineering report that was:

- not prepared for you,
- not prepared for your project,
- not prepared for the specific site explored, or
- completed before important project changes were made

Typical changes that can erode the reliability of an existing geotechnical engineering report include those that affect:

 the function of the proposed structure, as when it's changed from a parking garage to an office building, or from a light industrial plant to a refrigerated warehouse,

- elevation, configuration, location, orientation, or weight of the proposed structure,
- composition of the design team, or
- project ownership

As a general rule, *always* inform your geotechnical engineer of project changes—even minor ones—and request an assessment of their impact *Geotechnical engineers cannot accept responsibility or liability for problems that occur because their reports do not consider developments of which they were not informed*

Subsurface Conditions Can Change

A geotechnical engineering report is based on conditions that existed at the time the study was performed *Do not rely on a geotechnical engineering report* whose adequacy may have been affected by: the passage of time; by man-made events, such as construction on or adjacent to the site; or by natural events, such as floods, earthquakes, or groundwater fluctuations *Always* contact the geotechnical engineer before applying the report to determine if it is still reliable A minor amount of additional testing or analysis could prevent major problems

Most Geotechnical Findings Are Professional Opinions

Site exploration identifies subsurface conditions only at those points where subsurface tests are conducted or samples are taken. Geotechnical engineers review field and laboratory data and then apply their professional judgment to render an opinion about subsurface conditions throughout the site. Actual subsurface conditions may differ—sometimes significantly—from those indicated in your report. Retaining the geotechnical engineer who developed your report to provide construction observation is the most effective method of managing the risks associated with unanticipated conditions.

A Report's Recommendations Are Not Final

Do not overrely on the construction recommendations included in your report *Those recommendations are not final*, because geotechnical engineers develop them principally from judgment and opinion Geotechnical engineers can finalize their recommendations only by observing actual

subsurface conditions revealed during construction *The geotechnical* engineer who developed your report cannol assume responsibility or liability for the report's recommendations if that engineer does not perform construction observation

A Geotechnical Engineering Report Is Subject to Misinterpretation

Other design team members' misinterpretation of geotechnical engineering reports has resulted in costly problems Lower that risk by having your geotechnical engineer conter with appropriate members of the design team after submitting the report. Also retain your geotechnical engineer to review pertinent elements of the design team's plans and specifications. Contractors can also misinterpret a geotechnical engineering report. Reduce that risk by having your geotechnical engineer participate in prebid and preconstruction conferences, and by providing construction observation.

Do Not Redraw the Engineer's Logs

Geotechnical engineers prepare final boring and testing logs based upon their interpretation of field logs and laboratory data. To prevent errors or omissions, the logs included in a geotechnical engineering report should *never* be redrawn for inclusion in architectural or other design drawings Only photographic or electronic reproduction is acceptable, *but recognize that separating logs from the report can elevate risk*

Give Contractors a Complete Report and Guidance

Some owners and design professionals mistakenly believe they can make contractors liable for unanticipated subsurface conditions by limiting what they provide for bid preparation. To help prevent costly problems, give contractors the complete geotechnical engineering report, *but* preface it with a clearly written letter of transmittal. In that letter, advise contractors that the report was not prepared for purposes of bid development and that the report's accuracy is limited; encourage them to confer with the geotechnical engineer who prepared the report (a modest fee may be required) and/or to conduct additional study to obtain the specific types of information they need or prefer A prebid conference can also be valuable. *Be sure contractors tave sufficient time* to perform additional study. Only then might you be in a position to give contractors the best information available to you, while requiring them to at least share some of the financial responsibilities stemming from unanticipated conditions.

Read Responsibility Provisions Closely

Some clients, design professionals, and contractors do not recognize that geotechnical engineering is far less exact than other engineering disciplines. This lack of understanding has created unrealistic expectations that

have led to disappointments, claims, and disputes To help reduce the risk of such outcomes, geolechnical engineers commonly include a variety of explanatory provisions in their reports Sometimes labeled "limitations" many of these provisions indicate where geolechnical engineers' responsibilities begin and end, to help others recognize their own responsibilities and risks *Read these provisions closely*. Ask questions Your geolechnical engineer should respond fully and frankly

Geoenvironmental Concerns Are Not Covered

The equipment, techniques, and personnel used to perform a *geoenvironmental* study differ significantly from those used to perform a *geotechnical* study. For that reason, a geotechnical engineering report does not usually relate any geoenvironmental findings, conclusions, or recommendations; e.g., about the likelihood of encountering underground storage tanks or regulated contaminants. *Unanticipated environmental problems have led to numerous project failures*. If you have not yet obtained your own geoenvironmental information, ask your geotechnical consultant for risk management guidance. *Do not rely on an environmental report prepared for someone else*.

Obtain Professional Assistance To Deal with Mold

Diverse strategies can be applied during building design, construction, operation, and maintenance to prevent significant amounts of mold from growing on indoor surfaces. To be effective, all such strategies should be devised for the express purpose of mold prevention, integrated into a comprehensive plan, and executed with diligent oversight by a professional mold prevention consultant. Because just a small amount of water or moisture can lead to the development of severe mold infestations, a number of mold prevention strategies focus on keeping building surfaces dry While groundwater, water infiltration, and similar issues may have been addressed as part of the geotechnical engineering study whose findings are conveyed in this report, the geotechnical engineer in charge of this project is not a mold prevention consultant; none of the services performed in connection with the geotechnical engineer's study were designed or conducted for the purpose of mold prevention. Proper implementation of the recommendations conveyed in this report will not of itself be sufficient to prevent mold from arowing in or on the structure involved.

Rely, on Your ASFE-Member Geotechncial Engineer for Additional Assistance

Membership in ASFE/THE BEST PEOPLE ON EARTH exposes geotechnical engineers to a wide array of risk management techniques that can be of genuine benefit for everyone involved with a construction project. Confer with you ASFE-member geotechnical engineer for more information



8811 Colesville Road/Suite G106, Silver Spring, MD 20910 Telephone: 301/565-2733 Facsimile: 301/589-2017 e-mail: info@aste org www.aste org

Copyright 2004 by ASFE. Inc. Ouplication. reproduction. or copying of this document, in whole or in part, by any means whatsoever, is strictly prohibited. except with ASFE's specific written permission. Excerpting. quoting. or otherwise extracting wording from this document is permitted only with the express written permission of ASFE. and only for purposes of scholarly research or book review. Only members of ASFE may use this document as a complement to or as an element of a geotechnical engineering report. Any other firm, individual, or other entity that so uses this document without being an ASFE member could be committing negligent or intentional (fraudulent) misrepresentation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0	INTRODUCTION 1 1.1 Purpose and Scope 1 1
2.0	PROJECT DESCRIPTION
3.0	SITE DESCRIPTION13.1Background13.2Surface Observations23.3Subsurface Exploration23.4Subsurface Conditions23.5Geologic Conditions33.6Laboratory Testing4
4.0	CONCLUSIONS
5.0	RECOMMENDATIONS65.1General5.2Site Preparation5.3Engineered Fills5.4Slope Grading5.5Finish Soilgrade Preparation5.6Drainage Considerations5.7Seismic Design Criteria6.0LIMITATIONS AND UNIFORMITY OF CONDITIONS12
APPE	NDIX A14Field study15Vicinity Map (Figure A-1)16Site Plan (Figure A-2)17Conceptual Site Plan (Figure A-2a)18Logs of Exploratory Pits (Figures A-3 through A-39)19Soil Classification Chart and Pit Log Legends (Figure A-40)45
APPE	NDIX B47Laboratory Testing48Expansion Index Test (Figure B-1)49Atterberg Limit Tests (Figures B-2 and B-3)50Modified Proctor Tests (Figures B-4 and B-5)52
APPE	NDIX C

PRELIMINARY GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING STUDY for SACRAMENTO COUNTRY DAY SCHOOL White Rock Road Folsom, California

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This report presents the results of our Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Study performed for the proposed Sacramento Country Day School planned to be constructed north of White Rock Road near Scott Road in Folsom, California. Refer to Figure A-1 for a vicinity map for the project site.

1.1 Purpose and Scope

The purpose of this study was to explore and evaluate the surface and subsurface conditions at the site and to develop geotechnical information and design criteria for the proposed project. The scope of this study includes the following:

- 1. A review of geotechnical and geologic data available to us at the time of our study.
- 2. A field study consisting of a visual site reconnaissance, followed by an exploratory test pit program to characterize the subsurface conditions.
- 3. A laboratory testing program performed on representative samples collected during our field study.
- 4. Engineering analysis of the data and information obtained from our field study, laboratory testing, and literature review. Development of recommendations for site preparation and grading.
- 5. Preparation of this report summarizing our findings, conclusions, and recommendations regarding the geotechnical aspects for the project.

2.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION

As a result of the preliminary nature of this investigation, full development plans were not provided to us. Instead, a conceptual illustration indicates a middle and elementary school project which will eventually include 10 buildings, a swimming pool, track and field, multiple athletic courts and fields and associated utilities and pavements. The project is to be built over a period of about 10 to 20 years in three phases.

For the purpose of this report, we have assumed that grading operations will consist of cuts and fills on the order of 25 feet or less and that foundation loads will be light to moderate. Once specific building plans and foundation loads become available, we recommend a more detailed level of investigation to include specific design criteria.

3.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

3.1 Background

Review of our records indicates that the project site has likely been used for ranching through present day. Some limited mining exploration is evidenced by possible prospect pits on the subject property. If studies or plans exist that pertain to the site which aren't cited as a reference in this

report, we should be afforded the opportunity to review and modify our conclusions and recommendations as necessary.

3.2 Surface Observations

The project site is located on the north side of White Rock Road between Scott Road and Prairie City Road, in Folsom, California. It is roughly square in shape and encompasses 80 acres. The north, west and east sides are bounded by undeveloped ranch land, and White Rock Road forms the southern boundary. Topography is hummocky with minor drainages along the site's western edge and rises roughly 25 feet over a north-south trending series of hills just west of center. Continuing eastward, topography falls roughly 40 feet to cross a northward-running drainage then rises again roughly 15 feet onto rolling terrain along the eastern edge. Site relief totals 57 feet from the top of a knoll in the northwestern quarter to where a drainage exits the northeast quarter. Existing structures are limited to a small corral in the southeast corner. Vegetation includes many large oak trees on the western half of the site and a dense growth of grasses and weeds elsewhere. An incised drainage in the southwestern quarter, shaded by large oak trees, also supports several smaller trees and bushes. Dormant remains of small flowering plants were observed in vernal pools throughout the site.

3.3 Subsurface Exploration

Our field study included a site reconnaissance by a Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc., representative followed by a subsurface exploration program conducted on 9 through 11 July 2003, which included the excavation of 37 test pits (20 geotechnical, 10 for septic design, 7 for geology/groundwater) under his direction at the approximate locations shown on Figure A-2, Appendix A. Excavation of the test pits was accomplished with a John Deere 310SG rubber tiremounted backhoe equipped with 18 and 24 inch wide buckets. Bulk and bag samples were collected from the pits. The test pits were not backfilled with engineered fills and will require re-excavation and compaction of the soils during site development. Refer to Appendix B for a more detailed description of the subsurface exploration procedure.

3.4 Subsurface Conditions

Subsurface conditions at the site can be summarized into three categories. The southwestern half of the site is comprised primarily of very light brown silty SAND in a loose and dry state to depths of 2 to 5 feet underlain by orange silty SAND with a trace of clay and gravel in a slightly cemented medium dense to dense and dry to wet state to depths approaching 8 feet. A few test pits encountered light brown poorly graded SAND with a trace of silt in a medium dense and slightly moist to wet state below the silty SANDs and extending to the maximum depth of exploration. A few others, in the northwest and southeast corners of the site, found the surficial silty SANDs to be underlain at depths of 3 to 5 feet by GABBRO BEDROCK decomposed to residual soil with slight moisture and density increasing with depth. Much of the northeastern half of the site is underlain by gray to black SLATE BEDROCK, highly to moderately weathered, indurated, and with well developed foliation and fracturing. Numerous outcrops penetrated the surface and soil overburden was typically 6 to 8 inches thick. Finally, the hill in the north-central portion of the site revealed red brown sandy CLAY in a hard and dry to slightly moist state to depths of 6 to 8 feet underlain by brown poorly graded SAND with a trace of silt in a medium dense and slightly moist to moist state to the maximum depth of exploration.

Free groundwater was not encountered during our explorations. However, subsurface water conditions typically vary in the foothill region. Our experience in the area shows that water may be

perched on and present in the fractures of the weathered bedrock found beneath the site at varying times of the year as is evidenced by the presence of vernal pools.

A more detailed description of the subsurface conditions encountered is presented graphically on the "Exploratory Test Pit Logs", Figures A-3 through A-39, presented in Appendix A. These logs show a graphic interpretation of the subsurface profile and the location and depths at which samples were collected.

3.5 Geologic Conditions

The geologic portion of this report included a review of geologic data pertinent to the site, and an interpretation of our observations and the Logs of Exploratory Test Pits excavated during the field study.

The project site is situated along the eastern edge of Sacramento County, at the base of the foothills of the Sierra Nevada geomorphic province. Tectonic building during the late Triassic and much of the Jurassic resulted from oceanic and island masses subducting under or accreting onto the continental land mass and thereby caused extensive mountain formation. At the same time, large amounts of soil and rock were eroded off the mountains and deposited in the adjoining deep marine basins, which today comprise the Great Valley sedimentary beds and includes the greater Sacramento area flatlands.

Faults in the province, which generally strike northwest and dip eastward, were typically generated by either collision or subduction between the ancient oceanic and continental plate masses. These faults are represented in the local region by the Morman Island Shear Zone, the east and west branches of the Bear Mountains Fault Zone, and the Foothills-Melones Fault Zone. All of these fault systems are considered only potentially active, with the last fault movement on any of these systems estimated to have occurred a minimum of 50 thousand to 2 million years before present (CDMG, GDM-6, 1994). The Morman Island Shear Zone roughly trends along the Sacramento County line in the Folsom area, approximately 3 miles east of the site, and the West Branch of the Bear Mountains Fault is mapped about 5 miles to the northeast in El Dorado Hills roughly paralleling El Dorado Hills Boulevard. The Foothill-Melones Fault Zone is located 16 miles to the east of the site in the Placerville area.

According to the California Division of Mines and Geology map for the Folsom 15-minute quadrangle (OFR 84-50, Plate I, 1984), the subject site spans a geologic contact between metamorphic slate related to the Late Jurassic island arc Salt Springs Formation to the east and igneous gabbro related to the Mesozoic Foothill Melange-Ophiolite Terrane to the west. Perched atop this contact in the hill in the north-central portion of the site is an eroded remnant of alluvial sediments related to the Tertiary age Laguna Formation. Rock outcrops at the site consisted of steeply dipping, metamorphic slate bedrock. The slate is generally foliated, fractured and weathered in a manner that lends itself to excavatability. The onsite soils are derived mainly from weathering of the underlying igneous gabbro bedrock, the Salt Springs slate, and sedimentary Laguna Formation and consist mainly of silty sands, sands and clayey sands.

Strong earthquakes generated along any northern California or western Nevada active faults may affect the site, depending on the characteristics of the earthquake and the location of the epicenter (CDMG, OFR 96-08, 1996). Maximum horizontal acceleration predicted for the site from regional active faults and regional potentially active faults would be on the order of 0.2g and 0.3g,

X	Sacramento Country Day School	Project No. 03293
	Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Study	28 August 2003

respectively (CDMG, OFR 96-08, 1996). In general, the effects will be confined to those phenomena associated with shaking and/or acceleration and will be minimized by adequate design and construction procedures. Based on the soil properties and topography of the site, there is no reasonable danger from earthquake-induced liquefaction or landsliding. The new 1998 edition of the California Building Code classifies the site as being within the Zone 3 seismic region. Based on our subsurface interpretations, the eastern portion of the site, underlain by slate bedrock, is classified as Soil Profile Type S_B . The remainder of the site, underlain by soil, is classified as Soil Profile Type S_c . Seismic coefficients of 0.30 (for Soil Profile Type S_B) and 0.45 (for Soil Profile Type S_c) and a near source factor of 1.0 for acceleration and velocity are applicable to the site.

<u>Asbestos Assessment</u>: Due to the site's geologic conditions, sampling and testing were performed to evaluate if naturally occurring asbestos is present in the soil and underlying rock in a manner which could potentially result in a health risk during construction. Six samples, representative of the near-surface soils, were collected and submitted to an accredited laboratory for asbestos testing by California Air Resources Board Test Method 435 (ARB TM 435). Asbestos was not detected in these samples. Laboratory results are presented in Appendix C.

3.6 Laboratory Testing

The laboratory testing of collected samples was directed towards determining the physical and engineering properties of the soils underlying the site. A description of the tests performed and their results are presented in Appendix B.

4.0 CONCLUSIONS

We offer the following general geotechnical conclusions concerning this development project.

<u>Site Suitability</u>: The native soils and rock, processed and compacted as recommended below, are considered suitable for support of the planned improvements, pending review of specific foundation plans.

<u>Expansive Soils</u>: We encountered low expansive soils at depths of 0 to 6 feet in Test Pits TP-8 through TP-10 and TP-24 through TP-29. These expansive soils can cause moderate distress to structural improvements if present within the upper 3 feet of grade. Expansive soils can shrink and swell with changes of moisture content resulting in structural distress of improvements supported on these materials. Improvement areas should be mitigated as described in the recommendations section of this report. A review of grading plans should be performed prior to mass grading operations to determine the extent of mitigation measures required.

<u>Groundwater</u>: At the time of excavation (9 July 2003), free groundwater was not encountered in our explorations. However, subsurface water conditions typically vary in the foothill region. Our experience in the area shows that water may be encountered in the fractured and weathered rock found beneath the site at varying times of the year, and shallow or perched groundwater levels probably occur during the winter and spring months as evidenced by the presence of vernal pools. At all times of the year, groundwater levels would likely fluctuate in response to precipitation patterns and site utilization.

A perched water table often develops in shallow bedrock and cemented soil horizons as surface water percolates down through the surface soils and perches on top of the relatively impermeable horizon. The perched water can saturate surface soils. Saturated soils may be unstable under

X	Sacramento Country Day School	Project No. 03293
	Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Study	28 August 2003

construction equipment, and may require considerable aeration in order to achieve a moisture content which will allow compaction. The prospect of saturated soils should be considered in construction scheduling. Water inflow into any excavation approaching hard rock surface is likely to be experienced in all but the driest summer and fall months.

Following site development, additional water sources (ie. landscape watering, downspouts) are generally present. The presence of low permeability materials can prohibit rapid dispersion of surface and subsurface water drainage. Utility trenches typically provide a conduit for water distribution. Provisions may be necessary to mitigate adverse effects of perched water conditions. Mitigation measures may include the construction of cut-off systems and/or plug and drain systems. Close coordination between the design professionals regarding drainage and subdrainage conditions may be warranted.

<u>Subdrainage</u>: Building pads or pavement areas constructed in cut which approach the weathered bedrock or cemented soil horizon may require subdrainage measures. Such measures may include an increase in the crushed rock capillary break and/or installation of subdrain trenches beneath or around the building pads and/or design pavement section. Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. should review the final development plans, when available, to obtain a preliminary indication of where subdrainage may be required. Subdrainage requirements should be based on our observation of building pad and pavement areas following grading, but may also be necessary following future development of areas adjacent to, or on the property.

Excavation: The test pits were excavated using a John Deere 310SG backhoe equipped with an 18 inch wide bucket. The degree of difficulty encountered in excavating our test pits is an indication of the effort that will be required for excavation during construction. Based on our test pits, we expect that the site soils can be excavated using conventional earthmoving equipment such as a Caterpillar D6 to D8 for mass grading and rubber tired backhoe for trench excavations. The underlying rock materials can likely be excavated using a Caterpillar D8 equipped single or multiple shank rippers, or similar equipment. We anticipate that a ripper equipped D8 can penetrate at least as deep as our test pits at most locations with moderate effort. Deeper excavation into the less weathered rock may require heavier equipment, such as a D9, or a D10.

Where rock cuts in fractured rock are proposed, the orientation and direction of ripping will likely play a large role in the rippability of the material. If hard rock is encountered, we should be contacted to provide additional recommendations prior to performing an alternative such as blasting.

Utility trenches will likely encounter hard rock excavation conditions especially in deeper cut areas. Utility contractors should be prepared to use special rock trenching equipment such as rock wheel excavators or large excavators such as a CAT 235 or CAT 245. Water inflow into any excavation approaching a hard rock surface is likely to be experienced in all but the driest summer and fall months. Pre-ripping during mass grading may be beneficial and should be considered with the Geotechnical Engineer prior to, or during mass grading.

<u>Liquefaction</u>: Liquefaction is the sudden loss of soil shear strength and sudden increase in porewater pressure caused by shear strains, as could result from an earthquake. Research has shown that saturated, loose to medium-dense sands with a silt content less than about 25 percent located within the top 40 feet are most susceptible to liquefaction. Due to the absence of a

permanent elevated groundwater table, the relatively low seismicity of the area, the relatively shallow depth to bedrock, the potential for site liquefaction is considered negligible.

<u>Slope Stability</u>: The project site is proposed to have minor cuts and fill with a maximum slope orientation of 2H:1V (horizontal:vertical). Generally a cut slope orientation of 2H:1V is considered stable with the material types encountered on the site. A fill slope constructed at the same orientation is considered stable if compacted to the engineered fill recommendations as stated in the recommendations section of this report. All slopes should have appropriate drainage and vegetation measures to minimize erosion of slope soils.

The existing slopes on the project site were observed to have adequate vegetation on the slope face, appropriate drainage away from the slope face, and no apparent tension cracks or slump blocks in the slope face or at the head of the slope.

Steeper fill slope gradients may be achievable through the use of geotextile materials to strengthen and/or provide erosion protection. Surficial stability of steeper cut slopes may be achievable due to the geology of the cut materials. Steepening of slopes greater than 2H:1V will require design and observation during the proposed cut and/or fill. Any slope excavations proposed to be greater than 10 feet in maximum height should be evaluated during and prior to completion of site grading.

<u>Seismic Considerations</u>: Based on our literature review and subsurface interpretations, we recommend that the project be designed in accordance with the latest applicable California Building Code (CBC), Chapter 16. This site is located within Seismic Risk Zone 3. Based on our subsurface interpretations, the eastern portion of the site, underlain by slate bedrock, is classified as Soil Profile Type S_{B^*} . The remainder of the site, underlain by soil, is classified as Soil Profile Type S_{B^*} .

5.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 General

Based on our preliminary exploration, the site is suitable for the proposed improvements provided the recommendations presented in this report are incorporated into the project plans and specifications.

All grading, foundation, and landscape drainage plans should be reviewed by Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc., hereinafter described as the Geotechnical Engineer, prior to contract bidding. A review should be performed to determine whether the recommendations contained within this report are incorporated into the project plans and specifications.

Our recommendations are based on limited windows into the subsurface conditions. Additional exploration, based on planned structure locations and loads, should be performed in order to develop specific geotechnical design criteria. Field observation and testing during the grading operations should be provided by the Geotechnical Engineer so that an opinion may be formed regarding the adequacy of the site preparation, the acceptability of fill materials, and the extent to which the earthwork construction and the degree of compaction comply with the project geotechnical specifications. Any work related to grading performed without the full knowledge of, and under direct observation by the Geotechnical Engineer may render the conclusions and recommendations of this report invalid.

Sacramento Country Day School Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Study

Section 3317.8 in Appendix Chapter 33 of the latest California Building Code states that, in regard to the transfer of responsibility, if the Geotechnical Engineer of Record for the project site is not maintained through the grading phase of the project, the work shall be stopped until the replacement has agreed in writing to accept their responsibility within the area of technical competence for approval upon completion of the work. Our design recommendations should not be relied upon without our consultation, observation and testing services during all aspects of grading on the site.

We recommend that the applicable chapters of the latest edition of the CBC be adhered to during the design and construction of the proposed structures.

5.2 Site Preparation

Preparation of the project site should involve temporary drainage, dust control, demolition, clearing, stripping, existing fills, subgrade compaction, differential support conditions, and groundwater considerations. The following paragraphs state our geotechnical comments and recommendations concerning site preparation.

<u>Temporary Drainage</u>: We recommend that initial site preparation involve intercepting and diverting any potential sources of surface or near-surface water within the construction zones. Because the selection of an appropriate drainage system will depend on the water quantity, season, weather conditions, construction sequence, and contractor's methods, final decisions regarding drainage systems are best made in the field at the time of construction. All drainage and/or water diversion performed for the site should be in accordance with the Clean Water Act and applicable Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan.

<u>Dust Control</u>: Dust control provisions should be provided for as required by the local jurisdiction's grading ordinance (i.e. water truck or other adequate water supply during grading).

<u>Demolition</u>: As part of a demolition operation, any and all unwanted foundation and structural improvement elements should be exhumed and removed from the site. In addition, any underground storage tanks, abandoned wells or other utilities not intended for reuse should be removed or backfilled in accordance with the appropriate regulations.

Concrete and asphalt separated from the other debris, and adequately broken down in particle size, may be mixed thoroughly with native soils and placed as engineered fill as described below. If this option is exercised, a representative from our firm should be contacted to observe the adequacy of grading operations associated with the breaking and mixing of these elements.

<u>Clearing and Stripping</u>: Clearing and stripping operations should remove all organic laden materials including trees, bushes, root balls, root systems, and any soft or loose material generated from removal operations. Surface grass stripping operations may be necessary depending upon the insitu conditions at the time of mass grading. Short or mowed dry grasses may be pulverized and lost within fill materials provided no concentrated pockets of organics result. It is the responsibility of the grading contractor to remove excess organics from the fill materials. No more than 2 percent of organic material, by weight, should be allowed within the fill materials at any given location.

General site clearing should also include removal of any loose or saturated materials from the proposed structural improvement and pavement areas. A representative of our firm should be

X	Sacramento Country Day School	Project No. 03293
	Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Study	28 August 2003

present during site clearing operations to identify the location and depth of potential fills not disclosed by this report, to observe removal of deleterious materials, and to identify any existing site conditions which may require mitigation prior to site development. Preserved trees may require tree root protection which should be addressed on an individual basis by a qualified arborist.

Existing Fills: Although not encountered during our subsurface exploration, all fills and fill stockpiles, if encountered, should be over-excavated down to firm native materials. Any depressions extending below final grade resulting from the removal of fill materials or other deleterious materials should be properly prepared as discussed below and backfilled with engineered fill. Prior to placement of engineered fill, the exposed soil surfaces receiving fills should be scarified to a minimum depth of 8 inches, moisture conditioned as necessary, and compacted to at least 90 percent of the maximum dry density based on the ASTM D1557 test method. Additionally, test pits should be re-excavated and backfilled with engineered fill.

If existing fills were placed and documented as engineered fill materials, a review of the appropriate documentation should be performed.

Exposed Grade Compaction: Exposed soil grades following initial site preparation activities should be scarified to a minimum depth of 8 inches and compacted to the requirements for engineered fill. Prior to placing fill, the exposed subgrades should be in a firm, unyielding state. Any localized zones of soft or pumping soils observed within a subgrade should either be scarified and recompacted or be overexcavated and replaced with engineered fill as defined below in Section 5.3.

<u>Differential Support Conditions</u>: During preparation of this preliminary report, specific structure or grading plans were not available for our review. Differential support conditions may be a concern where fills are placed and compacted for construction of a building pad and the proposed building will span from a native to deep fill condition. In order to mitigate the potential for differential settlement, overexcavation of the cut portion of the building pad, deepening of the foundations, or adjustment of compaction requirements may be recommended. We should be afforded the opportunity to review the construction plans in order to develop site specific recommendations regarding differential conditions.

<u>Groundwater Considerations</u>: Due to the nature of the soils encountered in the area of the project site, we anticipate that a perched groundwater table and/or water bearing fractures in bedrock may be encountered during the winter or spring seasons. Where cuts are proposed, subdrains may need to be installed to catch water flowing along the soil/bedrock contact, cemented soil contact, or through the fractured rock.

Swales and natural hillside drainage proposed to receive engineered fill may require the installation of a canyon style drain. Close coordination between the design professionals for placement and discharge of canyon style drains should be performed.

5.3 Engineered Fills

All materials placed as fills on the site should be placed as "Engineered fill" observed and compacted as described in the following paragraphs.

<u>On-site Soils</u>: We expect that soil generated from excavations on the site, excluding deleterious material, may be used as engineered fill.

<u>Fill Placement and Compaction</u>: All areas proposed to receive fill should be scarified to a minimum depth of 8 inches, moisture conditioned as necessary, and compacted to at least 90 percent of the maximum dry density based on the ASTM D1557 test method. The fill should be placed in thin horizontal lifts not to exceed 12 inches in uncompacted thickness. The fill should be moisture conditioned as necessary and compacted to a relative compaction of not less than 90 percent based on the ASTM D1557 test method. The upper 8 inches of fills placed under proposed pavement areas should be compacted to a relative compaction of not less than 95 percent based on the ASTM D1557 test method. Expansive clays, if encountered, should not be placed within the upper three feet of building pad and subgrade level. Alternatively, clays may be mixed thoroughly with less expansive on site materials (silts, sands, and gravels). Proper disposition of clays on site should be verified by a representative of Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc.

<u>Compaction of Expansive Soils</u>: If clays are the predominate component of the soil in the upper 3 feet of the proposed building pads, they should be addressed as a potentially expansive material and compacted using a different approach as stated above. Expansive clays should be compacted to 88 to 92 percent of the maximum dry density based on the ASTM D1557 test method at a moisture content of about 4 percent over optimum. If expansive clay fills thicker than 5 feet are proposed, supplemental compaction recommendations may be necessary.

<u>Subgrade Verification and Compaction Testing</u>: Fill soil compaction should be verified by means of in-place density tests performed during fill placement so that adequacy of soil compaction efforts may be evaluated as earthwork progresses.

<u>Soil Moisture Considerations</u>: The near-surface fine grained soils may become partially or completely saturated during the rainy season. Grading operations during this time period may be difficult since compaction efforts may be hampered by saturated materials. It is, therefore, suggested that consideration be given to the seasonal limitations and costs of winter grading operations on the site.

5.4 Slope Grading

<u>Placement of Fills on Slopes</u>: Placement of fill material on natural slopes should be stabilized by means of keyways and benches. Where the slope of the original ground equals or exceeds 5H:1V, a keyway should be constructed at the base of the fill. The keyway should consist of a trench excavated to a depth of at least two feet into firm, competent materials. The keyway trench should be at least eight feet wide or as designated by the Geotechnical Engineer. Benches should be cut into the original slope as the filling operation proceeds. Each bench should consist of a level surface excavated at least six feet horizontally into firm soils or four feet horizontally into rock. The rise between successive benches should not exceed 36 inches. The need for subdrainage should be evaluated at the time of construction.

<u>Slope Face Compaction:</u> All slope fills should be laterally overbuilt and cut back such that the required compaction is achieved at the proposed finish slope face. As a less preferable alternative,

the slope face could be tracked walked or compacted with a wheel. If this second alternative is used, additional slope maintenance may be necessary.

<u>Slope Drainage:</u> Surface drainage should not be allowed to flow uncontrolled over any slope face. Adequate surface drainage control should be designed by the project civil engineer in accordance with the latest applicable edition of the CBC. All slopes should have appropriate drainage and vegetation measures to minimize erosion of slope soils.

<u>Cut/Fill Transition:</u> When grading operations result in a transition from cut to fill on a lot, special grading recommendations may be required depending upon the actual cuts and fills. Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. should be afforded the opportunity to review each individual pad grading plan to determine if special grading recommendations are required.

5.5 Finish Soilgrade Preparation

Finish building pad soilgrades should be compacted to at least 90 percent of the maximum dry density as determined by ASTM D1557 test method. Pavement subgrades compacted to at least 95 percent of the maximum dry density as determined by ASTM D1557 test method and should be proof-rolled with a full water truck or equivalent immediately before paving, in order to verify their condition.

5.6 Drainage Considerations

Special attention should be given regarding the drainage of the project site. If the project is expected to work through the wet season, the contractor should install appropriate temporary drainage systems at the construction site and should minimize traffic over exposed subgrades due to the moisture-sensitive nature of the on-site soils. If the project improvements are constructed prior to the wet season, but are not proposed to be fine graded for permanent drainage until the next dry season, temporary drainage or erosion protection provisions should be made to address the possibility of erosion to cut and fill slopes. During wet weather operations, the soil should be graded to drain and should be sealed by rubber tire rolling to minimize water infiltration.

Finish grading should include positive drainage away from all foundations. Section 1806.5.5 of the latest applicable edition of the California Building Code states that for graded soil sites, the top of any exterior foundation shall extend above the elevation of the street gutter at the point of discharge or the inlet of an approved drainage device a minimum of 12 inches plus 2 percent. We suggest that downspouts be tight piped via an area drain network and discharged to an appropriate non-erosive outlet.

All final grades should provide rapid removal of surface water runoff; ponding water should not be allowed on building pads or adjacent to foundations or other structural improvements.

5.7 Seismic Design Criteria

Based on the latest applicable edition of the California Building Code, Chapter 16, Division IV, and our site investigation findings, the following seismic parameters are recommended from a geotechnical perspective for structural design. The final choice of design parameters, however, remains the purview of the project structural engineer.



Sacramento Country Day School Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Study

CBC - CHAP. 16 TABLE NO.	SEISMIC PARAMETER	RECOM VA	MENDED LUE
16-1	Seismic Zone Factor Z	0.	.30
16-J	Soil Profile Type	$S_{\scriptscriptstyle B}$	S _c
16-Q	Seismic Coefficient (C_a)	0.30	0.33
16-R	Seismic Coefficient (C_{v})	0.30	0.45
16-S,-T	Near Source Factors (N _a , N _v)	1	.0
16-U	Seismic Source Type		С

6.0 LIMITATIONS AND UNIFORMITY OF CONDITIONS

- 1. This report has been prepared for the exclusive use of SACRAMENTO COUNTRY DAY SCHOOL for specific application to the SACRAMENTO COUNTRY DAY SCHOOL project. Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. has endeavored to comply with generally accepted geotechnical engineering practice common to the local area. Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. makes no other warranty, express or implied.
- 2. As of the present date, the findings of this report are valid for the property studied. With the passage of time, changes in the conditions of a property can occur whether they be due to natural processes or to the works of man on this or adjacent properties. Legislation or the broadening of knowledge may result in changes in applicable standards. Changes outside of our control may cause this report to be invalid, wholly or partially. Therefore, this report should not be relied upon after a period of three years without our review nor should it be used or is it applicable for any properties other than those studied.
- 3. Section 3317.8 in Appendix Chapter 33 of the latest edition of the California Building Code is applicable to this report. This section states that, in regard to the transfer of responsibility, if the Geotechnical Engineer of Record for the project site is not maintained into and through the grading phase of the project, the work shall be stopped until the replacement has agreed in writing to accept their responsibility within the area of technical competence for approval upon completion of the work.

WARNING: Do not apply any of this report's conclusions or recommendations if the nature, design, or location of the facilities is changed. If changes are contemplated, Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. must review them to assess their impact on this report's applicability. Also note that Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. is not responsible for any claims, damages, or liability associated with any other party's interpretation of this report's subsurface data or reuse of this report's subsurface data or engineering analyses without the express written authorization of Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc.

- 4. The analyses and recommendations contained in this report are based on limited windows into the subsurface conditions and data obtained from subsurface exploration. The methods used indicate subsurface conditions only at the specific locations where samples were obtained, only at the time they were obtained, and only to the depths penetrated. Samples cannot be relied on to accurately reflect the strata variations that usually exist between sampling locations. Should any variations or undesirable conditions be encountered during the development of the site, Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc., will provide supplemental recommendations as dictated by the field conditions.
- 5. The recommendations included in this report have been based in part on assumptions about strata variations that may be tested only during earthwork. Accordingly, these recommendations should not be applied in the field unless Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. is retained to perform construction observation and thereby provide a complete professional geotechnical engineering service through the observational method. Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. cannot assume responsibility or liability for the adequacy

of its recommendations when they are used in the field without Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. being retained to observe construction. Unforseen subsurface conditions containing soft native soils, loose or previously placed non-engineered fills should be a consideration while preparing for the grading of the property. It should be noted that it is the responsibility of the owner or his/her representative to notify Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc., in writing, a minimum of 48 hours before any excavations commence at the site.

- 6. Our experience has shown that vapor transmission through concrete is controlled through proper concrete mix design. As such, proper control of moisture vapor transmission should be considered in the design of the slab as provided by the project architect, structural or civil engineer. It should be noted that placement of the recommended plastic membrane, proper mix design, and proper slab underlayment and detailing per ASTM E1643 and E1745 will not provide a waterproof condition. If a waterproof condition is desired, we recommend that a waterproofing expert be consulted for slab design.
- 7. Following site development, additional water sources (ie. landscape watering, downspouts) are generally present. The presence of low permeability materials can prohibit rapid dispersion of surface and subsurface water drainage. Utility trenches typically provide a conduit for water distribution. Provisions may be necessary to mitigate adverse effects of perched water conditions. Mitigation measures may include the construction of cut-off systems and/or plug and drain systems. Close coordination between the design professionals regarding drainage and subdrainage conditions may be warranted.

Seepage may be observed emanating from the cut slopes following their excavation during the following rainy season or following development of the areas above the cut. Generally this seepage is not enough flow to be a stability issue to the cut slope, but may be an issue for the owner of the lot at the base of the cut from a surface drainage and standing water (damp spot) standpoint. This amount of water is generally collected easily with landscaping drainage, surface drainage at the toe of the slope, or subsurface toe drains. Recommendations may be provided at the time of observed seepage, however, we recommend that the developer of the property disclose this possibility to future owners.

APPENDIX A

Field Study

<u>Vicinity Map</u> <u>Site Plan</u> Logs of Exploratory Test Pits

Introduction

The contents of this appendix shall be integrated with the geotechnical engineering study of which it is a part. They shall not be used in whole or in part as a sole source for information or recommendations regarding the subject site.

Field study

Our field study included a site reconnaissance by a Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc., representative followed by a subsurface exploration program conducted on 9 through 11 July 2003, which included the excavation of 37 test pits (20 geotechnical, 10 for septic design, 7 for geology/groundwater) under his direction at the approximate locations shown on Figure A-2, this Appendix. Excavation of the test pits was accomplished with a John Deere 310SG rubber tiremounted backhoe equipped with 18 and 24 inch wide buckets. Bulk samples were collected from the pits.

The Exploratory Test Pit Logs describe the vertical sequence of soils and materials encountered in each test pit, based primarily on our field classifications and supported by our subsequent laboratory examination and testing. Where a soil contact was observed to be gradual, our logs indicate the average contact depth. Our logs also graphically indicate the sample type, sample number and approximate depth of each soil sample obtained from the test pits.

The soils encountered were logged during excavation and provide the basis for the "Logs of Exploratory Test Pits", Figures A-3 through A-37, this Appendix. These logs show a graphic representation of the soil profile and the location and depths at which samples were collected.



APPENDIX C

Bulk Asbestos Material Analysis



(Air Resources Board Proposed Method 435)

Youngdahl & Associates, Inc. David Sederquist 1234 Glenhaven Court	Client ID: Report Number: Date Received:	3691 B052856 07/23/03
El Dorado Hills, CA 95630	Date Reported:	07/25/03
Sample Number: ASB-1 Sample Layer Description: Brown Soil	Lab Number:	10252577
Job ID / Site: 03289 - Sacramento County Day School, Folsom	FASI Job ID:	3691-36

Sample Preparation and Analysis

Samples were analyzed by the Air Resources Board's Proposed Method 435, Determination of Asbestos Content of Serpentine Aggregate. Samples were ground to 200 particle size in the laboratory. Approximately 1 pint was retained for analysis. Samples were prepared for observation according to the guidelines of Exception I and Exception II as defined by the 435 Method. Samples which contained less than 10% asbestos were prepared for observation according to the point count technique as defined by the 435 Method. This analysis was performed with a standard cross-hair reticle.

Layer Percentage of entire sample: 100

Visual Estimation Percentage:	None Detected
Asbestos Type(s) Detected:	None Detected

This result meets the requirements of Exception I as defined by the 435 Method.

James Flores, Laboratory Supervisor, Hayward Laboratory

Note: Limit of Quantification (LOQ) = 0.25%. Trace denotes the presence of asbestos below the LOQ. ND = None Detected.

Analytical results and reports are generated by Forensic Analytical at the request of and for the exclusive use of the person or entity (client) named on such report. Results, reports or copies of same will not be released by Forensic Analytical to any third party without prior written request from client. This report applies only to the sample(s) tested. Supporting laboratory documentation is available upon request. This report must not be reproduced except in full, unless approved by Forensic Analytical. The client is solely responsible for the use and interpretation of test results and reports requested from Forensic Analytical. This report must not be used by the client to claim product endorsement by NVLAP or any other agency of the U.S. Government Forensic Analytical is not able to assess the degree of hazard resulting from materials analyzed. Forensic Analytical reserves the right to dispose of all samples after a period of thirty (30) days, according to all state and federal guidelines, unless otherwise specified. All samples were received in acceptable condition unless otherwise noted



(Air Resources Board Proposed Method 435)

Youngdahl & Associates, Inc. David Sederquist 1234 Glenhaven Court	Client ID: Report Number: Date Received:	3691 B052856 07/23/03
El Dorado Hills, CA 95630	Date Analyzed: Date Reported:	07/25/03 07/25/03
Sample Number: ASB-2	Lab Number:	10252578
Job ID / Site: 03289 - Sacramento County Day School, Folsom	FASI Job ID:	3691-36

Sample Preparation and Analysis

Samples were analyzed by the Air Resources Board's Proposed Method 435, Determination of Asbestos Content of Serpentine Aggregate. Samples were ground to 200 particle size in the laboratory. Approximately 1 pint was retained for analysis. Samples were prepared for observation according to the guidelines of Exception I and Exception II as defined by the 435 Method. Samples which contained less than 10% asbestos were prepared for observation according to the point count technique as defined by the 435 Method. This analysis was performed with a standard cross-hair reticle.

Layer Percentage of entire sample:	100
Visual Estimation Percentage:	None Detected
Asbestos Type(s) Detected:	None Detected

This result meets the requirements of Exception I as defined by the 435 Method.

James Flores, Laboratory Supervisor, Hayward Laboratory

Note: Limit of Quantification (LOQ) = 0.25%. Trace denotes the presence of asbestos below the LOQ. ND = None Detected.

Analytical results and reports are generated by Forensic Analytical at the request of and for the exclusive use of the person or entity (client) named on such report Results, reports or copies of same will not be released by Forensic Analytical to any third party without prior written request from client. This report applies only to the sample(s) tested Supporting laboratory documentation is available upon request. This report must not be reproduced except in full, unless approved by Forensic Analytical. The client is solely responsible for the use and interpretation of test results and reports requested from Forensic Analytical. This report must not be used by the client to claim product endorsement by NVLAP or any other agency of the U.S. Government Forensic Analytical is not able to assess the degree of hazard resulting from materials analyzed. Forensic Analytical reserves the right to dispose of all samples after a period of thirty (30) days, according to all state and federal guidelines, unless otherwise specified. All samples were received in acceptable condition unless otherwise noted





(Air Resources Board Proposed Method 435)

Youngdahl & Associates, Inc. David Sederquist 1234 Glenhaven Court	Client ID: Report Number: Date Received:	3691 B052856 07/23/03
El Dorado Hills, CA 95630	Date Reported:	07/25/03
Sample Number: ASB-3	Lab Number:	10252579
Sample Layer Description: Brown Soil		
Job ID / Site: 03289 - Sacramento County Day School, Folsom	FASI Job ID:	3691-36

Sample Preparation and Analysis

Samples were analyzed by the Air Resources Board's Proposed Method 435, Determination of Asbestos Content of Serpentine Aggregate. Samples were ground to 200 particle size in the laboratory. Approximately 1 pint was retained for analysis. Samples were prepared for observation according to the guidelines of Exception I and Exception II as defined by the 435 Method. Samples which contained less than 10% asbestos were prepared for observation according to the point count technique as defined by the 435 Method. This analysis was performed with a standard cross-hair reticle.

Layer Percentage of entire sample: 100

Visual Estimation Percentage:	None Detected
Asbestos Type(s) Detected:	None Detected

This result meets the requirements of Exception I as defined by the 435 Method,

James Flores, Laboratory Supervisor, Hayward Laboratory

Note: Limit of Quantification (LOQ) = 0.25%. Trace denotes the presence of asbestos below the LOQ. ND = None Detected.

Analytical results and reports are generated by Forensic Analytical at the request of and for the exclusive use of the person or entity (client) named on such report Results, reports or copies of same will not be released by Forensic Analytical to any third party without prior written request from client. This report applies only to the sample(s) ested Supporting laboratory documentation is available upon request. This report must not be reproduced except in full, unless approved by Forensic Analytical. The client is volely responsible for the use and interpretation of test results and reports requested from Forensic Analytical. This report must not be used by the client to claim product endorsement by NVLAP or any other agency of the U.S. Government. Forensic Analytical is not able to assess the degree of hazard resulting from materials analyzed. Forensic Analytical reserves the right to dispose of all samples after a period of thirty (30) days, according to all state and federal guidelines, unless otherwise specified. All samples were received in acceptable condition unless otherwise noted.





(Air Resources Board Proposed Method 435)

Coungdahl & Associates, Inc.	Client ID:	3691
David Sederquist	Report Number:	B052856
1234 Gleinhaven Court	Date Analyzed:	07/25/03
El Dorado Hills, CA 95630	Date Reported:	07/25/03
Sample Number: ASB-4	Lab Number:	10252580
Sample Layer Description: Grey Soil		
Job ID / Site: 03289 - Sacramento County Day School, Folsom	FASI Job ID:	3691-36

Sample Preparation and Analysis

Samples were analyzed by the Air Resources Board's Proposed Method 435, Determination of Asbestos Content of Serpentine Aggregate. Samples were ground to 200 particle size in the laboratory. Approximately 1 pint was retained for analysis. Jamples were prepared for observation according to the guidelines of Exception I and Exception II as defined by the 435 Method. Samples which contained less than 10% asbestos were prepared for observation according to the point count echnique as defined by the 435 Method. This analysis was performed with a standard cross-hair reticle.

_ayer Percentage of entire sample: 100

Visual Estimation Percentage:	None Detected
Asbestos Type(s) Detected:	None Detected

This result meets the requirements of Exception I as defined by the 435 Method.

James Flores, Laboratory Supervisor, Hayward Laboratory

Note: Limit of Quantification (LOQ) = 0.25%. Trace denotes the presence of asbestos below the LOQ. ND = None Detected.

Analytical results and reports are generated by Forensic Analytical at the request of and for the exclusive use of the person or entity (client) named on such report Results, reports or copies of same will not be released by Forensic Analytical to any third party without prior written request from client. This report applies only to the sample(s) ested. Supporting laboratory documentation is available upon request. This report must not be reproduced except in full, unless approved by Forensic Analytical. The client is plely responsible for the use and interpretation of test results and reports requested from Forensic Analytical. This report must not be used by the client to claim produce endorsement by NVLAP or any other agency of the U.S. Government Forensic Analytical is not able to assess the degree of hazard resulting from materials analyzed. Forensic Analytical reserves the right to dispose of all samples after a period of thirty (30) days, according to all state and federal guidelines, unless otherwise specified. All samples vere received in acceptable condition unless otherwise noted



(Air Resources Board Proposed Method 435)

oungdahl & Associates, Inc. David Sederquist 1234 Glenhaven Court	Client ID: Report Number: Date Received:	3691 B052856 07/23/03
il Dorado Hills, CA 95630	Date Analyzed: Date Reported:	07/25/03 07/25/03
Sample Number: ASB-5 Sample Layer Description: Grey Soil	Lab Number:	10252581
Job ID / Site: 03289 - Sacramento County Day School, Folsom	FASI Job ID:	3691-36

Sample Preparation and Analysis

Samples were analyzed by the Air Resources Board's Proposed Method 435, Determination of Asbestos Content of Serpentine Aggregate. Samples were ground to 200 particle size in the laboratory. Approximately 1 pint was retained for analysis. Jamples were prepared for observation according to the guidelines of Exception I and Exception II as defined by the 435 Method. Samples which contained less than 10% asbestos were prepared for observation according to the point count echnique as defined by the 435 Method. This analysis was performed with a standard cross-hair reticle.

ayer Percentage of entire sample:	100
Visual Estimation Percentage:	None Detected

Asbestos Type(s) Detected:

This result meets the requirements of Exception I as defined by the 435 Method.

None Detected

James Flores, Laboratory Supervisor, Hayward Laboratory

Note: Limit of Quantification (LOQ) = 0.25%. Trace denotes the presence of asbestos below the LOQ. ND = None Detected.

Analytical results and reports are generated by Forensic Analytical at the request of and for the exclusive use of the person or entity (client) named on such report Results, reports or copies of same will not be released by Forensic Analytical to any third party without prior written request from client. This report applies only to the sample(s) sted. Supporting laboratory documentation is available upon request. This report must not be reproduced except in full, unless approved by Forensic Analytical. The client is plely responsible for the use and interpretation of test results and reports requested from Forensic Analytical. This report must not be used by the client to claim product endorsement by NVLAP or any other agency of the U.S. Government Forensic Analytical is not able to assess the degree of hazard resulting from materials analyzed. Forensic Analytical reserves the right to dispose of all samples after a period of thirty (30) days, according to all state and federal guidelines, unless otherwise specified. All samples ere received in acceptable condition unless otherwise noted.





(Air Resources Board Proposed Method 435)

'oungdahl & Associates, Inc. David Sederquist 1234 Glenhaven Court	Client ID: Report Number: Date Received:	3691 B052856 07/23/03
El Dorado Hills, CA 95630	Date Analyzed: Date Reported:	07/25/03 07/25/03
Sample Number: ASB-6	Lab Number:	10252582
Sample Layer Description: Grey Soil		
Job ID / Site: 03289 - Sacramento County Day School, Folsom	FASI Job ID:	3691-36

Sample Preparation and Analysis

Samples were analyzed by the Air Resources Board's Proposed Method 435, Determination of Asbestos Content of Serpentine Aggregate. Samples were ground to 200 particle size in the laboratory. Approximately 1 pint was retained for analysis. Jamples were prepared for observation according to the guidelines of Exception I and Exception II as defined by the 435 Method. Samples which contained less than 10% asbestos were prepared for observation according to the point count echnique as defined by the 435 Method. This analysis was performed with a standard cross-hair reticle.

Layer Percentage of entire sample: 100

Visual Estimation Percentage:	None Detected		
Asbestos Type(s) Detected:	None Detected		

This result meets the requirements of Exception I as defined by the 435 Method.

James Flores, Laboratory Supervisor, Hayward Laboratory

Note: Limit of Quantification (LOQ) = 0.25%. Trace denotes the presence of asbestos below the LOQ. ND = None Detected.

Analytical results and reports are generated by Forensic Analytical at the request of and for the exclusive use of the person or entity (client) named on such report Results, "ports or copies of same will not be released by Forensic Analytical to any third party without prior written request from client. This report applies only to the sample(s) ested Supporting laboratory documentation is available upon request. This report must not be reproduced except in full, unless approved by Forensic Analytical. The client is olely responsible for the use and interpretation of test results and reports requested from Forensic Analytical. This report must not be used by the client to claim product endorsement by NVLAP or any other agency of the U.S. Government Forensic Analytical is not able to assess the degree of hazard resulting from materials analyzed. Forensic Analytical reserves the right to dispose of all samples after a period of thirty (30) days, according to all state and federal guidelines, unless otherwise specified. All samples //ere received in acceptable condition unless otherwise noted

	3691-3	36			
ZOUNGE	AHI	4		Lab Number	
GEOTECHNICAL • ENVIRONMENTAL •	ROUP, INC	G	Report Due Date:	· .	
1234 Gienhaven Court			********************************** *****		******
El Dorado Hills, CA 95762 Telephone: (916) 933-0633 Fax: (2 (916) 933-6482	C	HAIN OI	FCUST	ODY
Client: Vous datal (a. a. 11.	0	the the		
Address: 1234 (-(e)	lique	$(\underline{c}, \underline{v})$	$\frac{ccp}{t}$		
City. State & Zip: FI Davide Hill	(s, CA 95%	Project Na	me: Sc (Ke la -	to Countine	Dausch t
Contact: David Sedeva	nist	Project Nu	mber: <i>い</i> ろくを	9	Vey screet
Telephone: $(9/()933 - 063)$	3	Collection P	oint: $7 - s +$	Pils	199999-1999 - The State of Control of Contro
Fax Number: (9/6) 9 3 3 - 6 4	82	Collector's	Name: David	Sedera	uist
Fax Results: Y N Page	1_of /	Location (C	sity): Folso	nt	······································
SAMPLETYPECODE	State Inc.	NS I E	Part Andrew A	NYSESIREQUES	EDISSION
Soil = S	P = Plastic	M			
Asphalt = A	G = Glass	P N	1/2/		/////
	IO = Other		/ []/		
Standard	Lab Manager		<u> </u> - [-]		/ / / /
RUSH	Approval				
Special		P A	12////		
CELENTIS SAMPLE D/LOCATION	Dates Times	E S	$\forall \forall $		
ASB-1 TP-12	7/22 0825	5 B	\boldsymbol{X}		
ASB-2 TP-13	7/22 0835	5 B			
ASB-3 TP-14	7/22 0850	5 B.	X		
A5B-4 TP-15	7/22 0902	S B	X		
ASB-5 TP-18	1/220908	5 B	\boldsymbol{X}		
ASB-6 TP-20	1/22 0916	5 B			
		,			
		<u> </u>			
Instructions/Comments/Special Re	equirements:			·····	
SAMPLERECEIPT	Date: Time	Sampl	es Relinquished By	s Samples	Received By and
Received Cold Y N	1/22 600	Paris	1 C. Jedyno	- ZHendle	17/22/02/1040
Custody Seals Y N			· <i>V</i>		
Seals Intact Y N			*		
No. of Containers		<u> </u>	anamaansantaa ahaa ahaa ahaanaa ahaa		

 $\langle \cdot \rangle$



APPENDIX F2

Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Report – Folsom 138 Property

PRELIMINARY GEOTECHNICAL

FOLSOM 138 PROPERTY FolsomWhite RockLCC







WALLACE · KUHL & ASSOCIATES INC.

Geotechnical Engineering

Engineering Geology

Environmental Consulting

Remediation Services

Construction Inspection

Materials Testing

Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Report FOLSOM 138 PROPERTY Placerville and White Rock Roads Sacramento County, California WKA No. 6187.01 August 31, 2004

INTRODUCTION

<u>General</u>

We have completed a preliminary geotechnical engineering evaluation of the Folsom 138 Property located in Sacramento County, California. Our work has been performed in accordance with authorization on August 5, 2004 from Woodside Homes, and the scope of work outlined in our proposal letter dated August 4, 2004.

Scope

Our scope of work included the following tasks:

- 1. site reconnaissance;
- 2. review of historic USGS topographic maps and aerial photographs of the property;
- subsurface investigation, including the excavation and sampling of 12 test pits to a maximum depth of approximately 9¹/₂ feet below the ground surface;
- 4. laboratory testing of selected soil samples;
- 5. engineering analyses; and,
- 6. preparation of this report.

CORPORATE OFFICE 3050 Industrial Boulevard West Sacramento CA 95691 Tel 916.372.1434 Fax 916.372.2565

> ROCKLIN OFFICE 500 Menlo Drive Suite 100 Rocklin, CA 95765 Tel 916.435.9722 Fax 916.435.9822

STOCKTON OFFICE 3410 West Hammer Lane Suite F Stockton, CA 95219 Tel 209.234.7722 Fax 209.234.7727

Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Report FOLSOM 138 PROPERTY WKA No. 6187.01 August 31, 2004

Plates and Attachments

Our report contains a Site Vicinity Map (Plate No. 1); a Site Plan showing test pit locations (Plate No. 2); and, Logs of Test Pits (Plates No. 3 and 4). An explanation of the classification system used on the logs is included on Plate No. 5. Appendix A contains general information regarding project concepts, exploratory methods used during our field investigation, and laboratory test results.

Project Description

We understand the site likely will be developed with single-family residential subdivisions. We assume typical construction will consist of one- and two-story structures, with interior slab-on-grade floors. Associated development will include underground utilities and interior roadways.

FINDINGS

Site Conditions

Recycled paper

The Folsom 138 Property is located at on the north side of White Rock Road and along the northeast side of Placerville Road, south of Highway 50 in Sacramento County, California (see Plate No. 1). The site is bounded to the west, north and east by undeveloped rangeland and to the south by White Rock Road, beyond which is pastureland. Topography of the property is undulating to moderately and steeply rolling terrain with surface elevations ranging between approximately +490 feet to +660 feet relative to mean sea level (msl), based on review of a USGS *Topographic Map of the Clarksville Quadrangle, California* (photorevised 1980).

At the time of our site reconnaissance the site was undeveloped and used to graze cattle. Cattle fencing enclose the site. The north and east boundaries have one to two foot high rock walls inside and parallel to the cattle fence. A low area with standing water was observed near the midpoint of the southern boundary. A large outcrop of quartz rock was observed in the south central portion of the site; the outcrop is approximately three feet high and 50 feet long by 20 feet wide. Several mature trees were observed near the southeast portion of the site near White Rock Road.



WALLACE · KUHI & ASSOCIATES INC

Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Report FOLSOM 138 PROPERTY WKA No. 6187.01 August 31, 2004

Review of available aerial photographs taken in 1962, 1971, 1981, 1989 and 2001 indicates the property has been undeveloped and used as grazing land during at least this period of time.

Site Geology

The property is predominately underlain by metavolcanic and pyroclastic rock formations as identified by the California Department of Conservation: Mines and Geology publication, "Generalized Geologic Map of the Folsom 15-Minute Quadrangle." Based on the map, the Copper Hill Volcanic formation appears to cover the majority of the property, consisting of mostly mafic to andesitic pyroclastic rocks, lava, and pillow lava, with subordinate felsic porphyritic and pyroclastic rocks. A very small portion of the site near White Rock Road is indicated to be underlain by Quaternary alluvium.

The Generalized Geology Map of the Folsom 15-Minute Quadrangle indicates the west branch of the Bear Mountains Fault is located approximately 1.7 miles east of the Folsom 138 Property, and represents the westernmost fault within the "Foothills Fault Zone." The site is not identified within a Alquist-Priolo Fault Study Zone, meaning that the State has not identified this portion of the Foothills Fault Zone as being active within the last 11,000 years. The Bear Mountains Fault is mapped as a pre-Quaternary fault (not active within the last 1.6 million years), except for the "Rescue Lineament," which may have been active in late Quaternary time. The Rescue Lineament is located about 9 miles northeast of the site.

According to the General Plan for El Dorado County:

"No active faults have been identified in El Dorado County. One fault, part of the Rescue Lineament-Bear Mountains fault zone, is classified as a well-located late-Quaternary fault (DOC 2000); therefore, it represents the only potentially active fault in the county. It is part of the Foothill Fault Suture zone system, which was considered inactive until a Richter scale magnitude 5.7 earthquake occurred near Oroville on August 1, 1975 (DOC 1990). All other faults located in El Dorado County are classified as pre-Quaternary (inactive)."



WALLACE · KUHL & ASSOCIATES INC
Subsurface Conditions

Our site reconnaissance, test pits and bulk sampling indicate a subsurface profile of very fine sandy silts with variable rock fragments, underlain by weathered to unweathered metavolcanic rocks. In some test pits a thin layer of silty, very fine sandy clay was observed at the surface of the weathered portions of the metavolcanic rock. Test Pits No. 11 and 12 encountered very thinly bedded metasedimentary rock below five to eight feet. Review of the 1993 U.S. Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service (SCS) *Soil Survey of Sacramento County, California* indicates that the near-surface soils on the subject property consist of two different soil types including the "Argonaut-Auburn complex, 3 to 8 percent slopes", which is located in a very small potion of the site near White Rock Road, and the rest of the site consists of "Argonaut-Auburn-Rock outcrop complex, 8 to 30 percent slopes."

• The Argonaut complex typically consists of a surface layer of reddish yellow and light yellowish brown loam about eight inches thick. The upper six inches of the subsoil is yellowish red gravelly loam. The lower 15 inches is a claypan of variegated strong brown, yellowish brown, and yellowish red clay and clay loam. Highly weathered schist is at a depth of about 29 inches. The Auburn complex typically consists of a surface layer and subsoil of strong brown, reddish yellow, and yellowish red loam. Fractured metabasic bedrock is at a depth of about 14 inches.

The SCS soil descriptions are generally consistent with our site observations and previous experience in the area.

Ground Water

Free ground water was not encountered in the test pits excavated on August 12, 2004. Based on our experience in the vicinity of the project, we do not anticipate that the permanent ground water table is within 100 feet of the existing ground surfaces.



WALLACE · KUHL & ASSOCIATES INC

Page 4

Subsurface Conditions

Our site reconnaissance, test pits and bulk sampling indicate a subsurface profile of very fine sandy silts with variable rock fragments, underlain by weathered to unweathered metavolcanic rocks. In some test pits a thin layer of silty, very fine sandy clay was observed at the surface of the weathered portions of the metavolcanic rock. Test Pits No. 11 and 12 encountered very thinly bedded metasedimentary rock below five to eight feet. Review of the 1993 U.S. Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service (SCS) *Soil Survey of Sacramento County, California* indicates that the near-surface soils on the subject property consist of two different soil types including the "Argonaut-Auburn complex, 3 to 8 percent slopes", which is located in a very small potion of the site near White Rock Road, and the rest of the site consists of "Argonaut-Auburn-Rock outcrop complex, 8 to 30 percent slopes."

• The Argonaut complex typically consists of a surface layer of reddish yellow and light yellowish brown loam about eight inches thick. The upper six inches of the subsoil is yellowish red gravelly loam. The lower 15 inches is a claypan of variegated strong brown, yellowish brown, and yellowish red clay and clay loam. Highly weathered schist is at a depth of about 29 inches. The Auburn complex typically consists of a surface layer and subsoil of strong brown, reddish yellow, and yellowish red loam. Fractured metabasic bedrock is at a depth of about 14 inches.

The SCS soil descriptions are generally consistent with our site observations and previous experience in the area.

Ground Water

Free ground water was not encountered in the test pits excavated on August 12, 2004. Based on our experience in the vicinity of the project, we do not anticipate that the permanent ground water table is within 100 feet of the existing ground surfaces.



CONCLUSIONS

General

Our field and laboratory investigations indicate the Folsom 138 property is suitable for the proposed single-family residential development concept from the standpoint of soils and geologic considerations. Earth materials are considered to have no unusual or adverse engineering characteristics, which would preclude any of the elements of the proposed development. <u>Seismic Considerations</u>

No active or potentially active faults are known to underlie the Folsom 138 Property, based on the published geologic maps or aerial photographs that we reviewed. The site is not located within an Alquist-Priolo Fault Study Zone, and we observed no surface evidence of faulting during our site reconnaissance. Therefore, it is our opinion that ground rupture at the site resulting from seismic activity is unlikely.

According to the 2001 edition of the California Building Code (Title 24 of the California Code of Regulations, Chapter 16; California amendments to the 1997 edition of the Uniform Building Code) the site is located within Seismic Zone 3. A soil profile type S_C, as referenced in Table 16A-J of Chapter 16 of the 2001 CBC is considered appropriate for this site. The project site is not located within 15 km of a Type A or Type B fault source, as defined by CBC Table 16A-U.

Asbestos Potential

Recycled naner

The test pits completed during our geotechnical investigation revealed no indication that ultramafic rocks (i.e., serpentine) commonly associated with the naturally occurring asbestos minerals, to be present at the site. However, our experience in this region as well as our review of recent publications suggests that the site may be located in an area where the geologic environment intermittently contains minerals identified as naturally occurring asbestos.

If these mineral assemblages are identified before or during grading operations on the site, Sacramento County will likely require the preparation and approval of a Naturally Occurring Asbestos, Dust Mitigation Plan (NOA, DMP). This plan may require special handling of the asbestos material and may result in project delays or increased costs.



WALLACE · KUHL & ASSOCIATES INC

Building Support

In our opinion, the native soils and rock are capable of supporting the proposed residential structures if the near-surface soils are properly compacted and engineered fill is properly placed and compacted during earthwork. Removal of saturated and organic-laden soils from drainages and the proper backfilling of these features will be important to providing uniform support for the planned structures in those areas.

Excavation Conditions

The subject site is underlain by near-surface rocky soils and metavolcanic rock. The uppermost alluvial soils should be excavatable with conventional excavation equipment typically used in the area. The metamorphic rock will be more difficult to excavate, and likely will require large excavations or possibly blasting to achieve deep excavations. The upper five feet of soil and weathered rock should be relatively stable when excavated with near-vertical sidewalls, unless the materials are saturated. Excavations deeper than five feet should be sloped or braced in conformance with current Cal/OSHA regulations.

Material Suitability

The native soils and weathered rock will be suitable for use as engineered fill, provided they do not contain significant concentrations of vegetation or debris, and they are at an appropriate moisture content to allow proper compaction. Deeper excavations may result in larger rocks that will not be suitable unless broken down into smaller fragments (say 12 inches or less) that can be properly compacted.

Soil Expansion Potential

Laboratory testing of the surface soils above the unweathered metavolcanic rock indicates these soils possess low to medium expansion potential when tested in accordance with the ASTM D4829 (UBC 29-2) test method (see Plates No. A1 and A2). However, previous experience and laboratory testing on nearby projects has revealed the clay soils directly above the weathered rock to be highly expansive. Use of expansive clays, if present, should be avoided within building



WALLACE · KUHI

pads and areas exposing clay at subgrade level should be excavated and the clays replaced with low expansion materials.

Ground Water and Seepage

Review of available ground water information from within the vicinity of the site, suggests that the static ground water table should not adversely affect construction of the proposed residential improvements. However, experience in the nearby El Dorado Hills area suggests that seepage may be encountered during development of the property, requiring the construction of subdrainage. Typical subdrains consist of perforated pipe and gravel, surrounded by non-woven geotextile fabric. Design of subdrains should be performed during construction when actual seepage conditions are exposed.

Seasonal Water

The near-surface soils would be in a near-saturated condition during and for a considerable period following the rainy season. Grading operations attempted following the onset of winter rains and prior to prolonged drying periods will be hampered by high soil moisture contents. Such soils, intended for use as engineered fill, will require considerable aeration to reach a moisture content that will permit the recommended compaction to be achieved.

Preliminary Soil Corrosion Potential

Three composite samples of near-surface soils were submitted to Sunland Analytical Lab, Inc. for testing to determine pH, resistivity, sulfate and chloride concentrations to help evaluate the potential for corrosive attack upon buried structures. The test results for the samples revealed minimum resistivities of 2550 to 3480 ohm-centimeters (Ω -cm) and a soil pH ranging from 5.54 to 6.33. Sulfates were recorded at 0.6 to 1.7 parts per million (ppm) and chlorides at 5.6 to 8.0 ppm. Results of the testing performed by Sunland Analytical Lab are summarized on Plates No. A6 through A8.



WALLACE · KUHL & ASSOCIATES INC.

Caltrans¹ considers a site to be corrosive to structural elements if one or more of the following conditions exist for the representative soil sample(s) taken at the site:

Chloride concentration is greater than or equal to 500 ppm, sulfate concentration is greater than or equal to 2000 ppm, or the pH is 5.5 or less.

Caltrans defines areas as either corrosive or non-corrosive based on the above information. Comparing this information to the test results indicates the native soils are non-corrosive to structural elements. Table 19-A-4 of the 1997 UBC, Requirements for Concrete Exposed to Sulfate-Containing Solutions, indicates the sulfate exposure for the samples tested are Negligible. Based on this table ordinary Type I-II Portland cement is indicated to be suitable for use on the project, assuming a minimum cover is maintained over the reinforcement.

Wallace-Kuhl & Associates are not corrosion engineers. Therefore, to further define the soil corrosion potential at the site, or to determine the need or design parameters for cathodic protection or grounding systems a corrosion engineer should be consulted.

PRELIMINARY RECOMMENDATIONS

Foundation Design and Floor Slab Support

The proposed residential structures could be supported upon continuous and/or isolated spread foundations extending at least 12 inches below lowest adjacent soil grade. Foundations should be continuous around the perimeter of the buildings to help minimize moisture variations beneath the structures. Foundations may be sized for maximum allowable soil pressures of approximately 2000 psf for dead load plus live load with a 1/3 increase for consideration of seismic or wind forces.

Interior slab-on-grade concrete floors would be suitable for this site, provided slabs are properly designed and constructed with regard to moisture vapor penetration resistance and the slabs are

¹ California Department of Transportation, Division of Engineering Services, Materials Engineering and Testing Services, Corrosion Technology Branch, *Corrosion Guideline*, Version 1.0, September 2003.



adequately reinforced. Typical slab reinforcement would consist of flat sheets of welded-wire fabric or No. 3 rebar at 24-inch center-to-center spacing.

Pavement Subgrade Quality

Due to the rolling site terrain, we anticipate that subgrade conditions will vary considerably. Laboratory testing on three samples of soil from the project site indicate Resistance ("R") values of 5 to 24. For soil subgrades which may contain clay we suggest a preliminary design R-value of 10. Experience also suggests that subgrades consisting of weathered rock materials will possess an R-value of around 40. Using these design values and the design traffic indices contained in the "Design Practice Guide" prepared by the Sacramento County Transportation Division, dated June 1, 1999, we have calculated the following pavement section alternatives. The procedures used for designing the pavement section are in general conformance with the "Flexible Pavement Structural Design Guide for California Cities and Counties" and applicable portions of the Caltrans Highway Design Manual.

Street	Traffic	Type B	Class 2
Right-of-Way	Index	Asphalt	Aggregate
	(TT)	Concrete	Base
		(inches)	(inches)
40' and 50'	5.0	214	5
Residential	5.0	4/2	J
56' to 74'	6.0	21⁄2	8
without Bus Routes		31/2*	6
56' to 74' with Bus Routes	6.5	3	9
and Cul-de-Sacs		4*	7
84' Streets	9.0	4	12
		51/2*	10
108' and 130' Streets	10.0	5	14
		6*	12

Pavement Design Alternates Subgrade R-value = 40

* includes Caltrans safety factor



Street Right-of-Way	Traffic Index	Type B Asphalt	Class 2 Aggregate
	(TD)	Concrete (inches)	Base (inches)
40' and 50'	5.0	21/2	10
Residential	5.0	272	10
56' to 74'	6.0	21/2	14
without Bus Routes		31/2*	12
56' to 74' with Bus Routes	6.5	3	16
and Cul-de-Sacs		4*	13
84' Streets	9.0	4	22
		51⁄2*	19
108' and 130' Streets	10.0	5	24
		6*	22

Pavement Design Alternates Subgrade R-value = 10

*includes Caltrans safety factor

Future Studies

This report is intended to provide an overview of the suitability of the site for residential development. Prior to further development a detailed subsurface investigation of the site, including additional borings and/or test pits and possibly seismic traverses, should be performed along with a more extensive laboratory testing program and a geotechnical report prepared presenting specific recommendations for design and construction of the project.

LIMITATIONS

The proceeding sections of this report should be considered a general overview of the geotechnical engineering aspects of site development. They are not intended for specific design or construction of any of the project improvements. At an appropriate time prior to development, our firm should be retained to conduct a comprehensive, site specific geotechnical engineering investigation for this project.



WALLACE · KUH

We appreciate this opportunity to be of service. Please contact our office if you have any questions regarding our report or the geotechnical aspects of site development.

Wallace-Kuhl & Associates, Inc.

David Men

David L. Perry Staff Geologist

NO. 323 Steplen 32/06 77 PHN

Stephen L. French Senior Engineer









LOGS OF TEST PITS

TEST PIT 1

0 to 5' Reddish brown, very fine sandy silt (ML).
5' to 5¹/₂' Grayish brown, fine sandy, silty clay (CL).
5¹/₂' to 6' Dark greenish blue, very fine-grained metavolcanic rock (Rx). Test pit terminated at 6 feet due to refusal.

TEST PIT 2

0 to $2\frac{1}{2}$ ' Reddish brown, very fine sandy silt with trace quartz gravel (ML).

2¹/₂' to 9¹/₂' Greenish gray, highly weathered metavolcanic rock with clay infill (Rx).
Becomes less weathered with depth; after four feet, no clay infill. Wet fractured quartz veins observed below four feet.
Test pit terminated at 9¹/₂ feet due to refusal.
Perched water observed in quartz veins.

TEST PIT 3

0 to 3½'	Reddish brown, very fine sandy silt (ML).
3½' to 7'	Dark greenish blue, very fine-grained metavolcanic rock (Rx).
	Excavated rock breaks into blocky cobble and gravel sized fragments.
	Test pit terminated at seven feet due to refusal.

TEST PIT 4

0 to $2\frac{1}{2}$	Reddish brown, very fine sandy silt (ML).
21/2' to 8'	Greenish gray/grayish blue, weathered very fine-grained metamorphic rock (Rx).
	Excavated rock breaks into blocky cobble and gravel sized fragments.
	Test pit terminated at eight feet due to refusal.

TEST PIT 5

0 to 1½'	Reddish brown, gravelly, very fine sandy silt (ML).
1 ¹ / ₂ ' to 2 ¹ / ₂ '	Grayish, light blue unweathered metavolcanic rock (Rx)
	Test pit terminated at $2\frac{1}{2}$ feet due to refusal.

TEST PIT 6

0 to 1'	Reddish brown, very fine sandy silt with gravel and cobble sized rock fragments (ML).
1' to 4'	Greenish blue, weathered to non-weathered metavolcanic rock (Rx). Becomes non-weathered below three feet. Fracture plane dipping approximately 60 degrees to the southeast. Test pit terminated at four feet due to refusal.

WALLACE • KUHL & ASSOCIATES, INC. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING GEOLOGIC & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES LOGS OF TEST PITS.

FOLSOM 138 PROPERTY

WKA NO: 6187.01

DATE: 8/04

Sacramento County, California

PLATE NO: 3

TEST PIT 7

0 to 2'	Light reddish brown, very fine sandy silt (ML).
2' to 4'	Brown, sandy silty clay/clayey silt (CL/ML).
4' to 7'	Greenish blue, weathered to non-weathered metamorphic rock (Rx).
	Test pit terminated at seven feet due to refusal.

TEST PIT 8

0 to $1\frac{1}{2}$	Reddish brown, gravelly very fine sandy silt (ML).
11/2' to 4'	Greenish blue, weathered to non-weathered metavolcanic rock. (Rx).
	Test pit terminated at four feet due to refusal.

TEST PIT 9

K magments (will).
fragments(GM).
ſ

TEST PIT 10

1¹/₂' to 3¹/₂' Dark blue metavolcanic rock (Rx) Test pit terminated at 3¹/₂ feet due to refusal.

TEST PIT 11

0 to 2'	Light reddish brown, very fine sandy silt (ML).
2' to 8'	Gray, highly weathered metavolcanic rock (Rx).
8' to 9'	Dark blue and green metasedimentary rock (Rx).
	Test pit terminated at nine feet due to refusal.

TEST PIT 12

0 to $1\frac{1}{2}$	Light reddish brown, very fine sandy silt (ML).
1½' to 5'	Gray, highly weathered metamorphic rock (Rx).
5' to 6'	Dark blue and green metasedimentary rock (Rx).
	Test pit terminated at six feet due to refusal.



WALLACE • KUHL & ASSOCIATES, INC. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING GEOLOGIC & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

LOGS OF TEST PITS

FOLSOM 138 PROPERTY

WKA NO: 6187.01

DATE: 8/04

Sacramento County, California

PLATE NO: 4

		UNIFIE	D SOIL	CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM
MA	JOR DIVISIONS	SYMBOL	CODE	TYPICAL NAMES
		GW	000000000	Well graded gravels or gravel - sand mixtures, little or no fines
	GRAVELS	GP		Poorly graded gravels or gravel - sand mixtures, little or no fines
SOILS soil ze)	coarse fraction >	GM		Silty gravels, gravel - sand - silt mixtures
INED (60% of ieve si	no, 4 sieve size)	GC	/////	Clayey gravels, gravel - sand - clay mixtures
E GRA than 5 200 s		SW		Well graded sands or gravelly sands, little or no fines
OARSI (More > no.	<u>SANDS</u> (50% or more of coarse fraction < no. 4 sieve size)	SP		Poorly graded sands or gravelly sands, little or no fines
U		SM		Silty sands, sand - silt mixtures
		SC		Clayey sands, sand - clay mixtures
		ML		Inorganic silts and very fine sands, rock flour, silty or clayey fine sands or clayey silts with slight plasticity
oil ze)	<u>SILTS & CLAYS</u> <u>LL < 50</u>	CL		Inorganic clays of low to medium plasticity, gravelly clays, sandy clays, silty clays, lean clays
IED SC Dre of s ieve si		OL		Organic silts and organic silty clays of low plasticity
GRAIN 6 or mc 200 s		мн		Inorganic silts, micaceous or diatomaceous fine sandy or silty soils, elastic silts
FINE (50%) < no	$\frac{\text{SILTS & CLAYS}}{11 > 50}$	СН		Inorganic clays of high plasticity, fat clays
		ОН		Organic clays of medium to high plasticity, organic silty clays, organic silts
HIGH	HIGHLY ORGANIC SOILS Pt			Peat and other highly organic soils
	ROCK	RX		Rocks, weathered to fresh

OTHER SYMBOLS

	= Drive Sample: 2-1/2" O.D. Modified California sampler
Δ	= Drive Sample: no recovery
$\underline{\sum}_{i}$	= Initial Water Level
	= Final Water Level
	 Estimated or gradational material change line

- = Observed material change line Laboratory Tests
- PI = Plasticity Index
- El = Expansion Index
- UCC = Unconfined Compression Test
 - TR = Triaxial Compression Test
 - GR = Gradational Analysis (Sieve)
 - K = Permeability Test

GRAIN SIZE CLASSIFICATION

CLASSIFICATION	RANGE OF G	RAIN SIZES
	U.S. Standard Sieve Size	Grain Size in Millimeters
BOULDERS	Above 12"	Above 305
COBBLES	12" to 3"	305 to 76.2
GRAVEL coarse (c) fine (f)	3" to No. 4 3" to 3/4" 3/4" to No. 4	76.2 to 4.76 76.2 to 19.1 19.1 to 4.76
SAND coarse (c) medium (m) fine (f)	No. 4 to No. 200 No. 4 to No. 10 No. 10 to No. 40 No. 40 to No. 200	4.76 to 0.074 4.76 to 2.00 2.00 to 0.420 0.420 to 0.074
SILT & CLAY	Below No. 200	Below 0.074



UNIFIED SOIL CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM

WKA NO: 6187.01

FOLSOM 138 PROPERTY

WALLACE • KUHL & ASSOCIATES, INC. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING GEOLOGIC & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

Sacramento County, California

DATE: 8/04

PLATE NO: 5

APPENDIX A



WALLACE - KUHL & ASSOCIATES INC.

APPENDIX A

A. GENERAL INFORMATION

The preparation of a preliminary geotechnical engineering report for the Folsom 138 Property, located on the north side of White Rock Road, south of Highway 50 in Sacramento County, California, was authorized by Mr. Jim Galovan with Woodside Homes of California, on August 5, 2004. Authorization was for an investigation as described in our proposal letter of August 4, 2004, sent to our client, Woodside Homes of California-Northern Division, whose mailing address is 111 Woodmere Drive, Suite 190, Folsom, California 95630; telephone (916) 608-9600 facsimile (916) 608-9970.

In performing this investigation we made reference to the USGS *Topographic Map of the Clarksville Quadrangle, California* (photorevised 1980) showing the project area provided by the client.

B. FIELD EXPLORATION

As indicated on Plate No. 2, twelve exploratory test pits were excavated across the property on August 11, 2004, to a maximum depth of approximately 9½ feet below existing site grades. The test pits were excavated with a Case 580 E rubber-tired backhoe utilizing a 12-inch wide bucket.

Bulk samples of the near-surface soils were obtained for expansion index testing and testing to determine pavement design parameters. All samples were taken to our laboratory for soil classification and selection of samples for testing. The Logs of Test Pits, Plates No. 3 and 4, contain descriptions of the soils encountered in each test pit. A legend explaining the Unified Soil Classification System used on the logs is contained on Plate No. 5.

C. LABORATORY TESTING

Two bulk samples of near-surface soil were subjected to Expansion Index testing (ASTM D4829); the result of these tests are presented on Plates No. A1 and A2.

Three bulk samples of anticipated pavement subgrade soil was subjected to Resistance-value ("R") testing in accordance with California Test 301. The results of the R-value tests are presented on Plates No. A3 through A5.

Three near-surface soil samples was submitted to Sunland Analytical to determine the soil pH and minimum resistivity (CT 643), sulfate concentration (CT 417) and chloride concentration (CT 422). Results from these tests are presented on Plates No. A6 through A8.



WALLACE - KUHL

EXPANSION INDEX TEST RESULTS UBC Standard No. 29-2 ASTM D4829-88

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION: Brown, fine sandy, silty clay

LOCATION: TP1

	Sample <u>Depth</u> 5'	Pre-Test <u>Moisture (%)</u> 13.0	Post-Test <u>Moisture (%)</u> 30.0	Dry Density <u>(pcf)</u> 97	Expansion Index * 81	
Lun		CLASSIFICAT	ION OF EXPANSI	VE SOIL **	ancomoly	- not here.
		EXPANSION IND	EX POTENT	TAL EXPANSION	Expense	ion Inder Jower
		0 - 20 21 - 50 51 - 90 91 - 130		Very Low Low Medium High	for '	most of aite
		Above 130	, v	Very High		
	*	* Corrected to 50% Sa * From UBC Table 29	aturation D-C		-	
	MAK		EXPANSION	INDEX	WKA NC): 6187.01
WALLACE • K GEOTECH GEOLOGIC & El	UHL & ASSOCIATES, INICAL ENGINEERING NVIRONMENTAL SERV	INC. ICES	FOLSOM 138 PF Sacramento County	ROPERTY y, California	DATE: PLATE N	8/04 10: A1

EXPANSION INDEX TEST RESULTS UBC Standard No. 29-2 ASTM D4829-88

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION: Brown, fine sandy silt

LOCATION: TP4

Sample	Pre-Test	Post-Test	Dry Density	Expansion
<u>Depth</u>	Moisture (%)	Moisture (%)	(pcf)	Index *
2'	11.4	21.3	109	40

CLASSIFICATION OF EXPANSIVE SOIL **

EXPANSION INDEX	POTENTIAL EXPANSION
0 - 20 21 - 50	Very Low
51 - 90 51 - 120	Medium
Above 130	Very High

* Corrected to 50% Saturation

** From UBC Table 29-C



GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING GEOLOGIC & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

EXPANSION INDEX

WKA NO: 6187.01

FOLSOM 138 PROPERTY

PLATE NO: A2

DATE: 8/04

Sacramento County, California

RESISTANCE VALUE TEST RESULTS (California Test 301)

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION: Reddish brown, very fine sandy silt

LOCATION: TP3 (0-2')

Specimen	Dry Unit	Moisture	Exudation	Expansion Pressure		R
No.	Weight	@ Compaction	Pressure	(dial)	(psf)	Value
	(pcf)	(%)	(psi)			
1	119	15.0	271	7	30	17
2	125	14.6	366	11	48	30
3	127	14.1	510	12	52	38

R-Value at 300 psi exudation pressure = 24



WALLACE • KUHL & ASSOCIATES, INC. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING GEOLOGIC & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

RESISTANCE VALUE

FOLSOM 138 PROPERTY

Sacramento County, California

WKA NO: 6187.01 DATE: 8/04 PLATE NO: A3

RESISTANCE VALUE TEST RESULTS (California Test 301)

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION: Light reddish brown, very fine sandy silt

LOCATION: TP11 (1'-2')

Specimen	Dry Unit	Moisture	Exudation	Expansion Pressure		R
No.	Weight	@ Compaction	Pressure	(dial)	(psf)	Value
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	(pcf)	(%)	(psi)			
1	110	18.9	135	8	35	7
2	115	16.2	279	22	95	12
3	117	15.4	398	60	260	41

R-Value at 300 psi exudation pressure =17



WALLACE • KUHL & ASSOCIATES, INC. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING GEOLOGIC & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

RESISTANCE VALUE

WKA NO: 6187.01

FOLSOM 138 PROPERTY

Sacramento County, California

DATE: 8/04 PLATE NO: A4

RESISTANCE VALUE TEST RESULTS (California Test 301)

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION: Brown, sandy silty clay/clayey silt

LOCATION: TP7 (2'-3')

Specimen	Dry Unit	Moisture	Exudation	Expansion	n Pressure	R
No.	Weight	@ Compaction	Pressure	(dial)	(psf)	Value
	(pcf)	(%)	(psi)	*********		
1	106	23.4	550	40	173	
2	101	25.3	350	20	91	-

Sample extruded therefore R-value = 5



WALLACE • KUHL & ASSOCIATES, INC. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING GEOLOGIC & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES **RESISTANCE VALUE**

FOLSOM 138 PROPERTY

WKA NO: 6187.01 DATE: 8/04

Sacramento County, California

PLATE NO: A5

Sunland Analytical 11353 Pyrites Way, Suite 4 Rancho Cordova, CA 95670 (916) 852-8557 08/18/2004 Date Reported Date Submitted 08/12/2004 To: David Perry Wallace-Kuhl & Associates 3050 Industrial Blvd. West Sacramento, CA 95691 From: Gene Oliphant, Ph.D. \ Randy Horney The reported analysis was requested for the following location: Location : 6187.01\FOLSOM 138 Site ID : TP-3. Your purchase order number is 9132. Thank you for your business. * For future reference to this analysis please use SUN # 42748-83715. ______ EVALUATION FOR SOIL CORROSION 6.33 fre. (Below 5.5, per Cal Trans, nisk og Ity 3.48 ohm-cm (x1000) conosion og cement slad) Soil pH Minimum Resistivity 00.00080 % 8.0 ppm Chloride 00.00017 % 1.7 ppm Sulfate METHODS pH and Min.Resistivity CA DOT Test #643 Sulfate CA DOT Test #417, Chloride CA DOT Test #422 网络小学校 医小学学 医小学学 医黄素素 and the second states of the states of the second s 10.000 e y en l'an en beerte WKA NO: 6187.01 **CORROSION TEST** FOLSOM 138 PROPERTY DATE: 8/04

Sacramento County, California

PLATE NO: A6

WALLACE • KUHL & ASSOCIATES, INC. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING GEOLOGIC & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Sunland Analytical

11353 Pyrites Way, Suite 4 Rancho Cordova, CA 95670 (916) 852-8557



Date Reported08/18/2004Date Submitted08/12/2004

To: David Perry Wallace-Kuhl & Associates 3050 Industrial Blvd. West Sacramento, CA 95691

From: Gene Oliphant, Ph.D. \ Randy Horney

The reported analysis was requested for the following location: Location : 6187.01\FOLSOM 138 Site ID : TP-4. Your purchase order number is 9132. Thank you for your business.

* For future reference to this analysis please use SUN # 42748-83716.

EVALUATION FOR SOIL CORROSION

Soil pH	6.08				
Minimum Resistivi	lty	2.55	i ohm-cm	(x1000)	
Chloride		6.0	ppm	00.00060	ጜ
Sulfate		0.6	ppm	00.00006	ૠ

METHODS pH and Min.Resistivity CA DOT Test #643 Sulfate CA DOT Test #417, Chloride CA DOT Test #422



WALLACE • KUHL & ASSOCIATES, INC. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING GEOLOGIC & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

CORROSION TEST

WKA NO: 6187.01

FOLSOM 138 PROPERTY

Sacramento County, California

DATE: 8/04

PLATE NO: A7

Sunland Analytical

11353 Pyrites Way, Suite 4 Rancho Cordova, CA 95670 (916) 852-8557



Date Reported 08/18/2004 Date Submitted 08/12/2004

To: David Perry Wallace-Kuhl & Associates 3050 Industrial Blvd. West Sacramento, CA 95691

From: Gene Oliphant, Ph.D. \ Randy Horney

The reported analysis was requested for the following location: Location : 6187.01\FOLSOM 138 Site ID : TP-1. Your purchase order number is 9132. Thank you for your business.

* For future reference to this analysis please use SUN # 42748-83717. EVALUATION FOR SOIL CORROSION

Soil pH5.546bit Now, but ofill of.Minimum Resistivity3.22ohm-cm (x1000)Chloride5.6 ppm00.00056 %Sulfate1.3 ppm00.00013 %

METHODS pH and Min.Resistivity CA DOT Test #643 Sulfate CA DOT Test #417, Chloride CA DOT Test #422



WALLACE • KUHL & ASSOCIATES, INC. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING GEOLOGIC & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

CORROSION TEST

WKA NO: 6187.01

FOLSOM 138 PROPERTY

Sacramento County, California

DATE: 8/04

PLATE NO: A8

APPENDIX F3

Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Report – Folsom Heights

PRELIMINARY GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING REPORT

FOLSOM HEIGHTS

WKA No. 6744.02

August 19, 2005





WALLACE - KUHL & ASSOCIATES INC.

Geotechnical Engineering

Engineering Geology

Environmental Consulting

Remediation Services

.

Aaterials Testing

Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Report

FOLSOM HEIGHTS White Rock Road Sacramento County, California WKA No. 6744.02 August 19, 2005

INTRODUCTION

<u>General</u>

We have completed a preliminary geotechnical engineering evaluation of the Folsom Heights Property, located in eastern Sacramento County, California. Our work has been performed in accordance with verbal authorization on July 28, 2005 from Centex Homes, and the scope of work outlined in our proposal letter dated August 3, 2005. Wallace Kuhl & Associates is concurrently preparing an Environmental Site Assessment for the Folsom Heights Property (WKA No. 6744.01), which will be issued separately. Wallace-Kuhl & Associates prepared a *Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Report* for the Folsom 1400 Property (WKA No. 6449.02, dated March 23, 2005) located adjacent to the west of the Folsom Heights Property. Information obtained during that investigation was used to assist in the preparation of this report.

Scope

Our scope of work included the following tasks:

- 1. review of historic USGS topographic maps, geologic maps and aerial photographs of the property;
- 2. geologic reconnaissance by a Professional Geologist;
- 3. subsurface investigation, including the excavation and sampling of eight test pits to a maximum depth of approximately 10 feet below the ground surface;
- 4. laboratory testing of selected soil samples;

CORPORATE OFFICE 3050 Industrial Boulevard West Sacramento CA 95691 Tel 916.372.1434 Fax 916.372.2565

> ROCKLIN OFFICE 500 Menlo Drive Suite 100 Rocklin, CA 95765 Tel 916.435.9722 Fax 916.435.9822

STOCKTON OFFICE 3410 West Hammer Lane Suite F Stockton, CA 95219 Tel 209.234.7722 Fax 209.234.7727

- 5. engineering analyses; and,
- 6. preparation of this report.

Plates and Attachments

Our report contains a Geologic Map (Plate No. 1); a Site Plan showing approximate test pit locations (Plate No. 2); and, Logs of Test Pits (Plates No. 3 and 4). An explanation of the classification system used on the logs is included on Plate No. 5. Appendix A contains general information regarding project concepts, exploratory methods used during our field investigation, and a summary of laboratory test results.

Project Description

We understand the site will be primarily developed with single-family residential subdivisions. Due to the gently rolling terrain we anticipate that both graded pads and natural lots will be created during development. We assume typical construction will consist of one- and two-story, wood-frame residences, with interior concrete slabs-on-grade and/or raised-wood floors. Associated development will include underground utilities and interior roadways. Due to the relatively steep terrain we anticipate excavations in the range of 5 to 10 feet for general grading, with considerably deeper excavations for underground utilities.

FINDINGS

Site Conditions

Recycled paper

The Folsom Heights Property is located south of Highway 50, adjacent to the El Dorado/Sacramento County line in eastern Sacramento County, California. The majority of the property is located southwest of the intersection of the El Dorado/Sacramento County line and Highway 50, although a small panhandle-shaped portion of the property extends southeast along the El Dorado/Sacramento County line to White Rock Road (See Plates No. 1 and 2). The site is bound by Highway 50 to the north; the El Dorado/Sacramento County line to the east, beyond which is an existing residential subdivisions; open undeveloped land and White Rock Road to the south; and open undeveloped land to the west. Topography of the property is undulating to



Page 2

moderately and steeply rolling terrain with surface elevations ranging between approximately +540 feet to +810 feet relative to mean sea level (msl), based on review of a topographic map provided by MacKay & Somps and the USGS *Topographic Map of the Clarksville Quadrangle, California* (photorevised 1980).

At the time of our site reconnaissance, August 11, 2005, the site was covered with native weeds and grasses and was undeveloped. An antenna tower is located along the western perimeter of the site close to the cluster of towers located on the adjacent site. Rock outcrops were visible across much of the higher elevation portion of the site. Dry to moist seasonal creeks meander across the northeastern portion of the property, which is the lowest portion of the site.

In the vicinity of Test Pit No. 4 we observed several mature Cottonwood trees and green grass. Two rock lined water wells approximately three feet in diameter were observed near the Cottonwood trees. Both wells were full of water and had a slow but steady stream of water flowing from them. The water drained from the well by PVC pipe into cattle watering troughs and the troughs were slowly overflowing. The overflowing water resulted in the area around the trees being saturated with several areas of ponding water.

Review of available aerial photographs taken in 1962, 1971, 1976, 1989 and 2001 indicates the property has been undeveloped and used for grazing during at least this period of time. The telecommunication towers located west of the property been in existence since before 1962, the tower located on the Folsom Heights property has been in existence since sometime after 1989.

Site Geology

The property is predominately underlain by metavolcanic and pyroclastic rock formations as identified by the California Department of Conservation: Mines and Geology publication, "Generalized Geologic Map of the Folsom 15-Minute Quadrangle." Based on this map, the Copper Hill Volcanic formation appears to cover the entire property, consisting of mostly mafic to andesitic pyroclastic rocks, lava, and pillow lava, with subordinate felsic porphyritic and pyroclastic rocks.

The Generalized Geology Map of the Folsom 15-Minute Quadrangle indicates the west branch of the Bear Mountains Fault is located approximately 6000 feet east of the Folsom Heights



WALLACE · KUHL & ASSOCIATES INC.

Page 3

Property, and represents the westernmost fault within the "Foothills Fault Zone." The site is not identified within a *Alquist-Priolo Fault Study Zone*, meaning that the State has not identified this portion of the Foothills Fault Zone as being active within the last 11,000 years. The Bear Mountains Fault is mapped as a pre-Quaternary fault (not active within the last 1.6 million years), except for the "Rescue Lineament," which may have been active in late Quaternary time. The Rescue Lineament is located about 9 miles northeast of the eastern boundary of the site.

Subsurface Conditions

Our site reconnaissance and test pits indicate a subsurface profile of very fine sandy silts, silty clays and sandy clays with variable rock fragments at the surface, underlain by weathered to unweathered metavolcanic rocks. The weathered metavolcanic rock excavated into gravel to cobble sized angular rock pieces. Weathering of the metavolcanic rock decreases with depth. Test Pit No. 4 encountered cemented sandstone below three feet. Please review the Logs of Test Pits (Plates No. 3 and 4) for information on soil and rock conditions at specific locations.

Review of the 1980 U.S. Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service (SCS) *Soil Survey of Sacramento County, California* indicates that the near-surface soils on the subject property consist of two different soils types, including the "Argonaut-Auburn complex, 3 to 8 percent slopes," and "Argonaut-Auburn outcrop complex, 8 to 30 percent slopes." The majority of the site is composed of Argonaut-Auburn outcrop complex with the exception of the lower valley area in the northeastern corner of the site.

- The Argonaut profile typically consists of material weathered from metaandesite and metamorphic rocks. Typically, the surface layer is reddish yellow and light yellowish brown loam about 8 inches thick. The upper 6 inches of the subsoil is yellowish red gravelly loam. The lower 15 inches is a claypan of variegated strong brown yellowish brown, and yellowish red clay and clay loam. Highly weathered metavolcanic rock is at a depth of about 29 inches.
- Auburn profile typically consists of material weathered from metaandesite and metamorphic rocks. Typically the surface layer and subsoil are strong brown, reddish yellow, and yellowish red loam. Fractured metabasic bedrock is at a depth of about 14 inches.



WALLACE · KUHL & ASSOCIATES INC.

These soils formed as alluvium derived from mixed-rock sources, and these soil units are reportedly used for rangeland and dry-farmed crops. The SCS soil descriptions are generally consistent with our site observations and previous experience in the area.

Ground Water

Free ground water was not encountered in the test pits excavated on August 11, 2005. However, flowing water was observed in the two wells observed near Test Pit No. 4. The water in these wells may be the result of artesian springs conditions. Published data and experience in the vicinity of the project suggests that a permanent ground water table is at least 100 feet below the existing lower ground surfaces.

CONCLUSIONS

<u>General</u>

Our field and laboratory investigations indicate the Folsom Heights property is suitable for single-family residential development from the standpoint of soils and geologic considerations. Earth materials are considered to have no unusual or adverse engineering characteristics, which would preclude any of the elements of the proposed development. Of special concern to the development of this property will be the location of all wells, and the proper abandonment and backfilling of these features; the presence of highly expansive clays above the weathered rock; and the excavatability of the underlying rock.

Seismic Considerations

No active or potentially active faults are known to underlie the Folsom Heights Property, based on the published geologic maps and aerial photographs that we reviewed. The site is not located within an Alquist-Priolo Fault Study Zone, and we observed no surface evidence of faulting during our site reconnaissance. Therefore, it is our opinion that ground rupture at the site resulting from seismic activity is unlikely.



According to the 2001 edition of the California Building Code (Title 24 of the California Code of Regulations, Chapter 16; California amendments to the 1997 edition of the Uniform Building Code) the site is located within Seismic Zone 3. A soil profile type S_C , as referenced in Table 16A-J of Chapter 16 of the 2001 California Building Code (CBC) is considered appropriate for this site. The project site is not located within 15 kilometers (km) of a Type A or Type B fault source, as defined by CBC Table 16A-U. Although the Bear Mountain Fault is located within 15 kilometers of the site it is not identified as a Type A or Type B fault.

Naturally Occurring Asbestos

The test pits completed during our geotechnical investigation of the Folsom Heights property revealed no ultramafic rocks, serpentine, or obvious evidence of naturally occurring asbestos (NOA). However, metavolcanic rocks of the Copper Hill Volcanics and Gopher Ridge Volcanics geologic units underlie a significant portion of the Folsom Heights property. The concurrent Environmental Site Assessment (WKA No. 6744.01) will address the NOA issues in more detail.

In September 2004, the Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality Management District (SMAQMD) issued an advisory (Advisory #04-05 revised) that the potential exists for NOA to be encountered in rocks of the Copper Hill Volcanics geologic unit. Consequently, the SMAQMD currently requires that earthmoving activities performed in areas underlain by the Copper Hill Volcanics be performed in accordance with dust mitigation measures described in the California Air Resources Board's *Asbestos Airborne Toxic Control Measure for Construction, Grading, Quarrying, and Surface Mining Operations (ATCM)*. The SMAQMD requires that specific dust mitigation measures proposed for such projects must be outlined in an Asbestos Dust Mitigation Plan, which is to be approved by the SMAQMD prior to commencing earthmoving activities.

A project may be granted exemption from the ATCM requirements (by SMAQMD) if a geologic evaluation has been conducted by a Professional Geologist who makes a determination that asbestos does not exist in the area to be disturbed. To obtain a geologic exemption for projects within the specified geologic units, the SMAQMD currently requires that sampling and testing for NOA be performed in accordance with the California Air Resources Board Method 435 (CARB 435), which specifies testing of one three-point composite sample (one sample consisting of material from three different locations) per acre of land to be disturbed.



Well Abandonment

Existing wells at the site should be destroyed in accordance with abandonment permits that would be issued by the Sacramento County Environmental Health Division.

Excavation Conditions

The subject site contains silty and rocky surface soils, underlain by variably weathered and fractured metavolcanic rock. The uppermost alluvial soils should be excavatable with conventional excavation equipment typically used in the area. The metamorphic rock will be more difficult to excavate, and likely will require large dozers and excavators or possibly blasting to achieve excavations. This could have a significant impact on site development costs if deep excavations, such as for utilities, are required.

In order to evaluate the excavation conditions or "rippability" of the underlying variably weathered and fractured metavolcanic rock materials at the site, we recommend (as part of a design level study) performing seismic refraction traverses at areas of the site planned for the deepest excavations. The results of a seismic refraction survey are useful in that they can be compared to excavation equipment performance charts to evaluate the ability of different sized equipment to rip or excavate the materials.

Soil Expansion Potential

Laboratory testing of the surface and near-surface clay soils indicates these materials possess a high expansion potentials when tested in accordance with the ASTM D4829 (UBC 29-2) test method (see Plates No. A1 and A2). Previous experience and laboratory testing on nearby projects also has revealed the clay soils directly above the weathered rock to be moderate to highly expansive. Use of expansive clays, if present, should be avoided within building pads fills, and when clays are exposed at subgrade level within excavation areas, they should be removed and replaced with low expansion materials.



WALLACE - KUHL

Page 7

Material Suitability

The native soils and weathered rock will be suitable for use as engineered fill, provided they do not contain significant concentrations of vegetation or debris, and they are at an appropriate moisture content to allow proper compaction. Clay soils should not be used near the surface of building pads, but will be suitable for use in deeper fills. However, experience suggests that the volume of clay in relation to rocky materials is relatively small, resulting in a mixture of materials that is not very expansive.

Deeper excavations likely may result in larger rocks that will not be suitable unless broken down into smaller fragments (say 12 inch maximum size) that can be properly incorporated into engineered fill and compacted.

Ground Water and Seepage

Although review of available ground water information suggests that the static ground water table should not adversely affect construction of the proposed residential improvements, seepage water is present in the vicinity of Test Pit No. 4, which was located near the base of the sloping terrain. This indicates seepage will need to be addressed during site development. Experience in the El Dorado Hills area indicates that seepage can be controlled with the construction of subdrainage. Typical subdrains consist of perforated pipe and gravel, surrounded by non-woven geotextile fabric. Design of subdrains should be performed during construction when actual seepage conditions are exposed; however, there should be a contingency fund in the project budget for subdrain construction.

Seasonal Water

The near-surface soils will be in a near-saturated condition during and for a considerable period following the rainy season. Grading operations attempted following the onset of winter rains and prior to prolonged drying periods will be hampered by high soil moisture contents. Such soils, intended for use as engineered fill, will require considerable aeration to reach a moisture content that will permit the recommended compaction to be achieved. The underlying weathered rock will not be as severely impacted by seasonal rains.



Page 8

Preliminary Soil Corrosion Potential

Four composite samples of near-surface soils were submitted to Sunland Analytical for testing to determine pH, resistivity, sulfate and chloride concentrations to help evaluate the potential for corrosive attack upon buried structures. The test results for the samples revealed minimum resistivities of 860 to 3480 ohm-centimeters (Ω -cm) and a soil pH ranging from 6.22 to 7.25. Sulfates were recorded at 0.1 to 0.4 parts per million (ppm) and chlorides at 4.3 to 12.3 ppm. Results of the testing performed by Sunland Analytical are summarized on Plates No. A3 through A6.

Caltrans¹ considers a site to be corrosive to structural elements if one or more of the following conditions exist for the representative soil sample(s) taken at the site:

Chloride concentration is greater than or equal to 500 ppm, sulfate concentration is greater than or equal to 2000 ppm, or the pH is 5.5 or less.

Caltrans defines areas as either corrosive or non-corrosive based on the above information. Comparing this information to the test results indicates the native soils are non-corrosive to structural elements. Table 19-A-4 of the 1997 UBC, Requirements for Concrete Exposed to Sulfate-Containing Solutions, indicates the sulfate exposure for the samples tested are *Negligible*. Based on this table ordinary Type I-II Portland cement is indicated to be suitable for use on the project, assuming a minimum cover is maintained over the reinforcement.

Wallace-Kuhl & Associates are not corrosion engineers. Therefore, to further define the soil corrosion potential at the site a corrosion engineer should be consulted.

¹ California Department of Transportation, Division of Engineering Services, Materials Engineering and Testing Services, Corrosion Technology Branch, *Corrosion Guideline*, Version 1.0, September 2003.



PRELIMINARY RECOMMENDATIONS

Foundation Design and Floor Slab Support

The proposed residential structures likely can be supported upon continuous and/or isolated spread foundations extending at least 12 inches below lowest adjacent soil grade. The minimum 12 inch embedment also must be maintained with stepped foundations constructed on sloping lots. Foundations should be continuous around the perimeter of the buildings to help minimize moisture migration beneath the structures. A maximum allowable soil pressure of approximately 2500 psf for dead load plus live load with a 1/3 increase for consideration of seismic or wind forces is considered appropriate for preliminary foundation design. Foundations should be at least nominally reinforced.

Interior slab-on-grade concrete floors would be suitable for graded pads or relatively flat natural pads constructed at this site, provided slabs are properly designed and constructed with regard to moisture vapor penetration resistance and the slabs are adequately reinforced. Typical slab reinforcement would consist of flat sheets of welded-wire fabric (6x6/W2.9xW2.9) place on chairs or chaired No. 3 rebar at 24-inch center-to-center spacing. Due to placement issues during construction chaired rebar would be the preferred reinforcement.

Pavement Subgrade Quality

Due to the rolling site terrain, we anticipate that subgrade conditions will vary considerably. Laboratory testing of surface clayey soil from nearby projects indicates Resistance ("R") values of 5, which would be an appropriate design value for clay subgrades. Experience also suggests that subgrades consisting of weathered rock materials likely will possess an R-value of at least 40. Using these design values and the design traffic indices contained in the "Design Practice Guide" prepared by the Sacramento County Transportation Division, dated June 1, 1999, we have calculated the following prelininary pavement section alternatives. The procedures used for designing the pavement section are in general conformance with the "Flexible Pavement Structural Design Guide for California Cities and Counties" and applicable portions of the Caltrans Highway Design Manual.



evoled paper
Street Right-of-Way	Traffic Index (TI)	Type B Asphalt Concrete (inches)	Class 2 Aggregate Base (inches)
40' and 50'	5.0	21/2	5
Residential		3	4
56' to 74'	6.0	21/2	8
without Bus Routes		31/2*	6
56' to 74' with Bus Routes	6.5	3	9
and Cul-de-Sacs		4*	7
84' Streets	9.0	4	12
		51/2*	10
108' and 130' Streets	10.0	5	14
		6*	12

Preliminary Pavement Alternates Subgrade R-value = 40

* includes Caltrans safety factor

Preliminary Pavement Alternates

Subgrade R-value = 5

Street Right-of-Way	Traffic Index (TI)	Type B Asphalt Concrete (inches)	Class 2 Aggregate Base (inches)
40' and 50'	5.0	21/2	11
Residential		3	10
56' to 74'	6.0	21/2	15
without Bus Routes		31/2*	13
56' to 74' with Bus Routes	6.5	3	17
and Cul-de-Sacs		4*	15
84' Streets	9.0	4	23
		51/2*	21
108' and 130' Streets	10.0	5	26
		6*	24

*includes Caltrans safety factor

Recycled paper



Future Studies

This report is intended to provide an overview of the suitability of the site for residential development. Prior to further development, detailed subsurface investigations of the properties, including additional borings and/or test pits, and seismic traverses should be performed, along with a more extensive laboratory testing program, and geotechnical reports prepared presenting specific conclusions and recommendations for design and construction of the various phases of the project.

LIMITATIONS

The proceeding sections of this report should be considered a general overview of the geotechnical engineering aspects of site development. They are not intended for specific design or construction of any of the project improvements. At an appropriate time prior to development, our firm should be retained to conduct a comprehensive, site specific geotechnical engineering investigation for this project.

We appreciate this opportunity to be of service. Please contact our office if you have any questions regarding our report or the geotechnical aspects of site development.

Wallace-Kuhl and Associates, Inc.

IONAL GEO DAVID L PERRY Daved Han No. 7939 TE OF CALIFO

David L. Perry Project Geologist

Steplen L



Stephen L. French Senior Engineer







LOGS OF TEST PITS

TEST PIT 1

- 0 to 3' Reddish brown, fine sandy silt with angular gravel to cobble sized weathered metavolcanic rock fragments (ML) Bulk sample from surface to 1 foot
- 3' to 3¹/₂' Yellowish brown, silty fine sand with gravel to cobble sized angular weathered metavolcanic rock fragments (SM)
- 3¹/₂' to 4' Brownish green, metavolcanic rock with yellowish brown weathering (Rx) Test pit terminated at 4 feet due to refusal

TEST PIT 2

- 0 to 1' Reddish brown, fine sandy silt with angular gravel to cobble sized weathered metavolcanic rock fragments (ML)
- 1' to 7' Yellowish brown, silty fine sand with gravel to cobble sized angular weathered metavolcanic rock (SM)
- 7' to 8¹/₂' Brownish green, metavolcanic rock with yellowish brown weathering (Rx) Test pit terminated at 8¹/₂ feet due to refusal

TEST PIT 3

0 to 2' Reddish brown, very fine sandy silt with trace gravel (ML)
2' to 4' Yellowish brown, silty fine sand with gravel to cobble sized angular weathered metavolcanic rock fragments (SM)
4' to 5' Greenish blue, metavolcanic rock with a yellowish brown weathering surface (Rx) Test pit terminated at 5 feet due to refusal

TEST PIT 4

0 to 1'	Reddish brown, very fine sandy silt (ML)
1' to 5'	Grayish brown, silty clay (CL)
	Gravel to cobble sized inclusions below 3 feet
	Bulk sample from 1 to 3 feet
5' to 5½'	Greenish blue, weathered to non-weathered metavolcanic rock in a yellowish
	brown sandy matrix (RX)
	Weathered rock excavates into gravel to cobble sized angular pieces
	Test pit terminated at $5\frac{1}{2}$ feet due to refusal



WALLACE • KUHL & ASSOCIATES, INC. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING GEOLOGIC & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

LOG OF TEST PITS

FOLSOM HEIGHTS

WKA NO: 6744.02

DATE: 8/05

PLATE NO: 3

Sacramento County, California

LOGS OF TEST PITS

TEST PIT 5

0 to 1'	Dark brown, silty clay (CL)
	Bulk sample from 0 to 1 foot
1' to 6'	Yellowish brown, clayey sandy silt (ML)
	Trace gravel and cobble sized metavolcanic rock fragments below 3 feet
6' to 8½	Light brown, weathered, metavolcanic rock (Rx)
8 ¹ / ₂ ' to 9 ¹ / ₂ '	Greenish blue, metavolcanic rock with a yellowish brown weathering surface (Rx)
	Test pit terminated at 9½ feet due to refusal

TEST PIT 6

- 0 to 2' Reddish brown, silty fine sand with angular gravel to cobble sized weathered metavolcanic rock fragments (SM)
- 2' to 4' Yellowish brown, silty fine sand with gravel to cobble sized angular weathered metavolcanic rock fragments (SM)
- 4' to 5' Greenish blue, metavolcanic rock with a yellowish brown weathering surface (Rx) Test pit terminated at 5 feet due to refusal

TEST PIT 7

- 0 to 2' Reddish brown, very fine sandy, clayey silt (ML)
- 2' to 3' Yellowish brown, silty fine sand (SM)
- 3' to 5' Yellowish brown, variably cemented sand (Sandstone) (SM) Test pit terminated at 5 feet due to rock cementation

TEST PIT 8

0 to $1\frac{1}{2}$	Reddish brown, fine sandy silt (ML)
1½' to 6'	Yellowish brown, silty fine sand with gravel to cobble sized angular weathered
	metavolcanic rock fragments (SM)
6' to 7'	Greenish blue, metavolcanic rock with a yellowish brown weathering surface (Rx)
	Test pit terminated at 7 feet due to refusal



WALLACE • KUHL & ASSOCIATES, INC. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING GEOLOGIC & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

LOG OF TEST PITS

WKA NO: 6744.02 DATE: 8/05

FOLSOM HEIGHTS

Sacramento County, California

PLATE NO: 4

	UNIFIED SOIL CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM			
MA	JOR DIVISIONS	SYMBOL	CODE	TYPICAL NAMES
		GW		Well graded gravels or gravel - sand mixtures, little or no fines
	(More than 50% of	GP		Poorly graded gravels or gravel - sand mixtures, little or no fines
SOILS f soil ize)	coarse fraction >	GM	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	Silty gravels, gravel - sand - silt mixtures
AINED 50% o sieve s		GC _		Clayey gravels, gravel - sand - clay mixtures
sE GR e than 0. 200 (CANDO	SW	0 0 0 0 0	Well graded sands or gravelly sands, little or no fines
OARS (Mon > nd	(50% or more of	SP		Poorly graded sands or gravelly sands, little or no fines
coarse frac	coarse fraction <	SM		Silty sands, sand - silt mixtures
		SC		Clayey sands, sand - clay mixtures
		ML		Inorganic silts and very fine sands, rock flour, silty or clayey fine sands or clayey silts with slight plasticity
OILS soil ize)	$\frac{SILTS \& CLAYS}{11 < 50}$	CL		Inorganic clays of low to medium plasticity, gravelly clays, sandy clays, silty clays, lean clays
VED Source of Sieve s		OL		Organic silts and organic silty clays of low plasticity
GRAIN % or m 0. 200 s		МН		Inorganic silts, micaceous or diatomaceous fine sandy or silty soils, elastic silts
FINE (505 × nc	$\frac{SILTS \& CLAYS}{LL > 50}$	СН		Inorganic clays of high plasticity, fat clays
		ОН		Organic clays of medium to high plasticity, organic silty clays, organic silts
HIGH	ILY ORGANIC SOILS	Pt		Peat and other highly organic soils
	ROCK	RX		Rocks, weathered to fresh

OTHER SYMBOLS

- = Drive Sample: 2-1/2" O.D. Modified California sampler
- = Drive Sample: no recovery
- = SPT Sample
- = Initial Water Level
- = Final Water Level
- Estimated or gradational material change line
- = Observed material change line Laboratory Tests
- PI = Plasticity Index
- EI = Expansion Index
- UCC = Unconfined Compression Test
 - TR = Triaxial Compression Test
- GR = Gradational Analysis (Sieve)
 - K = Permeability Test

UNI

UNIFIED SOIL CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM

CLASSIFICATION

coarse (c)

coarse (c)

fine (f)

SILT & CLAY

medium (m)

fine (f)

BOULDERS

COBBLES

GRAVEL

SAND

WKA NO: 6744.02

FOLSOM HEIGHTS

Sacramento County, California

PLATE NO: 5

DATE: 8/05

WALLACE • KUHL & ASSOCIATES, INC. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING GEOLOGIC & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

GRAIN SIZE CLASSIFICATION

U.S. Standard

Sieve Size

Above 12"

12" to 3"

3" to No. 4

3" to 3/4"

3/4" to No. 4

No. 4 to No. 200

No. 4 to No. 10

No. 10 to No. 40

No. 40 to No. 200

Below No. 200

RANGE OF GRAIN SIZES

Grain Size

in Millimeters

Above 305

305 to 76.2

76.2 to 4.76

76.2 to 19.1

19.1 to 4.76

4.76 to 0.074 4.76 to 2.00

2.00 to 0.420

0.420 to 0.074

Below 0.074

APPENDIX A

Recycled paper



WALLACE • KUHL & ASSOCIATES INC.

APPENDIX A

A. GENERAL INFORMATION

The preparation of a preliminary geotechnical engineering report for the Folsom Heights Property, located south of Highway 50, on the west side of the El Dorado/Sacramento County line in eastern Sacramento County, California, was authorized on August 4, 2005 by Ms. Kim McCarley with Centex Homes, Sacramento Division. Authorization was for an investigation as described in our proposal letter of August 3, 2005, sent to our client, Centex Homes, Sacramento Division, whose mailing address is 3700 Douglas Boulevard, Suite 150, Roseville, California 95661; telephone (916) 788-9000 facsimile (916) 788-9001.

In performing this investigation we made reference to Topographic Maps provided by MacKay & Somps, dated August 8, 2005 showing the project area.

B. FIELD EXPLORATION

As indicated on Plate No. 2, eight exploratory test pits were excavated across the property on August 11, 2005, to a maximum depth of approximately 10 feet below existing site grades. The test pits were excavated with a Case 580E rubber-tired backhoe utilizing a 12-inch wide bucket.

Bulk samples of the near-surface soils were obtained for Expansion Index testing and corrosion testing. All samples were taken to our laboratory for additional soil classification and selection of samples for testing. The Logs of Test Pits, Plates No. 3 and 4, contain descriptions of the soils and rock encountered in each test pit. A legend explaining the Unified Soil Classification System used on the logs is contained on Plate No. 5.

C. LABORATORY TESTING

Two bulk samples of near-surface soil were subjected to Expansion Index testing (ASTM D4829); the result of these tests are presented on Plates No. A1 and A2.

Four near-surface soil samples was submitted to Sunland Analytical to determine the soil pH and minimum resistivity (CT 643), sulfate concentration (CT 417) and chloride concentration (CT 422). Results from these tests are presented on Plates No. A3 through A6.



EXPANSION INDEX TEST RESULTS UBC Standard No. 29-2 ASTM D4829-88

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION: Brown, silty clay

LOCATION: TP-5

Sample	Pre-Test	Post-Test	Dry Density	Expansion
<u>Depth</u>	Moisture (%)	<u>Moisture (%)</u>	(pcf)	Index *
0'-1'	12.6	33.4	95.6	119

CLASSIFICATION OF EXPANSIVE SOIL **

EXPANSION INDEX	POTENTIAL EXPANSION
0 - 20	Very Low
21 - 50	Low
51 - 90	Medium
91 - 130	High
Above 130	Very High

* Corrected to 50% Saturation

** From UBC Table 29-C



EXPANSION INDEX

FOLSOM HEIGHTS

Sacramento County, California

WKA NO: 6744.02 DATE: 8/05

alifornia

PLATE NO: A1

WALLACE • KUHL & ASSOCIATES, INC. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING GEOLOGIC & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

EXPANSION INDEX TEST RESULTS UBC Standard No. 29-2 ASTM D4829-88

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION: Grayish brown, silty clay

LOCATION: TP-4

Sample	Pre-Test	Post-Test	Dry Density	Expansion
<u>Depth</u>	Moisture (%)	<u>Moisture (%)</u>	<u>(pcf)</u>	Index *
1'-2'	14.8	33.9	93.9	118

CLASSIFICATION OF EXPANSIVE SOIL **

EXPANSION INDEX	POTENTIAL EXPANSION
0 - 20	Very Low
21 - 50	Low
51 - 90	Medium
91 - 130	High
Above 130	Very High

* Corrected to 50% Saturation

** From UBC Table 29-C



WALLACE - KUHL & ASSOCIATES, INC.

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING GEOLOGIC & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

EXPANSION INDEX

FOLSOM HEIGHTS

Sacramento County, California

WKA NO: 6744.02 DATE: 8/05

PLATE NO: A2





Sunland Analytical

11353 Pyrites Way, Suite 4 Rancho Cordova, CA 95670 (916) 852-8557

> Date Reported 08/17/2005 Date Submitted 08/12/2005

To: David Perry Wallace-Kuhl & Associates 3050 Industrial Blvd. West Sacramento, CA 95691

From: Gene Oliphant, Ph.D. \ Randy Horney

The reported analysis was requested for the following location: Location : 6744.02/FOLSOM HEIGH Site ID : TP-5. Your purchase order number is 9260. Thank you for your business.

* For future reference to this analysis please use SUN # 45584-90168. EVALUATION FOR SOIL CORROSION

Soil pH 6.48

Minimum Resistivity	1.02 ohm-cm	(x1000)	
Chloride	7.8 ppm	00.00078	8
Sulfate	0.2 ppm	00.00002	%

METHODS

pH and Min.Resistivity CA DOT Test #643 Sulfate CA DOT Test #417, Chloride CA DOT Test #422



WALLACE • KUHL & ASSOCIATES, INC. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING GEOLOGIC & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

CORROSION TEST

WKA NO: 6744.02

FOLSOM HEIGHTS

GHTS DATE: 8/05

PLATE NO: A4

Sacramento County, California



Sunland Analytical

11353 Pyrites Way, Suite 4 Rancho Cordova, CA 95670 (916) 852-8557

> Date Reported 08/17/2005 Date Submitted 08/12/2005

To: David Perry Wallace-Kuhl & Associates 3050 Industrial Blvd. West Sacramento, CA 95691

From: Gene Oliphant, Ph.D. \ Randy Horney General Manager \ Lab Manager

The reported analysis was requested for the following location: Location : 6744.02/FOLSOM HEIGH Site ID : TP-7. Your purchase order number is 9260. Thank you for your business.

* For future reference to this analysis please use SUN # 45584-90169. EVALUATION FOR SOIL CORROSION

Soil pH 6.79 Minimum Resistivity 3.48 ohm-cm (x1000) Chloride 4.3 ppm 00.00043 % Sulfate 0.1 ppm 00.00001 %

METHODS pH and Min.Resistivity CA DOT Test #643 Sulfate CA DOT Test #417, Chloride CA DOT Test #422



WALLACE . KUHL & ASSOCIATES, INC. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING **GEOLOGIC & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES** **CORROSION TEST**

FOLSOM HEIGHTS

WKA NO: 6744.02

Sacramento County, California

PLATE NO: A5

DATE: 8/05



Sunland Analytical

11353 Pyrites Way, Suite 4 Rancho Cordova, CA 95670 (916) 852-8557

> Date Reported 08/17/2005 Date Submitted 08/12/2005

To: David Perry Wallace-Kuhl & Associates 3050 Industrial Blvd. West Sacramento, CA 95691

From: Gene Oliphant, Ph.D. \ Randy Horney General Manager \ Lab Manager

The reported analysis was requested for the following location: Location : 6744.02/FOLSOM HEIGH Site ID : TP-1. Your purchase order number is 9260. Thank you for your business.

* For future reference to this analysis please use SUN # 45584-90166. EVALUATION FOR SOIL CORROSION

Soil pH 6.22

Minimum Resistivity	2.84 ohm-cm	(x1000)	
Chloride	8.4 ppm	00.00084	8
Sulfate	0.1 ppm	00.00001	号

METHODS pH and Min.Resistivity CA DOT Test #643 Sulfate CA DOT Test #417, Chloride CA DOT Test #422



WALLACE . KUHL & ASSOCIATES, INC. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING GEOLOGIC & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

CORROSION TEST

FOLSOM HEIGHTS

WKA NO: 6744.02

Sacramento County, California

DATE: 8/05

PLATE NO: A6

APPENDIX F4

Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Study – White Rock Road / Scott Road 1,400 Acres PRELIMINARY GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING STUDY for WHITE ROCK ROAD/SCOTT ROAD 1,400 ACRES Sacramento County (Unincorporated) Folsom, California

> Project No. E07145 May 2007



1234 Glenhaven Court, El Dorado Hills, CA 95762 PH 916.933.0633 F* 916.933.64B2

502 Giuseppe Court, Suite 2, Roseville, CA 95678 P# 916.773.7633 F* 916.773.7833 E^M mail@youngdahl.net

Geoscience · Materials Testing · Storm Water Compliance

Project No. E07145.000 22 May 2007

AKT Investments, Inc. c/o Ryan Fong with River Rock Development Company 7700 College Town Drive, Suite 250 Sacramento, California 95826-2303

Subject:	WHITE APN 07 Sacram PRELIN	ROCK ROAD/SCOTT ROAD 1,400 ACRES 2-0060-038 & 069; 072-0270-138; 072-0070-032 & 21 ento County, California //INARY GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING STUDY
Reference:	1. 2. 3. 4 <i>.</i>	Proposal and Contract for White Rock Road/Scott Road 1400 Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Study, prepared by Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc., dated 1 June 2005. Phase I Site Assessment for Russell Ranch South, prepared by Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc., dated April 2007 (Project No. E95027.001). Phase I Site Assessment for Mangini Property, prepared by Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc., dated March 2007 (Project No. E07077.000). Folsom SOI – NOA Overview, Geologic Overview and Summary of NOA Potential, prepared by Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc., dated February 2007 (Project No. E02005.000)

Dear Mr. Fong:

hoicol

In accordance with your authorization, Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. has performed a preliminary geotechnical engineering study for the project site located on the north side of White Rock Road extending from the El Dorado County Line, to Highway 50 and westerly approximately 2.6 miles in the unincorporated Folsom area of Sacramento County, California. The purpose of this study was to explore and evaluate the general surface and subsurface soil conditions at the site and to develop preliminary geotechnical information for the proposed project. Our scope was limited to a subsurface investigation and preparation of this report, which was written for the purpose of providing general geologic and soil information for initial planning phases of the project.

Based upon our field study, subsurface exploration program, and engineering analysis, we believe the primary geotechnical issues to be addressed consist of shallow bedrock conditions as well as their associated drainage issues and rippability. Other geotechnical issues may become more apparent during mass grading operations which are not listed above. The descriptions, findings, conclusions and recommendations provided in this report are formulated as a whole, and specific conclusions or recommendations should not be derived or used out of context. Please review the limitations and uniformity of conditions section of this report.

This report has been prepared for the exclusive use of AKT Investments, Inc. and their consultants, for specific application to this project, in accordance with generally accepted geotechnical engineering practice. Should you have any questions or require additional information, please contact our office at your convenience.

Very truly yours, Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. Reviewed by:

Victor P. Dumlao, P.E. Project Engineer

John C. Youngdahl, P.E. Principal Engineer

Roy C. Kroll, C.E.G. Associate Engineering Geologist

Distribution:

(4) to Client



TABLE OF CONTENTS

	1.0	INTRODUCTION1 Purpose and Scope1	
~-			
	υŅ	PROJECT UNDERSTANDING1	
	2.0	Reckaround	
		раскующие има	
	0 0	CEOLOGIC FINDINGS	I
	3.0	GLOEOCIC (W12))
		Surface Conditions	2
		Subsurface Conditions	2
		Groundwater Conditions	2
		Flooding Potential	2
		Soil Expansion Potential	- -
		Geologic Setting	1
		Naturally Occurring Aspesios (NOV)	+ X
		Mining & Mineral Resources	4
		Seismicity	4
		Liquefaction Potential	4
			4
	4.0	GEOTECHNICAL CONSIDERATIONS	4
	4.0	General	.5
		Soil (SCS/NRCS)	.5
		Solls/Rock	.5
		Excevation Characteristics	.6
		Engineered Fills	.6
		Engine Potential	.6
		Mine Tollings	.6
		Rite Dreipage Controls/Subdrainage	.7
		Site Drainage Series Standards	7
		Low impact Developments	7
		Underground improvement	7
			7
÷		Slope Stability	<i>i</i>
		Slope Configuration and Ordering	U
		Foundations & Building Design	U Q
		Differential Support Conditions	0
		Faulting & Seismic Offena	0
		Laboratory Testing	0
		AND INTO OPMITY OF CONDITIONS	9
	5.	0 LIMITATIONS AND UNIFORMITT OF COM	4.4
		THE REAL WAZARDS AND POTENTIAL MITIGATION MEASURES.	. 1.1
	· C	HECKLIST OF GEOTECHNICAL HAZARDO AND THE	40
			.12
	А	dditional Geological References	40
	•		.13
	۵	PPENDIX A	
	,	Field study	15
		Vicinity Map (Figure A-1)	. 16
		Site Map (Figure A-2)	17
		Logs of Exploratory Pits (Figures A-3 through A-34)	58
		Soil Classification Chart and Pit Log Legend (Figure 7. 07)	59
		Soils Map (NRCS) (Figure A-35)	60
		Geology Map (Figure A-36)	

PRELIMINARY GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING STUDY for WHITE ROCK ROAD AND SCOTT ROAD 1,400 ACRES

This report presents the results of our Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Study performed for the proposed planned community to be constructed north of White Rock Road in the unincorporated area of Folsom in Sacramento County, California. Refer to Figure A-1 and A-2 for a vicinity map for the project site. To achieve the objective of addressing the geologic and geotechnical issues for the project, Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. (YCG) has generally adhered to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and the California Geological Survey (CGS) Special Publication No. 46 regarding the Guidelines for Geologic/Seismic Considerations for EIR level studies.

Purpose and Scope

The purpose of this study was to explore and evaluate the surface and subsurface conditions at the site and to develop reconnaissance level geotechnical information for the proposed project. The scope of this study includes the following:

- A review of geotechnical and geologic data available to us at the time of our study.
- A reconnaissance level field study consisting of a site observation, followed by an exploratory test pit program to characterize the generalized subsurface conditions.
- Engineering analysis of the data and information obtained from our field study, aerial photography and literature review. Development of preliminary recommendations for site preparation and grading, and geotechnical concerns and conclusions.
- Preparation of this report summarizing our findings, and conclusions regarding the geotechnical aspects for the project.

Based on the preliminary layout plans provided by you, the proposed construction is expected to include a planned community including subdivision development, commercial and retail shopping centers, schools, and associated infrastructure. Most structures are anticipated to generate relatively light loads with shallow foundations.

For the purposes of this report, we have assumed that grading operations will consist of cuts and fills on the order of 30 feet or less.

Review of available information and aerial photos indicate that the project site was primarily used for agricultural and/or grazing lands for livestock. Some mining features as well as old foundations for small structures and other structures associated with previous mining operations were observed on the site (and described in References 2 and 3). Radio towers are constructed near the peak of the eastern parcel on the northern end.

GEOLOGIC FINDINGS 3.0

The subject site is comprised of 5 irregularly shaped parcels roughly delineated by the Sacramento County Line and the El Dorado County Line on the east, Highway 50 on the north, White Rock Road on the south and undeveloped lands to the west. The combined acreage for all of the parcels is approximately 1,400 acres. Site topography includes low to medium rolling hills to the west and a larger hill to the east in excess of 200 feet of vertical relief. The terrain





White Rock Road and Scott Road 1,400 Acres Page 2

features have a tendency to develop natural drainage swales and creeks. Natural drainage swales of varying sizes traverse the site collecting surface runoff and are located throughout the property. Some reservoirs are also present in the central parcels. Several radio towers are located on the hill to the northeast. Some remnants of old foundations and water structures are present on the eastern portion of the properties to the west. The properties are covered by low to moderate grass growth throughout the parcels with some rock outcrops at the surface in all parcels. Tree growth consisting primarily of varying sized oaks is limited to the western third of the western parcel (west of Scott Road).

Subsurface Conditions

Our field study included a site reconnaissance by a Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. representative followed by a (reconnaissance-level) subsurface exploration program conducted on 24 April through 25 April 2007, which included the excavation of 31 test pits under his direction at the approximate locations shown on Figure A-2, Appendix A. A description of the field exploration is provided in Appendix A.

Test pits generally encountered surface soils consisting predominantly of silty SANDS/sandy SILTS in a loose and moist to saturated condition to depths varying from 1/2 to 3 1/2 feet below current site grades. Underlying the surface fills and native soils, weathered metasandstone and slate BEDROCK was encountered to the maximum depth explored in each pit. Effective refusal was encountered with the equipment used for our study. The bedrock graded moderately weathered at the bottom of each pit. A detailed seismic refraction study can provide more information regarding subsurface rock conditions and rippability.

A more detailed description of the subsurface conditions encountered is presented graphically on the "Exploratory Test Pit Logs", Figures A-3 through A-33, presented in Appendix A. These logs show a graphic interpretation of the subsurface profile, the location and depths at which samples were collected.

Groundwater was generally not encountered during our explorations. However, subsurface water conditions typically vary in the foothill region. Our experience in the area shows that water may be perched on less weathered rock and present in the fractures, and seams of the weathered rock found beneath the site at varying times of the year.

According to the Federal Emergency Management Agency flood zone map, the project area is incorporated into Zone X. Zone X is considered to be outside the 500 year flood zone. Flooding circumstances, outside seasonal conditions, are not expected to have a significant impact within the project area.

We encountered a clay layer in Test Pit TP-5. Clay layers are typically in low lying areas and above the bedrock horizons. In concentrated amounts, such clays could cause distress to concrete slab-on-grade floors and foundations if present in the upper 3 feet of the structural improvement areas. However, given their limited presence, it has been our experience that these materials can be sufficiently blended such that expansive soil mitigation measures may not be required.

The geologic portion of this report included a review of geologic data pertinent to the site, and an interpretation of our observations and the Logs of Exploratory Test Pits excavated during the field study.



The site is located at the base of the Sierra Foothills region of the Sierra Nevada Mountain Range. According to the "Generalized Geology of the Folsom 15-Minute Quadrangle" (Loyd, 1984) and confirmed by our subsurface exploration, the site is underlain by undifferentiated metavolcanic and metasedimentary rocks of the Gopher Ridge Volcanics (Jgo), Copper Hill Volcanics (Jch), and Salt Springs (Jss) formations formed during the Jurassic Period (Figure A-36). The Copper Hill Volcanics in the project area are found east of Old Placerville Road on the Russell Ranch South portion. Also included is a relatively small intrusion of gabbro (gb) associated with the Foothills Melange-Ophiolite Terrane, also Jurassic in age. A Tertiary-aged alluvial unit consisting of sands, silts, and conglomerates, the Laguna Formation (TI), is present The metavolcanic bedrock is characterized by a greenish gray color on a fresh surface, weathering to yellowish brown, and typically without at the southwest comer of the project site. foliation. The metasedimentary bedrock is typically found in the form of gray to black, well foliated "slate", or brown sandstone, typically without foliation. The gabbro is nearly black on a fresh surface, but easily weathers to orangish brown and even very light gray to white. It is very granular and typically not foliated. All of the noted bedrock types are usually observed to contain various degrees of fracturing and weathering. The degree of weathering typically Foliations, where present, and lenticular rock bodies, had a decreases with depth. northwesterly trend and steep dip to the east.

Naturally Occurring Asbestos (NOA)

ţ

The Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality Management District (SMAQMD) is the lead agency for regulating NOA in Sacramento County. When NOA was discovered at the Lago Vista School site in Folsom in 2004, they immediately implemented the construction Air Toxic Control Measure (ATCM) (CCR Section 93015) for projects in East Folsom within the metavolcanic Copper Hill Formation. SMAQMD staff also received a request from the Sacramento County Department of Environmental Review regarding the inclusion of an assessment for NOA in the Environmental Impact Report (EIR) process for projects in the eastern part of Sacramento County. They initiated discussions with the California Geological Survey at this point. In 2005, the SMAQMD expanded the NOA area to include all areas underlain by the Copper Hill Formation, as well as the Gopher Ridge Formation, also metavolcanic. In July of 2006, after CGS released the generalized geologic map of eastern Sacramento County, the SMAQMD established a policy of applying the construction ATCM (CCR Section 93105) to all areas identified as being underlain by rocks moderately likely to contain NOA.

The air quality management districts in California have the responsibility for implementing and enforcing the construction ATCM. In practice, the California Air Resources Board (ARB) allows each air quality management district some latitude on how they interpret the ATCM. The construction ATCM provides a mechanism by which to remove properties from the requirements of the ATCM through a geologic evaluation. The SMAQMD interprets the ATCM to apply to a "real property" (verbal communications with SMAQMD staff). This means that no matter how large the property, if one instance of NOA (above regulatory thresholds) is found on a legal parcel, then they require that the ATCM would apply to the entire parcel.

The relative likelihood for the presence of NOA is least for the Salt Springs Slate, yet moderately likely for the Copper Hills, Gopher Ridge, and gabbro units. The low-grade, greenschist facies, regional metamorphism, with hydrothermal alteration is characteristic of NOA containing rocks of this region. NOA, if present will be visible within the bedrock at depth during trenching activities. NOA typically weathers to clays at near surface depths and therefore, is generally not visible (Reference 4).

A detailed assessment of site NOA conditions can be conducted as necessary as each phase of development within the limits of these properties is started (as detailed in Reference 4).



According to the Mineral Land Classification of the Folsom 15-Minute Quadrangle (Loyd, 1984) two lode gold mines, both called Mangini Ranch, are situated in the quartz veins within the Gopher Ridge Volcanics. These mines have been occasionally mined between the gold rush days leading up to the 1920s. These mines consist of open shafts and exploration pits with quartz and other waste rock tailing piles (Reference 3).

According to the Fault Activity Map of California and Adjacent Areas (Jennings, 1994) and the Peak Acceleration from Maximum Credible Earthquakes in California (CDMG, 1992), no active faults or Earthquake Fault Zones (Special Studies Zones) are located on the project site. No evidence of recent or active faulting was observed during our field study. The nearest mapped faults to the site are related to the Bear Mountains, Melones Fault, and the Mormon Island Shear Zones (trends with the County line between El Dorado and Sacramento Counties) located from 3 to 13 kilometers east of the site. Soil stratigraphic dating indicates these faults have not moved within the past 65,000 to 70,000 years (Tierra Engineering, 1983). The nearest mapped active fault to the site is the Dunnigan Hills fault located about 65 kilometers to the west-northwest.

Based on our literature review of shear-wave velocity characteristics of geologic units in California (Wills and Silva; August 1998: Earthquake Spectra, Volume 14, No. 3) and subsurface interpretations, we recommend that the project be designed in accordance with the 2001 California Building Code (CBC), Chapter 16. This site is located within Seismic Risk Zone 3 and based on our subsurface interpretations and literature review is classified as Soil Profile Type S_B.

Liquefaction is the sudden loss of soil shear strength and sudden increase in porewater pressure caused by shear strains, as could result from an earthquake. Research has shown that saturated, loose to medium-dense sands with a silt content less than about 25 percent located within the top 40 feet are most susceptible to liquefaction. Due to the absence of a permanent elevated groundwater table, the relatively low seismicity of the area, the relatively shallow depth to bedrock, and the relatively dense nature of site materials, the potential for site liquefaction is considered negligible.

GEOTECHNICAL CONSIDERATIONS 4.0

Based upon the results of our field explorations and analysis, it is our opinion that construction of the proposed improvements is feasible from a geotechnical standpoint. The native soils, rock, and/or engineered fills composed of like materials and processed and compacted as engineered fills are considered suitable for support of the onsite improvements. Development and grading of the parcels would include some geotechnical concerns with the subsurface soils, bedrock and terrain. The presence of hard rock can cause excavation difficulty as well as create an impermeable layer causing perched water conditions. Natural drainage swales that are present throughout the property, that will be lost in development, may require subsurface drainage controls. Because this report provides preliminary general recommendations for a large site, we recommend that laboratory testing and site specific geotechnical studies to be coordinated for each phase build out. The following paragraphs state additional geotechnical comments.



White Rock Road and Scott Road 1,400 Acres Page 5

According to the USDA Soil Conservation Service Soil Survey of Sacramento County, California (1993), the soils at the subject property consist of Argonaut-Auburn complex, 3 to 8 percent slopes, HSG D (Map Unit 107), Auburn silt loam, 2 to 30 percent-slopes, HSG D (Map Unit 109) Auburn-Argonaut-Rock outcrop complex, 8 to 30 percent slopes, HSG D (Map Unit 110) and Whiterock loam, 3 to 30 percent slopes, HSG D (Map Unit 237). Argonaut-Auburn complex contains 45 percent Argonaut soils and 35 percent Auburn soils. moderately deep and well drained and formed from material weathered from metamorphosed volcanic rock. Permeability is slow and water is perched above the claypan for short periods after heavy storms in winter and early spring. Available water capacity is low and depth to bedrock is 20 to 40 inches. Runoff potential is medium. The Auburn soil is shallow or moderately deep and well drained and forms from weathered metabasic and metasedimentary rocks. Permeability is moderate and water capacity is low to very low. Depth to bedrock is 10 to 28 inches. Runoff potential for this soil is medium. The Whiterock loam is very shallow and excessively well drained. It is formed from vertically tilted weathered metasedimentary bedrock. Included in this unit are small areas of Argonaut and Auburn soils and Rock outcrop. Depth to bedrock is 4 to 14 inches. Permeability is moderate and available water capacity is very low. Runoff potential for this soil is medium to rapid. The project area soils have a moderate to high

corrosion potential.

Site development and mass grading/grading operations will likely include rocky fills. Projects developed in the vicinity have typically included balance cuts and fills comprised of native soils and rock. In areas where deep cuts are proposed and surface soils are shallow above the bedrock layer, sufficient fines to be mixed with rocky fills may be short and may require additional breakdown of rockier materials by crushing and/or heavy equipment kneading, or import of soils to prevent nesting of larger boulders and air voids where these cut soils are used for fills. Blasting has also been used in locations where deep, hard rock excavations were needed.

The test pits were excavated using a John Deere 310SG backhoe equipped with a 24 inch wide bucket. The degree of difficulty encountered in excavating our test pits is an indication of the effort that will be required for excavation during construction. Based on our test pits, we expect that the site soils can be excavated using conventional earthmoving equipment; however, as stated above, a seismic refraction study can detail a closer approximation of the excavation equipment requirements and effort needed in most of the deeper cuts.

The underlying rock materials can likely be excavated to depths of several feet using dozers equipped with rippers. We expect that the upper, weathered portion of the rock, indicated to extend 10 feet below the rock surface at most locations, will require use of at least a Caterpillar D8 equipped with a single or multiple shank rippers, or similar equipment. We anticipate that a ripper equipped DB can penetrate at least as deep as our test pits at most locations with moderate effort. Deeper excavation into the less weathered rock may require heavier equipment, such as a D9, or a D10. Blasting cannot be ruled out in areas of resistant rock.

Where hard rock cuts in fractured rock are proposed, the orientation and direction of ripping will likely play a large role in the rippability of the material. Seismic refraction geophysical lines should be considered for planned areas of deep cut or existing prominent rock outcrops. When hard rock is encountered, we should be contacted to provide additional recommendations prior to performing an alternative such as blasting.







White Rock Road and Scott Road 1,400 Acres Page 6

Utility trenches will likely encounter hard rock excavation conditions especially in deeper cut areas. Utility contractors should be prepared to use special rock trenching equipment such as large excavators (CAT 235 or CAT 245 or equivalent). Blasting to achieve utility line grades, especially in planned cut areas, cannot be precluded. Water inflow into any excavation approaching hard rock surface is likely to be experienced in all but the driest summer and fall months. Pre-ripping during mass grading may be beneficial and should be considered with the Geotechnical Engineer prior to, or during mass grading.

Suitability of On-Site Materials: We anticipate that a large amount of on-site soils will be generated during mass grading operations. We expect that soil generated from excavations on the site, excluding deleterious material, may be used as engineered fill.

Compaction Equipment: In areas to receive structural fill, a Caterpillar 825 steel-wheel compactor, large vibratory padded drum compactor, or approved equivalent will likely need to be employed as a minimum to facilitate breakdown of oversize bedrock materials and generation of soil fines during the fill placement process.

The National Resources Conservation Services (NRCS) USDA soil survey of Sacramento County (1991) classifies the Argonaut-Auburn Complex soil (mapped as unit "107") to have a slight erosion with a medium surface runoff potential. The Auburn Silt Loam, Auburn-Argonaut-Rock complex, and Whiterock Loam soils (mapped as units "109," "110," "237" respectively) have a slight to moderate erosion potential with a medium to rapid surface runoff potential.

Minor tailing piles are present at the project area with other historic mining features. They consist mostly of quartz and other rock from the shallow hard rock mining of quartz veins for gold (Reference 3). These piles are too small to be mapped in the Soil Survey of Sacramento County (1991). Larger tailing piles features are present west of the site and are visible in aerial photographs. Mine tailings may be subject to burial in designated deeper fill areas, depending upon development layouts.

Initial site preparation may involve intercepting and diverting any potential sources of surface or near-surface water within the construction zones that may follow shallow impermeable bedrock zones and water seeping from fractures in cut bedrock. Natural springs cannot be precluded and may require mitigation measures to control water. Due to the underlying rock predominate across the site, engineering design should recognize the fact that a shallow perched water condition is present and should be appropriately mitigated or anticipated in the design.

Because the selection of an appropriate drainage system will depend on the water quantity, season, weather conditions, construction sequence, and contractor's methods, final decisions regarding drainage systems are best made in the field at the time of construction. All drainage and/or water diversion performed for the site should be in accordance with the Clean Water Act and Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan that will be developed for the improvements.

Swales and natural hillside drainage proposed to receive engineered fill may require the installation of a canyon style drain. Close coordination between the design professionals for placement and discharge of canyon style drains should be performed.







Low Impact Development or LIDs standards have become a consideration for many projects in the region. LID standards are intended to address and mitigate urban storm water quality These methods include the use of Source Controls, Run-off Reduction and Treatment Controls. For the purpose of this report use of proposed Run-off Reduction measures and some Treatment Controls may impact geotechnical recommendations for the project. Use of any Run-off Reduction Measure or infiltration type Treatment Control should be reviewed by Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. during the design process.

A review of soil survey and the data collected from test pits indicate that soils within the project are Hydroligic Soil Group D (low permeability) with a depth of less that 3 feet. Based on this condition use of infiltration type LID methods (Infiltration trenches, dry wells, infiltration basins, etc..) should not be considered for this property. Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. did not perform any percolation of infiltration testing for the site as part of the Geotechnical Investigation.

Underground construction for site infrastructure would likely encounter hard rock excavation in all but the shallowest excavations. Due to the impermeable nature of the backfills used in underground improvements, water collection in these backfill materials should be anticipated and drainage measures may be necessary.

Based on our reconnaissance level subsurface exploration and site observations, the dense nature Due to the absence of a permanent elevated groundwater table, the relatively low seismicity of the area, the relatively shallow depth to bedrock, and the relatively dense nature of site materials, the potential for site liquefaction is considered negligible.

The existing slopes on the project site were observed to have adequate vegetation on the slope face, appropriate drainage away from the slope face, and no apparent tension cracks or slump blocks in the slope face or at the head of the slope. According to Loyd (1984), the major geologic structural framework of the region consists of northwest trending units that had underwent low-grade metamorphism on a regional scale. The bedding, foliation features, other major structural features such as faults and shear zones, and local quartz veins trend in a northwest pattern and steeply dip to the east. The Gopher Ridge and Copper Hill Volcanics are highly fractured and jointed where 2:1 cut-slopes typically have wedge pop-outs.

Slope Configuration and Grading Generally a cut slope orientation of 2H:1V is considered stable with the material types encountered on the site. A fill slope constructed at the same orientation is considered stable if compacted to the engineered fill recommendations as stated in the recommendations section of this report. All slopes should have appropriate drainage and vegetation measures to minimize erosion of slope soils.

Steeper fill slope gradients may be achievable by approval from the project geologist or through the use of geotextile materials to strengthen and/or provide erosion protection. Surficial stability of steeper cut slopes may be achievable due to the geology of the cut materials. Steepening of slopes greater than 2H:1V will require design and observation during the proposed cut and/or fill. Any slope excavations proposed to be greater than 10 feet in maximum height should be evaluated during and prior to completion of site grading.





White Rock Road and Scott Road 1,400 Acres Page 8

Slope Drainage: Surface drainage should not be allowed to flow uncontrolled over any slope face. Adequate surface drainage control should be designed by the project civil engineer in accordance with the latest applicable edition of the California Building Code (CBC). All slopes should have appropriate drainage and vegetation measures to minimize erosion of slope soils.

In our opinion, isolated or continuous shallow spread footings will provide adequate support for most structures.

Based on the most current CBC, soils present as evident in our cursory subsurface exploration, range from Soil Type 2 to 4 (CBC Table 18-I-A, Allowable Foundation and Lateral Pressure), which have allowable foundations pressures (psf) ranging from 1,500 to 2,000. Associated values for lateral pressures and coefficients of friction can range from 150 to 400 (psf) and 0.25 to 0.35, respectively. Laboratory specific testing will likely yield higher values.

Differential Support Conditions

The shallow bedrock conditions can pose a risk when constructing building pads on a hillside when a portion of the pad is in built into cut and the other portion is built into engineered fills. The potential for structures to differentially settle because of these circumstances can be diminished by recognition of the condition and proper engineering design. Methods employed to address this typically have included stiffening foundations with additional reinforcing steel and/or deepening foundations.

Based on the latest applicable edition of the California Building Code, Chapter 16, Division IV, and our site investigation findings, the following seismic parameters are recommended from a geotechnical perspective for structural design. The final choice of design parameters, however, remains the purview of the project structural engineer.

	DECOMMENDED VALUE			
CBC - CHAP, 16	SEISMIC PARAMETER	RECOMMENDED		
TABLE NO.	Soismic Zone Factor Z	0.30		
16-1		S _B		
16-J	Soll Prome Type	0.30		
16-Q		0.30		
16-R	Seismic Coefficient (Cv)	10		
	Near Source Factors (N _e , N _v)	1.0		
	Seismic Source Type	L C		
16-0				

Laboratory testing was not conducted for this level of discussion. Site specific testing to develop geotechnical conclusions and recommendations can be conducted for design parameters for pavement designs, retaining walls, and foundations when each phase of development is approved at the specific-plan level and subject to detailed engineering design.







White Rock Road and Scott Road 1,400 Acres Page 9

Project No. E07145.000 22 May 2007

LIMITATIONS AND UNIFORMITY OF CONDITIONS

- This report has been prepared for the exclusive use of AKT Investments, Inc. for specific 5.0 application to the White Rock Road and Scott Road 1,400 Acre project. Youngdahl 1. Consulting Group, Inc. has endeavored to comply with generally accepted geotechnical engineering practice common to the local area. Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. makes no other warranty, express or implied.
- As of the present date, the findings of this report are valid for the property studied. With the passage of time, changes in the conditions of a property can occur whether they be 2. due to natural processes or to the works of man on this or adjacent properties. Legislation or the broadening of knowledge may result in changes in applicable standards. Changes outside of our control may cause this report to be invalid, wholly or partially. Therefore, this report should not be relied upon after a period of three years without our review nor should it be used or is it applicable for any properties other than those studied.
- Section 3317.8 in Appendix Chapter 33 of the latest edition of the California Building Code is applicable to this report. This section states that, in regard to the transfer of З. responsibility, if the Geotechnical Engineer of Record for the project site is not maintained into and through the grading phase of the project, the work shall be stopped until the replacement has agreed in writing to accept their responsibility within the area of technical competence for approval upon completion of the work.

WARNING: Do not apply any of this report's conclusions or recommendations if the nature, design, or location of the facilities is changed. If changes are contemplated, Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. must review them to assess their impact on this report's applicability. Also note that Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. is not responsible for any claims, damages, or liability associated with any other party's interpretation of this report's subsurface data or reuse of this report's subsurface data or engineering analyses without the express written authorization of Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc.

- The analyses and recommendations contained in this report are based on limited windows into the subsurface conditions and data obtained from subsurface exploration. 4 The methods used indicate subsurface conditions only at the specific locations where samples were obtained, only at the time they were obtained, and only to the depths penetrated. Samples cannot be relied on to accurately reflect the strata variations that Should any variations or undesirable usually exist between sampling locations. conditions be encountered during the development of the site, Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc., will provide supplemental recommendations as dictated by the field conditions.
- The recommendations included in this report have been based in part on assumptions about strata variations that may be tested only during earthwork. Accordingly, these 5 recommendations should not be applied in the field unless Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. is retained to perform construction observation and thereby provide a complete professional geotechnical engineering service through the observational method. Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. cannot assume responsibility or liability for the adequacy of its recommendations when they are used in the field without Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. being retained to observe construction. Unforeseen subsurface conditions containing soft native soils, loose or previously placed non-engineered fills should be a consideration while preparing for the grading of the property. It should be noted that it is the responsibility of the owner or his/her representative to notify





Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc., in writing, a minimum of 48 hours before any excavations commence at the site.

- 6 Our experience has shown that vapor transmission through concrete is controlled. 6 through proper concrete mix design. As such, proper control of moisture vapor 6 through proper concrete mix design. As such, proper control of moisture vapor 7 transmission should be considered in the design of the slab as provided by the project 8 transmission should be considered in the design of the slab as provided by the project 8 transmission should be considered. It should be noted that placement of the 8 architect, structural or civil engineer. It should be noted that placement and 8 recommended plastic membrane, proper mix design, and proper slab underlayment and 8 detailing per ASTM E1643 and E1745 will not provide a waterproof condition. If a 8 waterproof condition is desired, we recommend that a waterproofing expert be consulted 8 for slab design.
- Following site development, additional water sources (ie. landscape watering, downspouts) are generally present. The presence of low permeability materials can prohibit rapid dispersion of surface and subsurface water drainage. Utility trenches typically provide a conduit for water distribution. Provisions may be necessary to mitigate adverse effects of perched water conditions. Mitigation measures may include the construction of cut-off systems and/or plug and drain systems. Close coordination between the design professionals regarding drainage and subdrainage conditions may be warranted.

Seepage may be observed emanating from the cut slopes following their excavation during the following rainy season or following development of the areas above the cut. Generally this seepage is not enough flow to be a stability issue to the cut slope, but may be an issue for the owner of the lot at the base of the cut from a surface drainage and standing water (damp spot) standpoint. This amount of water is generally collected easily with landscaping drainage, surface drainage at the toe of the slope, or subsurface toe drains. Recommendations may be provided at the time of observed seepage; however, we recommend that the developer of the property disclose this possibility to future owners.





Project No. E07145.000 22 May 2007

White Rock Road and Scott Road 1,400 Acres Page 11

CHECKLIST OF	GEOTECHNICAL HAZARUS A (MODIFIED FROM C Degree	GS N of Ha	IOTE	46)	P M	ossibi easur	e Mitig e	ation		
		T	1				111 and stry 19/244		ing ng ka ka ka ka ang man ka kang ng ka sa ka kang ng ka sa ka	alangelan na kada na alaha dan bahasila da atau takan ta
em f	activity Causing Problem	None	slight	Moderate	Severe	Code	Conformance	Code Conformance	Special Work	Advanced Ptanning, Avoidance, Restrictions
	Fault Movement (onsite)	X			<u> </u>			ļ	<u></u>	
	Liquefaction	×						<u> </u>		
L. L	Landslides	X	1	T				ļ		<u> </u>
	Differential Compaction / Seismic	×						<u> </u>		
	Ground Rupture	X								
arthquake Damage	Ground Shaking	X								
	Tsunami	+×								
	Seiches	7								
	Flooding (Dam or Levee Fallure)	1,	<							
	Loss of Access	;	<							
Less of Mineral	Deposits Covered by Changed Lar	d	×							
Resources	Use Zoning Restrictions		×						<u></u>	
	Change in Groundwater Level		х				L			
Waste Disposal	Disposal of Excavated Material			×			X			
Problems	Percolation of Waste Material			×			X			
	Landslides and Mudflows		X				ļ			
	Unstable Cut and Fill Slopes			x			×	: 		
Slope and/or	Collapsible and Expansive Soil			х			ļ		X	
Foundation mataban	Trench-Wall Stability			х			L		X	
	Erosion of Graded Areas			х				×		
	Alteration of Runoff			X				×		[,]
Erosion, Sedimentation,	Unprotected Drainage Ways			×	<u> </u>			×		
Flooding	Increased Impervious Surfaces			×	<u> </u>	ļ		×		
	Extraction of Groundwater, Gas,	Oil,	×		<u> </u>					
Land Subsidence	Hydrocompaction, Peat Oxidation		x							
	Lava Flow		X							
Volcanic Hazard	s Ash Fall		X							

ADDITIONAL GEOLOGICAL REFERENCES

٠

- Boore, D.M., Joyner, W.B., and Fumal, T.E., (1994): "Estimation of Response Spectra and Peak Accelerations From Western North American Earthquakes: An Interim Report, Part 2", U.S. Geological Survey, Open-File Report 94-127.
- Jennings, C.W., (1994): "Fault Activity Map of California and Adjacent Areas", California Department of Conservation, Division of Mines and Geology, Geologic Data Map No. 6, Scale 1:750,000; Accompanying Text 92 pages.
- **Loyd, R.C., (1984):** "Mineral Land Classification of the Folsom 15-Minute Quadrangle, Sacramento, El Dorado, Placer, and Amador Counties, California", California Department of Conservation, Division of Mines and Geology, Open-File Report 84-50.
- **FEMA Website:** (Date Accessed 5/22/07) Federal Emergency Management Agency <u>http://msc.fema.gov/webapp/wcs/stores/servlet/FemaWelcomeView?storeld=10001&cat</u> <u>alogId=10001&langId=-1</u> Map Nos.: 0602620150B, 0602620120D, 0602620250C, 0602620275D
- NRCS Website: (Date Accessed 5/22/07) National Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) <u>http://websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/app/WebSoilSurvey.aspx</u>
- **Tierra Engineering Consultants, Inc., (1983):** Geologic and Seismologic Investigations of the Folsom California Area, Final Report, Prepared For U.S. Army Engineer District -Sacramento, Contract No. DACW05-82-C-0042, Dated July 1983.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) Soil Conservation Service: "Soil Survey of Sacramento County, California," (Preliminary Draft, issued June 1991).
- Wagner, D.L., and others, (1981): "Geologic Map of the Sacramento Quadrangle Map No. 1A (Geology), Regional Geologic Map Series, 4 Sheets, California Department of Conservation, Division of Mines and Geology, Scale 1:250,000.

APPENDIX A

Field Study

<u>Vicinity Map</u> <u>Site Plan</u> <u>Logs of Exploratory Test Pits</u> <u>Soil Classification Chart and Log Exploration</u> <u>Soils Map (NRCS)</u> <u>Geology Map</u>





White Rock Road and Scott Road 1,400 Acre Page 14 至 國

Introduction

The contents of this appendix shall be integrated with the preliminary geotechnical engineering study of which it is a part. They shall not be used in whole or in part as a sole source for information or recommendations regarding the subject site.

Our field study included a site reconnaissance by a Youngdahl Consulting Group, Inc. representative followed by a subsurface exploration program conducted on 24 April through 25 April 2007, which included the excavation of 31 test pits under his direction at the approximate locations shown on Figure A-2, this Appendix. Excavation of the test pits was accomplished with a John Deere 310SG rubber tire-mounted backhoe equipped with a 24 inch wide bucket.

The Exploratory Test Pit Logs describe the vertical sequence of soils and materials encountered in each test pit, based primarily on our field classifications and supported by our subsequent laboratory examination and testing. Where a soil contact was observed to be gradual, our logs indicate the average contact depth. Our logs also graphically indicate the sample type, sample number and approximate depth of each soil sample obtained from the test pits.

The soils encountered were logged during excavation and provide the basis for the "Logs of Test Pits", Figures A-3 through A-33, this Appendix. These logs show a graphic representation of the soil profile, the location and depths at which samples were collected.
















		Date: 24 April 2007	Elevation:			Pit No.
_ogged By: M		G with 24" Bucket	Pit Orienta	tion: N - S		15-2
Depth	Geotechr	nical Description & Unified Soil C	Classification	Sample	Tests & Co	omments
(Feet) @ 0 - 0.5' @ 0.5' - 5'	Red brown slightly moi Yellow brow highly to m	silty SAND (SM) with some gra st, with small roots wn to gray brown metasandston oderately weathered, indurated, fractures closed with	vel, loose, e BEDROCK, well black staining		NOA: 0' - 5'	
	Test pit ten No free gro No caving	1/4" with soil filling, slightly mois minated at 5' (practical refusal) bundwater encountered noted	t			
		<u>3' 4' 5' 6'</u>		<u>9' 10'</u>	11 ¹ 12 ¹	<u>13'</u> <u>14'</u>
		BEDROCK			Note: indica condit specif noted. condit groun other subjet signifi which Young Group Samp too, ti time t at the	The test pit log tes subsurface ions only at the ic location and time . Subsurface dons, including dwater levels, at locations of the ct site may differ icantly from condition differ consulting pdahl Consulting p, Inc., exist at the ling locations, Note, hat the passage of may affect conditions a sampling locations.
s vere ranger - Gymra valjan, da 98 / re	a a a fai a an a	n (e.g. vr.), ()		n o en 1939 au 1949 (de la companya en 1949)	1	
9'	walationalities water pathwww.endeds	venerow in the construction of the second			S	Scale: 1" = 2 Feet
	OUN CONSULTI	CDAFIL Proje 071- NG GROUP, INC. ENTAL - MATERIALS TESTING	ect No.: 45.000	(PLORATO White Roc 1400 A Folso	RY TEST PIT ck & Scott Road cre Property m, California	LOG FIGURE





	·	Date: 24 Ap	oril 2007	Elevat	ion:				Pit No.
gged By: K		with 24" Buck	et	Pit Ori	entation: N -	S			11-4
Depth	Geotechni	cal Description &	& Unified Soil C	Classification	samp	le	Tes	sts & Con	nments
(Feet) @ 0 - 1'	Dark yellow loose, slighti	brown silty SAN y moist, with sm	D (SM) with tra all roots	ace gravel,			NOA: 0' -	4'	
@ 1' - 4'	Light yellow BEDROCK developed fi to open at 1	brown to light gr (SLATE), highly racturing, fractur /8" with soil filling	weathered, inc s closed with g, slightly mois	urated, wei black stainir t	ng				
	Test pit term No free grou No caving n	iinated at 4' (pra undwater encour oted	ctical refusal) htered						
		·							
					. 01	<u>۲</u> ۵'	14'	12'	13' 14'
0 1'	2' 1	3' 4'		A strategy of the second secon		and the second se			
1'						1	rag try war Atlantic Try of the	Langer and the state of the	
2 +		BED	ROCK					and a second defension	а с на селото селото Поста селото селото Поста селото
3'					J		a aliyo ya Subbandi Maliyo da		المتنافقة في محمد المراجع المر المراجع المراجع
.4 ⁴ .4				a f f f Marine (marine) An ann ann ann ann ann ann ann ann ann a	۲ ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰ - ۲۰۰۰	: ·		Note: 11 indicates condition specific noted. S	te test pit log s subsurface ns only at the location and tim subsurface ns. including
10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 -			и с то на посто со страни и стран и стр Сполу и стран и Сполу и стран и			a or a second state of the	alampata ing ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang a	groundv other lo subject significa which, i	vater levels, at cations of the site may differ intly from condi n the opinion of
72					anne far an			Youngd Group, samplir too, tha	ahl Consulting inc., exist at the ig locations, No it the passage of av affect conditions
	any tradition of a new statement of the second statement of the second statement of the second statement of the	Action (1997) and a state of the state of th			ang sa kangan sa panan di kangan sa ang pangan pangan sa kang sa sa sa kang sa s Ngang sa	and the state of t	an Lung Longer Same (Lynes Henry (Lynes Henry (Lynes Henry (Lynes Henry (Lynes Henry (Lynes Henry (Lynes Henry Lynes Henry (Lynes H	at the s	ampling locatio
· 8' +·····		and the second	na an a' ann an Anna a' Anna ann an Ann			1		5-	
81. 8 1. 		A CONTRACT OF A	and the second	AND DESCRIPTION OF A DE	errologialization and a statistic statistics of the South	Steiner and St.	Second Second Second	1997 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -	
81	1997 - T. M. (1996) I PROVIDE TRANSPORT (1988) I PROVIDE	A Land Children of Maria Contraction of Maria	namenamin on open in a class of a second state of a second state of the second state of the second state of the	VIII III IIII IIII	en e	¹ ¹ ⁽¹ ⁽¹ ⁽¹ ⁽¹ ⁽¹ ⁽¹ ⁽¹		Sci	ale: 1" = 2 Fee



ogged By: 🖌	(EM	Date: 24 April 2007	Elevation:			TP-6
auinment: J	ohn Deere SG v	vith 24" Bucket	Pit Orienta	ation: N - S	1	
Depth	Geotechnica	I Description & Unified Soil C	lassification	Sample	Tests &	Comments
(Feet) @ 0 - 1' @ 1' - 3'	Dark yellow br loose, slightly Light yellow br BEDROCK, hi developed frac	own silty SAND (SM) with tra moist, with small roots rown to light gray brown meta ighly weathered, very indurat cturing, fractures closed with with soil filling, slightly mois	ce gravel, sandstone ed, well black staining t		NDA: 0' - 3'	
-	Test pit termin No free groun No caving not	ated at 3' (practical refusal) dwater encountered red				
0 view of the second s	* 2' 3 the second seco	3' 4' 5' 6' and a second secon	7' B' in the second sec	9' 10' 	<u>11' 12'</u>) <u>13'</u> <u>14</u>
2'-		BEDROCK			ی در میں میں میں اور	
·3' +··········				an a	ана ала ала ала ала ала ала ала ала ала	an a an ann an Anna an Anna an Anna
3'					No ind cor spi no co co co st su sig wt Sig Gi Sa to ti tir at	te: The test pit log licates subsurface noitions only at the ecific location and tin ted. Subsurface notitions, including bundwater levels, at her locations of the bject site may differ gnificantly from condi nich, in the opinion of bungdahl Consulting roup, Inc., exist at the ampling locations, No io, that the passage C me may affect conditi t the sampling location
3 ¹					No ind cor spi no co co grt su su su sig vi Gri su su to tir at	te: The test pit log licates subsurface notitions only at the ecific location and tin ted. Subsurface notitions, including bundwater levels, at her locations of the bject site may differ phificantly from condi hich, in the opinion of bungdahl Consulting roup, Inc., exist at the ampling locations, No to, that the passage of me may affect conditi t the sampling location
3'					No ind cor spi no co grt su su sig vi su sig vi f su sig vi f to ti ta	te: The test pit log icates subsurface nditions only at the ecific location and tin ted. Subsurface nditions, including pundwater levels, at her locations of the bject site may differ pificantly from condi nich, in the opinion of pungdahl Consulting roup, Inc., exist at the ampling locations, No on, that the passage of me may affect conditi t the sampling location Scale: 1" = 2 Fer

 \bigcirc

-



		Date: 24 April 2007	LIEVERION				TP-7
_oggeo by, r	LENN Deere SG	with 24" Bucket	Pit Orienta	ition: N - S		ļ	
Equipment: J Depth	Geotechnic	al Description & Unified Soil	Classification	Sample	Tests	& Comr	ments
(1 eet) @ 0 - 1'	Red brown si slightly moist	Ity SAND (SM) with some gra , with small roots	avel, loose,		NOA: 0 - 9	-	
@ 1'-5'	Yellow brown weathered, m fracturing, fra 1/4" with soil	metasandstone BEDROCK noderately indurated, well de actures closed with black stai filling, slightly moist	, completely veloped ning to open at				
@ 5' - 7'	Grades light	yellow brown, highly weathe	red, indurated				
@ 7' - 9'	Grades light very indurate	gray brown, moderately wea ed	atherea,				
	Test pit term No free grou No caving n	inated at 9' (practical refusal undwater encountered oted)			- •	
							101
		SM			an san dan dan dalam dalam birke birken ke da		
11. 21 33							
1' 2' 3' 4' 5' 6'						Note: Th indicates condition specific noted. S condition groundw other loo subject significa which, i Youngd Group, samplin too, that time ma at the s	he test pit lo s subsurface ns only at the location and subsurface ns, including vater levels, cations of the site may dif antly from cc n the opinio lahi Consult inc., exist a ng locations at the passa ay affect col sampling loc
						Note: Th indicates condition specific I noted. S condition groundw other loc subject significa which, i Youngd Group, samplir too, that time ma at the s	the test pit loo south subsurface so only at the location and subsurface ms, including vater levels, cations of the site may dif antly from co n the opinio lahi Consult inc., exist a mg locations at the passa ay affect col sampling loc alle: 1" = 2





	Dete: 24 April 2007	Elevation:			Pi	t No.
ogged By: K	EM Date: 24 April 200	Pit Orienta	tion: N - S	·		 0
quipment: Jo	ohn Deere SG with 24 Busition	assification	Sample	Tests	& Comment	5
Depth (Feet)	Geotechnical Description & United Soli Cit			NOA: 0' - 5.5'		
@ 0 - 0.5'	Red brown silty SAND (SM) with trace grave slightly moist, with small roots	l, 100se,				
@ 0.5' - 5.5'	Light yellow brown metasandstone BEDROC weathered, indurated, well developed fractur fractures closed with black staining to open a soil filling, slightly moist	€K, highly ing, at 1/8" with				
	Test pit terminated at 5.5' (practical refusal) No free groundwater encountered No caving noted					
	2' 4' 5' 6'	7' 8'	9' 10'	11'	12' 13' 	14'
1'	BEDROCK					
					Note: The test indicates subsi conditions only specific location noted. Subsurf conditions, inc groundwater le subject site mis significantly fir which, in the c Youngdahi Co Group, Inc., e sampling loca too, that the p time may affe	pit log urface at the n and time ace uding vels, at of the ay differ of condition pinion of nsulting kist at the tions, Note, assage of ct conditions
			production of the contract of	A state of a state particular and a state of a	at the samplin	g locations.
		securital a verse in press of gravital formation (1998)	n () (() () () () () () () ()	A STREET, STREE	Scale: 1	= 2 Feet
	OUNGDAHI CONSULTING GROUP, INC. TICAL + ENVIRONMENTAL + MATERIALS TESTING	2007	XPLORATC White Ro 1400 / Folse	RY TEST ck & Scott R Acre Propert om, California	PIT LOG toad y	FIGURE

		Date: 24 April 2007	Elevatio	n:		Pit No.
Logged By: K		with 24" Bucket	Pit Orier	ntation: N - S		
Equipment: Jo Depth	Geotechnica	I Description & Unified Sc	bil Classification	Sample	Tests & Co	mments
(Feet) @ 0 - 0.5'	Red brown silt	y SAND (SM) with some (with small roots	gravel, loose,		NOA: 0' - 7'	
@ 0.5' - 7'	Light yellow br BEDROCK, hi fracturing, frac 1/4" with soil fi	own to light gray brown r ghly weathered, indurated tures closed with black st illing, slightly moist	netasandstone d, well developed aining to open at			
	Test pit termin No free groun No caving not	ated at 7' (practical refusa dwater encountered ed	al)			
0 11 		4' 5' 6'	7' B' with the second	9' 10'	<u>11' 12'</u>	<u>13'</u> <u>14'</u>
2' -		BEDROCK				
4' -5' -6'					Note: indicate conditi specifiu noted. conditi ground other i subjec signifit which, Young Group sampi too, th time n at the	The test pit log es subsurface ons only at the c location and time Subsurface ons, including jwater levels, at ocations of the et site may differ cantly from condition in the opinion of dahi Consulting n, Inc., exist at the ing locations, Note, nay affect conditions, sampling locations.
an an a bay. A part of the Character for the	and a second a low constant of the second descent	999 (1997) 1997 (1997) 1997 (1997) 1997 (1997) 1997 (1997) 1997 (1997) 1997 (1997) 1997 (1997) 1997 (1997) 1997		an and a second s	Second and the second	
9 ¹	a in the fourth value include a prediction of a single of spining with	ee af fan an te fan it een een een een de ste de		and a state of the second state of the	S	cale: 1" = 2 Feet
CEDTECHNIC	DUNG CONSULTING	GROUP, INC.	roject No.:)7145.000 May 2007	EXPLORATO White Ro 1400 A Folse	RY TEST PIT I ck & Scott Road Acre Property om, California	LOG FIGURE

 $\left(\cdot \right)$





oged By: ¥	KEM	Date: 24 April 20	07	Elevation:			TF	2-10
uipment: J	ohn Deere SG	with 24" Bucket		Pit Orienta	tion: N-S		<u> </u>	
Depth (Feet)	Geotechnic	cal Description & Unit	fied Soil Class	sification	Sampie	Tests	5 & Comment	s
@ 0 - 1'	Red brown si slightly moist	ilty SAND (SM) with s , with small roots	some gravel,	loose,		NOA: 0 - 0.	-	
@ 1'-3.5'	Yellow brown moderately v developed fr to open at 1/	n metasandstone BEI veathered, indurated acturing, fractures ck /4" with soil filling, slig	DROCK, high to very indura osed with blac ghtly moist	ly to ated, well sk staining				
	Test pit term No free grou No caving n	inated at 3.5' (practic indwater encountered oted	al refusal) d					
							401	4.41
	こうかん やくてん しゃくう	the second se			M. James recorded	e e un acceleration de la construcción de l	ana ana ana ara ilay kaodim-dia	
2'		BEDROCH	(1. Januar marananan Januar marananan marananan maranananan marananan marananananan			
2' - 3'		BEDROC	(James and a second seco			
2' - 3' 4' - 5'		BEDROC					Note: The test indicates subsi conditions only specific location noted. Subsurf conditions, inc groundwater k other locations subject site m significantly fr which, in the c Youngdahi Cc Group, Inc., e sampling loca too, that the p time may affe	pit log urface vat the in and time face luding evels, at s of the ay differ om condition pinion of msulting xist at the titons, Not assage of ct condition
2' - 3' - 5' - 6' - 7' -		BEDROCM					Note: The test indicates subsi- conditions only specific location noted. Subsur- conditions, inc groundwater le other locations subject site m significantly fir which, in the o Youngdahl Co Group, Inc., e sampling loca too, that the p time may affe at the samplin	pit log unface vat the n and time face luding evels, at s of the ay differ om condition pinion of onsulting xist at the titons, Not passage of act condition ng location
2' - 3' 4' - 5' -6' -7'		BEDROC					Note: The test indicates subsi- conditions only specific location onted. Subsurf conditions, inc groundwater le other locations subject site m significantly fir which, in the o Youngdahl Co Group, inc., e sampling loca too, that the p time may affe at the samplin Scale: 1	pit log unface vat the m and time face luding evels, at s of the ay differ om condition pinion of msulting vist at the tions. Not bassage of tict condition mg location mg = 2 Fee
2' - 3' 4' - 5' - 6' - 7' - 8' -		BEDROCH	Project I		XPLORAT	TORY TEST	Note: The test indicates subsi- conditions only specific location oncted. Subsur- conditions, inc groundwater k other locations subject site m significantly fr which, in the of Youngdahi Cc Group, Inc., e sampling loca- too, that the p time may affee at the sampling Scale: 1	pit log urface of at the in and timu face luding evels, at s of the avy differ om condition pinion of insulting xist at the titons, Not assage of et condition measure " = 2 Fee FIGU





	ΈM.	Date: 24 April 2007	Elevatio	n:		Pit No. TP-11
oggeu by, r	hn Deere SG \	with 24" Bucket	Pit Orie	ntation: N - S	1	
Depth	Geotechnica	al Description & Unified	Soil Classification	Sample	Tests & Con	nments
(Feel) @ 0 - 1' @ 1' - 3.5'	Red brown silt slightly moist, Light yellow br weathered, in	y SAND (SM) with trac with small roots rown metasandstone B durated, well developed ad with black staining to	e gravel, loose, EDROCK, highly I fracturing, o open at 1/8" with		NOA: 0' - 3.5'	
	Test pit termir No free groun No caving no	htly moist nated at 3.5' (practical r idwater encountered ted	efusal)			
0 1 - 1' - 1' -	2' and a second	3' 4' 5' end of the second sec	6' 7' 8' Management Sector of the sector of	9' 10'	<u>11' 12'</u>	13' 14'
2'-		BEDROCK		La companya di seconda di seconda Internaziona di seconda	۲۰۰۰ ۲۰۰۵ (۲۰۰۵ ۲۰۰۵ ۲۰۰۵) (۲۰۰۵ ۲۰۰۵ ۲۰۰۵ ۲۰۰۵ ۲۰۰۵ ۲۰۰۵ ۲۰۰۰ (۲۰۰۵ ۲۰۰۵ ۲۰۰۵ ۲۰۰۵ ۲۰۰۵ ۲۰۰۵ ۲۰۰۵	
4 ¹ - 5 ¹					Note: T indicate conditio specific noted. 3 conditio ground other lo subject signific which, Youngc Group, sampli too, that time m at the s	he test pit log s subsurface ns only at the location and time Subsurface ins, including water levels, at cations of the site may differ antly from conditio in the opinion of Jahl Consulting Inc., exist at the ng locations, Note at the passage of ay affect conditions
	ne (n. 1997)	and a factor of the split of th	appendies, warmen en de beneficier en	Breiligen Manzala and an and have appression for an appression of the second second second second second second	S-	
.9' -	nes dar staat warpen waren talen gebreve regiserijke geb	tediti az tanutzatetti elaki kelektere anteriptatetakan kelestikken aktivatikan pa		The strip has the set of the other set of the strip set of the set of the	Sc	ale: 1" = 2 Feet
GEOTECH	OUNC CONSULTIN	G GROUP, INC. AL + MATERIALS TESTING	Project No.: 07145.000 May 2907	EXPLORATO White Ro 1400 / Folse	RY TEST PIT L ck & Scott Road Acre Property om, California	OG FIGUR A-1





ŀ	
Į.	



	EM Date: 24 April 20	007	Elevation:			
igged By: N	bbn Deere SG with 24" Bucket		Pit Orientat	ion: N - S	1	
Depth	Geotechnical Description & Uni	ified Soil Classif	ication	Sample	Tests & Co	omments
(Feel) @ 0 - 1'	Strong brown silty SAND (SM) wi	th trace clay and small roots	d		NOA: 0' - 4.5'	
@ 1'-4'	Gray brown metasedimentary BE completely weathered, moderate moderately developed fracturing, with clay filling, slightly moist	DROCK (SLAT ly indurated, fractures open	Έ), to 1/2"			
@ 4' - 4.5'	Grades highly weathered, indura	ited			-	
	Test pit terminated at 4.5' (practic No free groundwater encountere No caving noted	cal refusal) d				
		ę; <u>,</u> ,	8'	9' 10'	11' 12'	13' 14'
1' 2' 3'	BEDROCI	c				
4'					Note: indica condi speci noted condi grour other subje signi which Youn Grou sam too, time at th	The test pit log tes subsurface ions only at the ic location and time Subsurface tions, including dwater levels, at locations of the ct site may differ icantly from conditi h, in the opinion of gdahl Consulting p, Inc., exist at the bling locations, Note hat the passage of may affect condition e sampling location
a second se		NUM STATE OF	nt - and a financial statistic biology of the sec	te and and a test of the station of the state of the stat		Scale: $1^* = 2$ Fee
9'	OUNCEDAFIL CONSULTING GROUP, INC.	Project No 07145.000 May 2007	.: E	(PLORATO White Ro 1400 / Fols	DRY TEST PIT ock & Scott Road Acre Property om, California	LOG FIGUR

~	
\langle	
مخم مناد	



	EM	Date: 24 April 2007	Elevation	•		- TP-14
ogged By: K	Em Deere SG	with 24" Bucket	Pit Orient	ation: W-E	T	
Depth	Geotechnic	al Description & Unified Sc	oil Classification	Sample	Tests & Cor	nments
(Feet) @ 0 - 1.5'	Red brown sa	ndy SILT (ML) with trace g noist, with small roots	gravel, medium		NOA: 0' - 5'	
@ 1.5'-4'	Gray brown fr completely we moderately do with clay fillin	netasedimentary BEDROC eathered, moderately indus eveloped fracturing, fractur g, slightly moist	:K (SLATE), rated, res open to 1/2"			
@ 4' - 5'	Grades highl	y weathered, indurated			-	
	Test pit termi No free groun No caving no	nated at 5' (practical refuse ndwater encountered sted	al)			
		ou 4' 5' 6'	<u>7' 8'</u>	9' 10'	11' 12'	13' 14'
2 ¹ - 3 ¹ -		BEDROCK			(2) Δ. μ. το	
					Note: 1 indicate conditi specific noted. conditi ground other h subjec signific which, Young Group sampl too, th time r at the	The test pit log as subsurface ons only at the clocation and time Subsurface ons, including (water levels, at ocations of the t site may differ antly from condition in the opinion of dahi Consulting , Inc., exist at the ing locations, Note nay affect condition sampling location
	a construction of the second secon		and a second	and the same constraints and a second s	Bernellen and Barnellen and A	E
9 ¹	ryana a waanna contra Ann Analas ay ay noof a faanig a faanig	וווי איז איז איז איז איז איז איז איז איז אי	and and a state of the state of	Second and the second second	S	cale: 1" = 2 Feet
		G GROUP, INC. TAL - MATERIALS TESTING	Project No.: 07145.000 May 2007	EXPLORATO White Ro 1400 / Folse	DRY TEST PIT I ock & Scott Road Acre Property om, California	LUG FIGUE

		Date: 24 April	2007	Elevation:						15
ged By: KE	M	Uale: 24 April		Pit Orient	ation: N -	S				
uipment: Joh	n Deere SG v		Inified Soil Cl	assification	Samp	le	Tes	sts & Con	nments	
Depth (Feet)	Geotechnica	I Description & C					NOA: 0' - 4	4 [*]		
D 0 - 1.5' F	Red brown silt slightly moist,	y SAND (SM) wi with small roots	th trace grave	a, 100se,						
1.5' - 2.5' (Gray brown m completely we moderately de with clay filling	etasedimentary athered, modera veloped fracturir J, slightly moist	BEDROCK (S ately indurated ng, fractures c	SLATE), 1, open to 1/2"						
@ 2.5' - 4'	Grades highly	weathered, indu	urated							
	Test pit termin No free groun No caving not	nated at 4' (pract idwater encounte ted	ical refusal) ered							
-										
					 gʻ	10'	1:1'	12'	13'	14'
	A set of the set of th							n Anna Anna 2016 - Marin I Marin Indonesia Marin Indonesia Marina	ء ۱۹۰۰ میں ۱۹۰۰ م	
2'-		BEDROCK					میں و یو ی	en e		
2' - 3' - 4' - 6' -		BEDROCK						Note: 1 indicate conditi specifit noted. conditi ground other I subjec signifit which, Young Group too, th time r at the	The test pit es subsurface ons only at c location a Subsurface ons, includ water leve ocations of cantly from in the opir dahl Consist ing location ing location ing location ing at the pass may affect of sampling i	log ace the and time s ing ls, at the differ condition ion of uiting t at the sage of condition ocation
2'		BEDROCK						Note: 1 indicate conditi specific noted. conditi ground other l subjec signific which, Young Group sampl too, th time r at the	The test pit es subsurfactons only at c location at Subsurfactons, includ water leve ocations of t site may of cantly from in the opir dahl Consu- ing location ing location ing location sampling i	log ice the ind time a ing is, at the differ condition condition condition condition condition condition
2'		BEDROCK						Note: 1 indicate conditi specific noted. conditi ground other I subjec signific which, Young Group sampl too, th time r at the	The test pit es subsurfac ons only at c location a Subsurface ons, includ water leve ocations of t site may of cantly from in the opin dahl Consio , Inc., exist ing location hat the pass may affect of sampling i cale: 1" =	log ace the ing ls, at the differ condition ion of uiting t at the rs, Note sage of condition ocation w 2 Feet

	(FM	Date: 24	April 2007	Elevatio	[].				1 ТР-	16
ggea by: r	ahn Deore SC	 G with 24" Bu	cket	Pit Orier	ntation: W	- E			<u> </u>	
Depth	Gootechn	ical Descriptio	n & Unified Soil (Classification	Sam	ple	Test	s & Con	nments	
(Feet)	Geoleciar	andy SILT (M	(,) with trace gra	vel, medium			NOA: 0' - 3	4		
@ 0 - 0.5'	stiff, slightly	moist, with sn	hall roots							
@ 0.5' - 3'	Gray brown moderately foliation, mo fractures ch moist	metasandstol weathered, ve oderately deve osed to open t	ne BEDROCK, n ery indurated, poo eloped fracturing, o 1/4" with soil fil	ignly to orly developed foliation and ling, slightly						
	Test pit terr No free gro No caving t	ninated at 3' (j oundwater enc noted	oractical refusal) ountered							
		2' 4'	5' 6'	<u>7' 8'</u>	9'	10'	11'	12'	13'	14'
	944994 - 194			comments in a manual constants of	and the second	te tanggé nérat				
2'	BEDR	эск		na poro 1 1999 - Maria Maria, ang pangangan poro 1999 - Ang pangangan pangangan pangangan 1999 - Ang pangangan pangangan pangangan 1999 - Ang pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan 1999 - Ang pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan 1999 - Ang pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan 1999 - Ang pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan 1999 - Ang pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan 1999 - Ang pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan 1999 - Ang pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan 1999 - Ang pangangangan pangangan pangangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangan pangangangan pangangangan pangangangan pangangangan pangangangangangangan panganganganganganganganganganganganganga				ې د د د و ورو و د ورو و د و و و و و و و و		
2'	BEDRO	ЭСК	la superior da contra contra contra da la contra da la contra da contra da contra da la contra da la contra da					a anna an	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
2'	BEDRO							Note: 1 indicate conditi specific noted. conditi ground other I subjec signific which, Young Group sampi too, th time r at the	The test pit es subsuffa ons only al c location s Subsuffac ons, incluc fwater leve ocations o t site may cantly from cantly from dahl Cons b, Inc., exis ling locatio nat the pas may affect e sampling	t log ace t the and time e ling els, at f the differ n condific sulting at at the ns, Not conditic location
2'	BEDRO							Note: 1 indicate condition specific subject su	The test pilles subsurfations only all clocation a Subsurfacions of the subsurfacions, included water level ocations of the site may cantily from , in the oping dahl Consite and the pasting location pat the past the past affect a sampling	t log ace t the and time els, at f the ocondition sulting st at the ins, Not isage of condition location
2'			Pro	ject No.: 145.000			RY TES	Note: 1 indicate condition specific noted. condition specific noted. condition ground other I subject signific which, Young Group sampi too, the time r at the S T PIT t Road	The test pites subsufficent only all constant only all constant only all constant only all constant on the provided of the passion of the pas	t log ace t the and time ie differ n condition sulting at at the ns, Not sage of to condition to

		Date: 24 April 2007	Elevati	on:	*****	Pit TP	No. -17
ogged By: K		with 24" Bucket	Pit Ori	entation: W-E			
Equipment: Jo	ohn Deere St	i Unified Soi	I Classification	Sample	Tests	& Comments	
(Feet)	Geotechn	ical Description a online -	avel medium		NOA: 0' - 5.5		
@ 0 - 1.5'	Red brown s stiff, slightly	silty SAND (SM) with trace gr moist, with small roots					
@ 0.5' - 5.5'	Gray brown weathered, fractures clo moist	metasandstone BEDROCK, indurated, moderately develo osed to open to 1/4" with soil	highly ped fracturing filling, slightly	1			n a se anna sé i se an se a
	Test pit tern No free gro No caving r	ninated at 5.5' (practical refus undwater encountered noted	al)				
			. 7 ¹	8, 8,	10' 11'	12' 13'	14'
		SM		۰	an a	a a an	
		<u>14[]][[][[][][][]][]][][][][]][]][][][][</u>		providenti i venički da obla oblazivani provi Providenti i venički provida i venička i se oblaživani	n		ار ۱۹۹۰ - میسی اور برم ۱۹۹۹ - میرانی ز
2 +		DOCK	and a state of the second s	na an a	na za na za na polici a na n		n an an an an an an an
3'	BEI		981) + CP41127-1970/1970/1970/1970/1970/1970/1970	a an	n an ann an ann ann ann ann ann	Notes The fast i	nit ioa
4'			المراجع	neológi (ten galan in sukatan berata da 12	indicates subsu conditions only specific location noted. Subsurfa	rface at the 1 and time ace
- 5 ¹		and the second s	n ga a de ser a que manager que a ser a des el frança de que manager tambié	ма да се во на селени и селени и селени со селени и селен	nd falls an	conditions, inclu groundwater le other locations	uding vels, at of the v differ
20- 6 ¹ - 1 - 	a to any providence of second constants to the second		an ha a ta ga da da ang da		namen a har ya anna a har ta anna a naman a an ta an ta an ta	significantly fro which, in the o Youngdahl Cor	m condition pinion of hsulting
1						Group, Inc., ex sampling locat too, that the pa time may affect	ions, Note, assage of t conditions
····81				n fan gelaar en ster fan te ster fan te ster gelande fan de ster fan de ster fan de ster fan de ster fan de ste	New of the second se	at the samplin	E E
						Scale: 1"	= 2 Feet
	OUN	GDAHL	Project No.: 07145.000	EXPLORA White 140	TORY TEST Rock & Scott 10 Acre Proper	PIT LOG Road ty	FIGURE
GEOTECHI		AENTAL * MATERIALS TESTING	May 2007	F	olsom, California		yan yan i

 \bigcirc





	CEM Date: 24 April	2007	Elevation:			Pit No. TP-18
Equipment: J	ohn Deere SG with 24" Bucket		Pit Orientat	ion: S - N		<u> </u>
Depth (Feet)	Geotechnical Description & U	nified Soil Clas	sification	Sample	Tests & Co	mments
@ 0 - 1'	Light brown sandy SILT (ML) w stiff, slightly moist, with small ro	ith trace gravel ots	, medium		NOA: 0 - 6	n Zone
@ 1'-6'	Light yellow brown metasedime completely weathered, weakly in fracturing, fractures closed to o clay filling, slightly moist	entary BEDROC indurated, poor pen to 1/4" with	CK (SLATE), ly developed n soil and		(Quartz Outcrop Ad Test Pit)	_{iacent} To
@ 6' - 8'	Grades highly weathered, mod	erately indurate	əd		-	
	Test pit terminated at 8' (practic No free groundwater encounte No caving noted	cal refusal) red				
				g' 10'	11' 12'	13' 14'
1' 2' 3'						
4'	BEDROCK				Note: indicat conditi specifi noted. conditi groun other subject signifi which Young Groug Groug Groug amp too, t time at the	The test pit log es subsurface ons only at the c location and time Subsurface ions, including dwater levels, at locations of the et site may differ cantly from condition dahl Consulting o, inc., exist at the ling locations, Note, hat the passage of may affect conditions
······································		Project	No.; E)	PLORATO	RY TEST PIT	
	OUNGDAH	07145. May 2	000	White Ro 1400 A Folse	ck & Scott Road Acre Property om, California	A-20

	FM	Date: 24 April 2007	Elevation:			TP-19
uinmont: Ic	hn Deere SC	G with 24" Bucket	Pit Orienta	ation: W - E		
Depth	Geotechn	ical Description & Unified Soil C	Classification	Sample	Tests & Co	omments
(Feet)	Brown silty	SAND (SM) with trace gravel, I	oose, slightly		NOA: 0' - 6'	
<u>a</u>) - 1	moist, with s	mall roots	(SLATE),	4	Geothermal Alterat Small Quartz Veins	ion Zone ; Observed
@ 1' - 4.5'	Gray brown completely fracturing, f slightly moi	weathered, weakly indurated, p ractures closed to open to 1/4" st	with clay filling,			
@ 4.5' - 6'	Grades hig	hly weathered, moderately indu	urated		-	
	Test pit terr No free gro No caving	ninated at 6' (practical refusal) jundwater encountered noted				
			7 1 · 8 ¹	9' 10'	11' 12'	13' 14'
1' 2'						
3' 4' 5'		BEDROCK			Note indica cond spec note grou othe subj sign whic Grou sarr too, time at ti	The test pit log ates subsurface titions only at the fic location and time 5. Subsurface itions, including ndwater levels, at r locations of the act site may differ ificantly from conditio th, in the opinion of ngdahi Consulting up, inc., exist at the pling locations, Note, that the passage of a may affect condition the sampling locations
	energene fan en fan en fan en fan en fan en fan en fan de fan En en en gener fan en fan e					W E
9'	ang, naga dana tanang kang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang	ייזים איז		and the programming of the standard states		Scale: 1" = 2 Feet
	OUN	COAFI ING GROUP, INC. MATERIALS TESTING	oject No.: 145.000 ay 2007	XPLORAT White Ro 1400 Fols	DRY TEST PII ock & Scott Road Acre Property som, California	A-2

 $(\ \)$

ogged By: Ki	EM	Date: 24 April 200	17	Elevation:					Pit TP	No. -20
auinment: Jo	hn Deere SG	with 24" Bucket		Pit Orienta	tion: N-S	<u> </u>				
Depth	Geotechnic	al Description & Unifie	ed Soil Class	ification	Sampi	e	Test	s & Com	ments	
(1988) @ 0 - 1' @ 1' - 2.5'	Red brown sa stiff, slightly r Gray brown r weathered, v fracturing, fra slightly moist	andy SILT (ML) with tr noist, with small roots netasandstone BEDR ery indurated, modera actures closed to open	ace gravel, r OCK, moder ately develop to 1/8" with	nedium ately ed soil filling,			NOA: 0' - 2	.5'		
	Test pit termi No free grou No caving no	nated at 2.5' (practica ndwater encountered oted	l refusal)							
										10
							ی ۲۰۰۹ (۲۰۰۹ میلیدی) ۲۰۰۹ (۲۰۰۹ میلیدی) ۲۰۰۹ (۲۰۰۹ میلیدی) ۲۰۰۹ (۲۰۰۹ میلیدی) ۲۰۰۹ (۲۰۰۹ میلیدی) ۲۰۰۹ (۲۰۰۹ میلیدی)			
4'								Note: The indicates condition specific k noted. Si condition groundw other loc subject s significar which, in Youngda Group, li sampling too, that time ma at the sa	e test p subsui s only i bocation ubsurfa s, inclu ater iex- ntly from the op the op the op the op the op the op the pa y location the pa y affect ampling	it log face and time ce ding rels, at of the r conditions inion of sulting st at the ons, Note, ssage of conditions.
nine - nine	an a		VCFALLE CONTRACTOR CONTRACT	and a subsection of the subsec	al-lanesmintener	desperant to the	ananan minu kata Maja Ma			- 2 East
9	na keren ost semen a senerator paminenta ita ita - eler :					ا مانين روينين کې		Sca		
GEOTECHNI	DUNC CONSULTIN CAL - ENVIRONMEN	SDAFT. NG GROUP, INC. Ital • materials testing	Project N 07145.0 May 200	o.: 00 07	(PLORA White 14	TO Roc 00 Ad Foisor	RY TES k & Scott cre Prope m, California	Road rty a	90	A-22

S

("3)
Sec. 1
and the second second



• •••

naed Bv: K	EM	Date: 24 April 2007	Elevatio	n:		TP-21
automent: Ja	ohn Deere SG w	ith 24" Bucket	Pit Orier	ntation: W-E		<u> </u>
Depth (Feet)	Geotechnical	Description & Unified S	Soil Classification	Sample	Tests & Con	nments
@ 0 - 1'	Light brown silt slightly moist, v	/ SAND (SM) with trace /ith small roots	e gravel, loose,		NOA: 0' - 5.5'	
@ 1' - 5.5'	Gray metasedi weathered, ind fractures close moist	mentary BEDROCK (S urated, moderately dev d to open to 1/4" with s	LATE), highly eloped fracturing, oil filling, slightly			
	Test pit termina No free ground No caving note	ited at 5.5' (practical re water encountered ed	fusal)			
	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	4' 5' Andrewsky Strategy 4' 5' Andrewsky Strategy 5' Andrewsky Str	6" 7 8"	9' 10' Virginia de la construcción de la construcci		13' 14'
2'		BEDRO	ск		الم	ng on the second second generation of the second seco
					Note: T indicate condition specific noted signation other in subject signific which, Young Group, sampli too, the time m at the	he test pit log s subsurface ns only at the location and time Subsurface ons, including water levels, at ocations of the site may differ antly from conditi in the opinion of dahl Consulting Inc., exist at the ng locations, Not at the passage of lay affect conditions sampling locations
	a started an adjust to the provide the With the With the Provide Starter and the provide starter and the starter			and the second		-
.9'					Sc	ale: 1" = 2 Fee
	OUNG	GROUP, INC.	Project No.: 07145.000 May 2007	EXPLORATC White Ro 1400 A Folso	RY TEST PIT L ck & Scott Road Acre Property om, California	.OG FIGUI A-2

	1	-	~		
Æ	1.5	19	- 2	٤.	
1		17	÷.	з.	
2				Τ.	
12		1.1	۰.	7	
	÷.		1		



- and Due M	FM	Date: 25 April 2007	Elev	vation:				TP-22
ggeu by. h	ohn Deere SC	 3 with 24" Bucket	Pit(Orientation:	W - E	1		
Depth	Geotechn	ical Description & Unified	Soil Classificat	ion 5	Sample	Tests	s & Comr	ments
(Feet) @ 0 - 1' @ 1' - 2.5'	Brown silty s moist, with s Gray metas weathered, fractures clo moist	SAND (SM) with trace gramall roots edimentary BEDROCK (indurated, moderately de osed to open to 1/4" with	avel, loose, sligh SLATE), highly aveloped fracturi soil filling, slight	ntiy ing, ily		NOA: 0' - 2.	5'	
	Test pit tern No free gro No caving r	ninated at 2.5' (practical r undwater encountered noted	efusal)				·	
	2' and the second secon	3' 4' 5' where the second sec						
3'							Note: The indicates conditions specific le noted. Su condition groundw: other loc subject s significar which, in Youngda Group, I sampling too, that time ma at the sa	a test pit log subsurface s only at the ocation and tim ubsurface s, including ater levels, at ations of the ations of the ations of the ations of the ations of the ations of the ations of the the opinion of the passage o y affect conditional ampling location
and the register of the transformer of the second s			Hother Hand, Anne Anne Marine and Anne Anne Anne Anne Anne Anne Anne An	And and a second s	n der Könicker (1990) von 1995	and the second	W-	le: 1" = 2 Fee
9'		ING GROUP, INC.	Project No.: 07145.000 May 2007	EXPL	ORATO White Ro 1400 / Fols	ORY TEST ock & Scott Acre Prope om, California	PIT L(Road rty	DG FIGUI

(17	TT B.S	Date: 25 April 2007	Elevation:			TP-23
ogged By: K		G with 24" Bucket	Pit Orienta	tion: N-S		
guipment: Jo		ical Description & Unified Soil (Classification	Sample	Tests & Co	omments
(Feet)	Geotechn		avel medium		NOA: 0' - 5.5'	
@ 0 - 0.5'	Light brown stiff, slightly	sandy SILT (ML) with trace gra moist, with small roots	highly			
@ 0.5' - 5.5'	Light gray n weathered, fractures ch moist	netasedimentary BEDROCK (S indurated, moderately develop osed to open to 1/4" with soil fil	ed fracturing, ling, slightly			
	Test pit terr No free gro No caving	minated at 5.5' (practical refusa bundwater encountered noted	()			
						101 141
		3' 4' 5' 6'	7' 8'	9' 10	' <u>11' 12'</u>	
D Nilling					a a construction description of the second	and the second sec
1 Yara	ふうちょう ちょうしん		and the second			
2'+		BEDROCK				
2'		BEDROCK			Nota indic com spei note con grou oth sut sig wh	e: The test pit log cates subsurface ditions only at the cific location and time ad. Subsurface ditions, including undwater levels, at er locations of the oject site may differ nificantly from conditio ich, in the opinion of
2'		BEDROCK			Nota india com gro oth sut sig wh You Gri sai too Gri at	e: The test pit log cates subsurface ditions only at the cific location and time ad. Subsurface ditions, including undwater levels, at er locations of the oject site may differ nificantly from condition ich, in the opinion of ungdahl Consulting oup, inc., exist at the mpling locations, Note b, that the passage of the sampling locations
2'					Nota india com gro oth sut sig wh You Gri at	e: The test pit log cates subsurface ditions only at the cific location and time ad. Subsurface ditions, including undwater levels, at er locations of the oject site may differ nificantly from condition ich, in the opinion of ungdahl Consulting oup, inc., exist at the mpling locations, Note b, that the passage of the sampling locations <u>S</u> N Scale: 1" = 2 Feet

 \bigcirc

ł



		Date: 25 April	2007	Elevation	:	- 	Pit No.
gged By: KEI	n Deare SG	with 24" Bucket		Pit Orient	tation: S - N		
quipment: Joh			nified Soil Cl	assification	Sample	Tests & C	omments
(Feet)	Geotechnic	cal Description & O		vce slightly		NOA: 0' - 4'	
@ 0 - 1' E	Brown silty S noist, with si	AND (SM) with train mall roots	ce gravel, loc	156, 3iigine,			
@ 1'-4'	Gray metase weathered, i fractures clo	edimentary BEDRO ndurated, moderate sed to open with so	CK (SLATE) ely developed pil filling, sligt	, highly I fracturing, htly moist			
	Test pit term No free grou No caving n	inated at 4' (practic Indwater encounter oted	al refusal) ed				
	2'	3' 4' 5' Region of the second		7' 8'	9' 10 	<u>1² 11² 12²</u>	13' 14'
2' - 3' -		BEDROCK		Juni 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1 1997 -	۲۵۵ می او در این می این می این این این این این این این این این ای		
4'						Note indica cond spec note cond grou othe subj sign whic You! Gro Sam	: The test pit log ates subsurface itions only at the ific location and time J. Subsurface Itions, including ndwater levels, at r locations of the ect site may differ ificantly from condition in, in the opinion of ngdahi Consulting up, Inc., exist at the upping locations, Note,
			Junio da mana d		ed (ch	too, time at ti	that the passage of a may affect conditions a sampling locations.
-8'						too, time at tr	that the passage of may affect conditions he sampling locations.
9 ¹						too, time at th	that the passage of may affect conditions the sampling locations. Scale: 1" = 2 Feet



		Date: 25 April 200)7	Elevation:			Pit	t No.
Logged By: K	(EM	dith 24" Bucket		Pit Orienta	tion: S - N			-20
Equipment: J Depth	ohn Deere 30 w Geotechnica	I Description & Unifi	ed Soil Class	sification	Sample	Tests 8	& Comment	5
(Feet) @ 0 - 1' @ 1' - 6'	Dark brown silt slightly moist, v Yellow brown r weathered, inc	y SAND (SM) with the with small roots netasandstone BED durated, poorly deve	race gravel, ROCK, high loped foliatio oliation and	loose, ly n, fracturing		NOA: 0' - 6' Geothermal A (Low Grade)	Iteration Zone	
	closed with bla lining, slightly	ack staining to open moist	1/4" with sol	and clay				
	Test pit termin No free groun No caving not	ated at 6 (practical) dwater encountered ed						
0 1	' 2' 3	' 4' 5'	6' 7	71 B'	9' 10'	11 ¹	12' 13'	14'
The second secon	The second secon						an a	
2'		BEDROCK			 Source and the second se	ی در این میشود. این این میشود. این میشونی میشونی این میشونی میشونی این میشونی میشونی		2
4'							Note: The test ndicates subsi- conditions only specific locatio noted. Subsurf conditions, inc groundwater lis other locations	pit log unface v at the n and time face luding svels, at s of the
a se lection and a second sec							subject site misignificantly fri which, in the of Youngdahl CC Group, Inc., e sampling loca too, that the p time may affe at the sampling	ay differ om conditions opinion of insulting xist at the tions, Note, rassage of ct conditions ng locations.
8°	1997 - 2019 - 20		in the second	w producer of the state of the state of	1.5 m and 2.5 m million and free cases of the cases (100 million of the cases) of the cases of the cases of the	property) have been provided by the protocol of the second of	. s	N
11-0,	THE CONTRACT STREET	The STREEDING VIEW STREED AND A	MT > N.1.71 K.M. AND LOOP SEA 9. (10) 13000. ADD 2010		na (ana ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang		Scale: 1	" = 2 Feet
GEOTECH	OUNC CONSULTIN INICAL • ENVIRONMENT	G GROUP, INC.	Project 07145.0 May 2 0	No.: 000 E	XPLORATO White Ro 1400 A Folso	RY TEST ck & Scott R Acre Propert om, California	PIT LOG toad y	FIGURE A-28

	h ii	Date: 25 April 2	007	Elevation			Pi	t No. 2_27
ogged By: K		with 24" Bucket		Pit Orient	ation: N-S			
quipment: Jo	Onn Deere SG	al Description & Un	ified Soil Clas	sification	Sample	Tests	& Comment	s
(Feet) @ 0 - 0.5'	Geotechni Light red bro	wn sandy SILT (ML)	with trace grammal roots	avel,		NOA: 0' - 5'		
@ 0.5' - 5'	Light gray m weathered, i fractures clo moist	etasandstone BEDR ndurated, moderaltly sed to open 1/4" with	COCK, highly developed fr n soil filling, sl	acturing, lightly				
	Test pit term No free grou No caving n	inated at 5' (practica Indwater encountere oted	l refusal) d					
0 1	2'	3' 4' 5'	6'	7' 8'	9' 10'	11'	12' 13'	14'
1' - 2' - 3' -	X	BEDROCK						
4 ⁴							Note: The test indicates subsi conditions only specific locatio noted. Subsurf conditions, inci groundwater le other locations subject site ma significantly fro which, in the o Youngdahl Co Group, Inc., et sampling loca too, that the p time may affei at the samplir	pit log Inface at the n and time ace uding vels, at of the ay differ pinion of nsulting cist at the tions, Note, assage of st condition g locations
			A MARKEN AND A CALLER AND AND A CALLER AND A		ne na postal na se	a straining of the strain of the	s	= 2 Feet
	OUN CONSULTIN NICAL + ENVIRONME	TDAFL NG GROUP, INC. NTAL + MATERIALS TESTING	Project 07145. May 2	No.: 000 007	XPLORATO White Ro 1400 A Folso	RY TEST ck & Scott F Acre Propert om, California	PIT LOG Road y	FIGURI

 \bigcirc





aged By: 1	EM Date: 25	April 2007	Elevation:				TP-:	28
uipment: J	ohn Deere SG with 24" Br	ucket	Pit Orienta	ation: W-E	1		<u> </u>	
Depth (Feet)	Geotechnical Description	on & Unified Soil C	Classification	Sample	Tes	its & Con	nments	
@ 0 - 1.5'	Red brown silty SAND (S slightly moist, with small	M) with trace grav roots	el, loose,		Geotherm	al Alteration	n Zone	
@ 1.5' - 4'	Dark olive metasandston weathered, weakly indura fracturing, slightly moist	e BEDROCK, high ated, poorly develo	nly oped		(Low Grac	fe)		
@ 4' - 4.5'	Grades moderately indu	rated						
	Test pit terminated at 4.5 No free groundwater end No caving noted	5' (practical refusal countered)					
<u> </u>	. ว 3' 4'	5 0	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i			•		
1 ¹ - 2 ¹ -						د در این بینی ا - - - در این میشند - این این این این ا - این این این این این این	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	ی در این محمد این ا
1'						Note: T indicate conditio specific noted, S conditic ground other lo subject	he test pit s subsurfa ns only at location a Subsurfact ons, includ water leve cations of t site may c	iog cce the ing is, at the differ
1' - 2' - 3' - 4' - 5' - 5' - 6' - 7' - 8' - 8' - 6' - 7' - 8' - 8' - 6' - 7' - 8' - 8' - 6' - 7' - 8' - 8' - 8' - 8' - 8' - 8' - 8	BEDRC					Note: T indicate conditio specific noted. S conditic ground other lo subject signific which, Younge Group, Sampli too, the time m at the	he test pit is subsurfa ins only at iocation a Subsurface ons, includi water level ocations of t site may of antly from in the opin dahl Consu , Inc., exist ng iocation at the pass may affect of sampling l	iog the nd tim s, at the differ condition at the s, No sage c condition condition
1'	E Contraction of the second se					Note: T indicate conditio specific noted. S conditio ground- subject subject signific which, Youngo Group, sampli too, that time m at the Sc	he test pit is subsurfat ons only at location a Subsurface ons, includi water leve ocations of t site may of antly from in the opin dahl Consu , Inc., exist ng locatior at the pass tay affect of sampling l cale: 1" =	iog ice the ind tim s, at the differ condition of sage c condition cation 2 Fer

	Data: 25 April 2007	Elevation:			Pit No.
ged By: KEM	Udie. 25 April 200	Pit Orienta	ation: W-E		15*23
ipment: John Deere SG	WILL 24 DUCKEL		Sample	Tests & Co	mments
Depth Geotechnic (Feet)	al Description & Unified Soli C	Jassication		NOA: 0' - 4.5'	
0 - 0.5' Light brown s	andy SILT (ML) with trace gra	ivel, medium			
0.5' - 4.5' Gray metase	dimentary BEDROCK (SLATE	E), highly			
weathered, in fractures close	ndurated, moderately develops sed to open with soil filling, slig	ghtly moist			
Test pit termi No free grou No caving no	nated at 4.5' (practical refusal ndwater encountered oted)			
		7' 8'	9' 10'	11' 12'	13' 14'
			· · · · · · ·		and an
	<u>11110 - 2014 1111 122 - 2014</u> 1717 - 2014 1211 1212 - 2014 1214 1214 1214 1214 1214 1214 1214	779929 James -	a An an		ا معمد در معمیر ایکار اسوال معمد میرود میرود این ا
		2.10 J	al la sur a construction de la sur	 Second Street and Second Street Street	n
2'	BEDROCK	S	n an	an na an a	
	1	1	د می از می در می اور این اور ای مرابع می مرابع می	and a second	مریک میں بین میں
	se a se	n da an an ann ann an ann an ann ann ann	n a stan an ann an tha an an tha an an tha an an tha an	L. Note:	The test oit log
4		- - 	a maay ah waxaa ah w	indical condit	ies subsurface ions only at the io location and time
	(a) a second s		and we will be started a start of the start of	noted condit	. Subsurface lions, including
and a set of the set o		Constitution of the state of th	and the second	groun other subje	locations of the ct site may differ
	a - 1944 - 194	Spendor purpose and one of the second second second	A Designation of the second of the second second	signif which Youn	icantly from conduct 1, in the opinion of gdahl Consulting
				Grou sam	p, Inc., exist at the ling locations, Note that the passage of
		and the second s	the set of	time at the	may affect condition a sampling location
			1990 - 1997 - 19		V E
- By the of the second	internal part of the manufacture and an analysis of the state of the	Set of a point of the set of the			Scale: 1" = 2 Feet
ZOIN	Pro 07	ject No.: E 145.000	XPLORATOR White Rock	(Y TEST PIT	
		Real Property lies and the second sec	4 A DO A P	re Property	a Date of

 $\left(\right)$



	(FM	Date: 25 April 2007	Elevatio	n:		
iggea by: N	ohn Deere S0	S with 24" Bucket	Pit Orier	ntation: S - N		
Depth	Geotechni	cal Description & Unified S	oil Classification	Sample	Tests & Co	omments
(Feet) @ 0 - 0.5'	Very light br	own sandy SILT (ML) with , slightly moist, with small r	trace gravel, oots		NOA: 0' - 5'	
@ 0.5' - 5'	Light gray b (SLATE), hi fracturing, fr slightly mois	rown metasedimentary BE ghly weathered, indurated, actures closed to open 1/4 st	DROCK well developed " with soil filling,			
	Test pit term No free gro No caving r	ninated at 5' (practical refus undwater encountered ooted	al)			
0 1	2 ⁴	<u>3' 4' 5' 6</u>		9' 10	' <u>11' 12'</u>	<u>13' 14'</u>
1' + 2' + 3' + 4' -		BEDROCK			Note: indica special s	The test pit log tes subsurface tions only at the ic location and time . Subsurface
51					condi grour other subje signif which Youn Grou samp too, t time at the	tions, including dwater levels, at locations of the ct site may differ icantly from condition n, in the opinion of gdahl Consulting p, inc., exist at the bing locations, Note, that the passage of may affect conditions
	надара "Аран (Алан Алан Алан Алан Алан Алан Алан Алан		EL NUESSEE CONTRACTOR AND	NATE OF CALL AND A DESCRIPTION OF A DESC	e Instante estimation and the second second second	
	re-registrated - of a state over a state of the state of	O NY STORAGE AND	and the second	a sense a la companya de la company		
		NG GROUP, INC.	Project No.: 07145.000 May 2007	EXPLORAT White R 1400 Fol:	DRY TEST PII ock & Scott Road Acre Property som, California	



	UNIF	fied soil	CLAS	SIFICATION	SYSTEMS	
N	AJOR	DIVISION	SYMBOLS	TYPIC	AL NAMES	
1	ą	Class GRAVELS	GW	Well graded GRAVELS.	GRAVEL-SAND	
	LS #4 siev	With Little Or No Fines	GP 2	Poorly graded GRAVEL mixtures	S. GRAVEL-SAND	
olLS eve	50% >		GM	Silly GRAVELS, poorly SILT mixtures	graded GRAVEL-SAND-	NDE
4ED S 200 si	Over	GRAVELS With Over 12% Fines	GC	Clayey GRAVELS, poor CLAY mixtures	rly graded GRAVEL-SAND-	
3RAII % > #:	u ا	Cierce SANDS	SW	Well graded SANDS, g	ravelly SANDS	ASTIC
RSE (er 50	s id siev	With Little Or No Fines	SP	Poorly graded SANDS,	graveliy SANDS	
Q0A V			SM 1	Silly SANDS, poorly gr	aded SAND-SILT mixtures	
		SANDS With Over 12% Fines	sc //	Clayey SANDS, poorly	graded SAND-CLAY	
		1	ML III	horganic SILTS, silly claver SILTS with plas	or clayey fine SANDS, or tiloity	
LS sve	D S OILS 200 sieve 200 sieve	ILTS & CLAYS	CL	L Inorganic CLAYS of low to medium plasticity, provelly, sandy, or silly CLAYS, lean CLAYS		
D S OI		idino Filmir 200	OL	- Organic CLAYS and o	rganic silty CLAYS of low	
AINE 8 < #2	┣		мн	Inorganic SILTS, mica sandy or silly soils, eli	ceous or diamacious fine astic SILTS	
IE GR er 50'		SILTS & CLAYS	СН	Inorganic CLAYS of h	igh plasticity, fat CLAYS	
亡る			ОН	Organic CLAYS of me	edium to high plasticity,	
		RGANIC CLAYS	PT	PEAT & other highly o	organic soils	
	STAN		6		SOIL GRAIN S 3" [%]	
ц.з	. 3 IAN			008815	GRAVEL	
		BDULD	ER	COBBLE	COARSE FIN	E COA
SO GR	IL AIN SIZ		ERS 15)	75 19	4./5
		YTO PIT	& BOR	ING SYMBOL	S /	(3) (1)
			Modified	California Sampler	a	F ~ \
	1	1 2.5° U.U	, Modified	Janorna Darrer		۰ ۱

1.450

PLASTICITY CHART

ED FOR CLASSIFICATION OF FINE GRAINED SOILS



SAMI BLOWS PEI FOOT	PLE DRIVING RECORD
25	25 Blows drove sampler 12 inches, after initial 6 inches of seating
50/7*	50 Blows drove sampler 7 inches, after initial 6 inches of seating
50/3"	50 Blows drove sampler 3 inches during or after initial 6 inches of seating
Note: To ave to 50 blows	oid damage to sampling tools, driving is limited per 6 inches during or after seating interval.

			and the second secon	111017	-				
		S	ामदस्		. 10	40	20	10	
U.S. STAND	ARD SIEVE	6"	3" % GRA	VEL		SAND		SILT	CLAY
	BDULDER	COBBLE	COARSE	FINE	COARSE	MEDIUM	FINE	75 01	07
SOIL GRAIN SIZE	EIN MILLIMETERS 1	50 7	′5 1	9 4.	75 2.	.0 ,42	5 0.0		

PIT & BORING SYMBOLS

			loi-t	
	Standard Penetration test		Foliation	
	2.5" O.D. Modified California Sampler	a	Water Seepage	
	3" O.D. Modified California Sampler	NFWE FWE	No Free Water Encountered Free Water Encountered	
	Shelby Tube Sampler	REF DD	Sampling Refusal Dry Density (pcf)	
0	2.5" Hand Driven Liner	MC	Moisture Content (%)	
R	Bulk Sample	PI	Plasticity Index	
<u>v</u>	Water Level At Time Of Drilling	UCC	Unconfined Compression (ASTM D2166)	
X	Water Level After Time Of Drilling	TVS El	Pocket Torvana Snezr Expansion Index (ASTM D4829)	
Ţ	Perched Water	Su	Undrained Shear Strength	

	Project No.:	SOIL CLASSIFICATION	FIGURE
TOTNERA H.	R07145.000	CHART & LOG EXPLANATION	A-34
CONSULTING GROUP, INC.	May 2007	Folsom, California	
GEOTECHNICAL . ENVIRONMENTAL . MATERIALS TESTING			





APPENDIX F5

Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Report – GenCorp South Folsom Sphere of Influence Property



Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Report GENCORP SOUTH FOLSOM SPHERE OF INFLUENCE PROPERTY Folsom, Sacramento County, California WKA No. 7712.03 January 31, 2008

4

Prepared For: GenCorp Realty Investments LLC 620 Coolidge Drive, Suite 100 Folsom, California 95630

Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Report GENCORP SOUTH FOLSOM SPHERE OF INFLUENCE PROPERTY Sacramento County, California

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION1
Scope1
Figures
Project Description2
FINDINGS
Site Description2
Preliminary Soil Description and Percolation Characteristics
Site Geology7
Subsurface Conditions
Ground Water
CONCLUSIONS
Building Support
Existing Pond Embankment
Naturally Occurring Asbestos Potential
Excavation Conditions
Rippability
Soil Expansion Potential
Material Suitability
Ground Water and Seepage
Seasonal Water
Seismic Code Parameters – 2007 CBC/ASCE 7-05
Soil Corrosion Potential
PRELIMINARY RECOMMENDATIONS
Foundation Alternatives
Earthwork 15
Monitoring During Earthwork
Interior Floor Slab Support
Pavement Subgrade Quality
Future Studies 19
LIMITATIONS


Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Report GENCORP SOUTH FOLSOM SPHERE OF INFLUENCE PROPERTY Sacramento County, California

TABLE OF CONTENTS, Continued

FIGURES

Vicinity Map	Figure 1
Soil Survey Map	Figure 2
Geologic Map	Figure 3
Unified Soil Classification System	Figure 4





January 31, 2008

CORPORATE OFFICE 32S1 Beacon Boulevard, Suite 300 West Sacramento, CA 95691 916.372.1434 phone 916.372.2565 fax

> **Rocklin Office** 500 Menlo Drive, Suite 100 Rocklin, CA 95765 916.435.9722 phone 916.435.9822 fax

Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Report GENCORP SOUTH FOLSOM SPHERE OF INFLUENCE PROPERTY Sacramento County, California WKA No. 7712.03

STOCKTON OFFICE 3410 West Hammer Lane, Suite F Stockton, CA 95219 209.234.7722 phone 209.234.7727 fax

INTRODUCTION

We have completed a preliminary geotechnical engineering evaluation of the GenCorp South Folsom Sphere of Influence Property located in eastern Sacramento County, California. Our work has been performed in accordance with authorization on January 22, 2008 from Mr. Michael Pavik, and the scope of work outlined in our proposal letter dated January 24, 2008.

<u>Scope</u>

Our scope of work included the following tasks:

- 1. review of historic USGS topographic maps, geologic maps, Soil Conservation Service (SCS) soil survey maps, and aerial photographs of the property;
- 2. site reconnaissance;
- 3. review of previous investigations we accomplished on adjacent properties (including test pits, seismic refraction surveys, and laboratory testing of selected soil samples); and,
- 4. preparation of this report.

Supplemental information used in the preparation of this report included review of our *Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Report* prepared for the Folsom 1400 Property (WKA No. 6449.02, dated March 23, 2005), located adjacent to the subject site to the east, and review of our *Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Report* prepared for Carpenter Ranch (WKA No. 7757.01, dated September 6, 2007), located adjacent to the subject site to the north. Information contained within those reports was utilized in the preparation of this report.

<u>Figures</u>

Our report contains a Vicinity Map showing the location of the subject property (Figure No. 1); a Soils Map indicating the distribution of surface soils at the site (Figure No. 2); a Geologic Map (Figure No. 3); and, an explanation of the Unified Soil Classification System (Figure No.4).

Project Description

Based upon the information provided, we understand the site is planned for mostly single-family residential development, with some multi-family residential development and office and commercial property. Open space and parks will be included, as well as an elementary school site. We assume single-family residential construction will consist of one- and two-story, wood-frame houses with interior concrete slab-on-grade floors. Associated development will include construction of underground utilities and roadways.

FINDINGS

Site Description

The GenCorp South Folsom Sphere of Influence Property includes two areas totaling about 610 acres east of Prairie City Road and north of White Rock Road in eastern Sacramento County, California (see Figure 1). The northern property is defined by Sacramento County Assessor Parcel Number 072-0231-048, and the southern property is defined by Sacramento County Assessor Parcel Numbers 072-0060-072 and 072-0060-074.

The larger southern property is bounded to the north (Carpenter Ranch) and east (Folsom 1400 Property) by grazing land; to the south by White Rock Road; and, to the west by Prairie City Road. The boundary of the area is defined on all sides by cattle fencing. At the time of our site reconnaissance, the southern portion of this area consisted of grazing land covered with seasonal grasses, weeds and mature trees. The northern portion supported a heavy concentration of trees relative to the remainder of the site. Numerous rock outcrops were visible across the site. A dirt access road from White Rock Road near the eastern site boundary terminated easterly of the



property at the Circle B Ranch. A pond roughly three to five acres in size was observed on the northern portion of the property in a topographically low area. An earth dam on the order of 15 to 20 feet in height was observed on the north side of the pond, and a large concentration of tules was observed within the center of the pond. Depth of the pond is not known. Further observation of the site revealed indications that the near surface materials northerly and easterly of the pond have been excavated. Mounds and depressions from one to five feet in height and depth were observed. The mounds consist primarily of a mixture of quartz and slate, and larger cobble size pieces of quartz covered much of the ground surface around this area. Mature oak trees were observed growing in the mounds and in the associated depressions. A ditch approximately three to five feet wide by about three feet deep traverses this portion of the approximately with the former Natomas Ditch that carried water to dredge fields westerly of the subject property during past gold mining activity. The pond, mounds and ditch are located in an area designated as open space on a site plan prepared by MacKay and Somps dated January 23, 2008.

An alignment of towers supporting high voltage power lines was observed traversing through the central portion of the southern property trending roughly northeast to southwest. A graveled road originating from Prairie City Road near the west central boundary of the site leads to a fenced, excavated area approximately one thousand feet east of Prairie City Road. The western boundary of the excavated area was approximately 20 feet deep. The excavated area is shallower to the east. A road within the fenced area circles the bottom of the excavation, and a tarpped mound of soil is located near the eastern boundary of the excavated area. Numerous monitoring wells were observed around the excavation and scattered across this portion of the site. A concentrated rectangular shaped array of monitoring wells, some equipped with monitoring gauges, was observed immediately east of Prairie City Road. The array of wells covered a ground surface area approximately 20 feet wide by about 40 feet in length. An area approximately 500 feet by 500 feet was observed immediately south of the excavated area with disturbed surface materials indicated by hummocky topography and the presence of larger aggregate sizes at the surface. Most of these features are located in a future park site as shown on the Mackay and Somps site plan; however, the area with disturbed surface materials about 500 feet square may exist in an area designated for high density residential development.



The northernmost property is irregularly shaped and is bounded to the north by Alder Creek; to the east by Carpenter Ranch; and, to the south and east by Prairie City Road. At the time of our site reconnaissance, vegetation across the site consisted of a light to moderately thick growth of annual grasses and weeds. Mature trees were observed growing on the northern half of this area near Alder Creek and along ravines located near both the western and eastern boundaries. The surface materials across the central portion of the northern property appear to have been disturbed as indicated by hummocky topography and the presence of dredge tailings located near the northeastern portion of the area. Dredge tailings that are mounded around a low-lying area are on the order of 10 to 20 feet in height. We were not able to determine how deep the area had been dredged at the time of our site reconnaissance. Alder Creek was observed near the northern boundary traversing roughly east to west. The creek appeared to be about 40 to 50 feet wide and contained heavy concentrations of tules within the stream, and blackberry bushes along the creek banks. A few trees were observed growing within the creek.

The natural topography across the southern property varies between undulating and gently rolling terrain with surface elevations ranging between approximately +300 to +380 feet relative to mean sea level (msl), and the topography across the northern property is undulating with steep ravines with surface elevations ranging between approximately +240 to +310 feet msl based on review of the USGS *Topographic Map of the Buffalo Creek Quadrangle, California*, dated 1967 (photorevised 1980) and the USGS *Topographic Map of the Folsom Quadrangle, California*, dated 1967 (photorevised 1980).

Review of available aerial photographs taken in 1963, 1971, 1976, 1984 and 1991 indicate the property has been undeveloped and used for grazing cattle since at least 1963. The high voltage power line alignment located on the southern property appears to have been in existence since before 1971. The reservoir in the northern portion of the southern property is visible in the 1984 photo, and improvements to the Prairie City Road/Highway 50 intersection are visible in the 1991 photo. Unimproved roads are also visible on the property in the aerial photographs.

Preliminary Soil Description and Percolation Characteristics

Review of the April 1993 U.S. Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service (SCS) *Soil Survey of Sacramento County, California,* indicates the near-surface soils on the subject property

consist of ten different soil types including "Argonaut-Auburn complex, 3 to 8 percent slopes (107)"; "Fiddyment fine sandy loam, 1 to 8 percent slopes (145)"; "Hicksville sandy clay loam, 0 to 2 percent slopes, occasionally flooded (160)"; "Pits (190)", "Red Bluff loam, 2 to 5 percent slopes (192)"; "Red Bluff-Redding complex, 0 to 5 percent slopes (193)"; "Red Bluff-Xerothents, dredge tailings complex, 2 to 50 percent slopes (196)"; "Vleck gravelly loam, 2 to 15 percent slopes (235)"; "Whiterock loam, 3 to 30 percent slopes (237)"; and, "Xerorthents, dredge tailings, 2 to 50 percent slopes (245)." The approximate distribution of these soils is indicated on Figure 2.

The following is a description of each soil type and the percolation characteristics as described by the U.S. Department of Agriculture, SCS *Soil Survey of Sacramento County, California*. Where appropriate, we have included the Unified Soil Classification Symbol (USCS) corresponding to each soil type. An explanation of the USCS is included as Figure 4.

 The Argonaut-Auburn complex (No. 107) consists of about 45 percent Argonaut soil and 35 percent Auburn soil. The Argonaut surface layer is typically reddish yellow and light yellowish brown loam (ML/CL) about 8 inches thick. The lower 15 inches is a claypan of brown and red clay and clay loam (CL/CH). The soils are underlain by weathered metamorphic rock. In some areas the surface layer is gravelly loam or silt loam (GM/ML). Permeability is very slow, and the shrink-swell potential is high.

The Auburn surface layer is typically brown, reddish yellow and yellowish red loam (ML/CL) about 14 inches thick. The soils are underlain by weathered metamorphic rock. Permeability is moderate.

- The Fiddyment fine sandy loam (No. 145) typically consists of brown and yellowish brown fine sandy loam (SM) and loam (ML/CL) from one to two feet in thickness. The near-surface soils are underlain by a claypan of brown clay loam (CL) about one foot thick, and by a light yellowish brown hardpan (CL/SC) that is cemented with silica. Siltstone or sandstone typically exists at a depth of about three to four feet. Permeability is very slow, and the shrink-swell potential is moderate.
- The Hicksville sandy clay loam profile (No. 160) typically consists of a surface layer of dark brown sandy clay loam (SM/SC) about six inches thick. The subsoil is brown

sandy clay loam (CL/SC) about 22 inches thick. The underlying material is light olive gray very gravelly sandy clay loam (GM/GC) about 14 inches thick. Permeability is moderately slow, and the shrink-swell potential is moderate.

- Pits (No. 190) typically consists of sand and gravel in shallow pits that were exposed during early placer mining operations. Most areas of this unit have been excavated and the ground is highly disturbed.
- The Red Bluff loam (No. 192) consists of a surface layer of brown loam (CL/ML) about 6 inches thick, underlain to a depth of about three feet by reddish brown and yellowish red clay loam (CL) and red gravelly clay (GC). Yellowish red, red, and brown gravelly clay loam (GC) exists to a depth of about seven feet. Hardpan is sometimes found at depths of four to five feet. Permeability is moderately slow, and the shrink-swell potential is low to moderate.
- The Red Bluff-Redding complex (No. 193) consists of about 45 percent Red Bluff soil and 40 percent Redding soil. The surface layer of the Red Bluff soil is a brown loam (CL/ML) about 8 inches thick. The upper part of the subsoil is reddish brown and yellowish red clay loam (CL) about 17 inches thick. The next part is yellowish red and red gravelly clay (GC) about 18 inches thick. The lower part to a depth of 68 inches is yellowish red, red, and light brown very gravelly clay loam (GC). In some areas the surface layer is sandy loam (SM). Permeability is moderately slow in the Red Bluff soil, and the shrink-swell potential is low to moderate.

The surface layer of the Redding soil is a strong brown gravelly loam (GC/GM) about 7 inches thick. The upper part of the subsoil is yellowish red loam (CL/ML) and gravelly loam (GC/GM). The lower part is a claypan of reddish brown and yellowish red gravelly clay (GC/CH/CL) about 8 inches thick. Below this to a depth of 66 inches is a very gravelly hardpan that is strongly cemented with silica. In some areas the surface layer is gravelly sandy loam (GM/SM), loam (CL/ML), or sandy loam (SM). Permeability is very slow in the Redding soil, and the shrink-swell potential is low to high.

- The Red Bluff-Xerothents, dredge tailings complex (No. 196) is similar to the Red Bluff soil described previously (No. 193), except where it has been disturbed by placer mining operations and consists mostly of gravel and cobbles.
- The Vleck gravelly loam (No. 235) typically consists of a surface layer of gray and light gray gravelly loam (SM/GM) about 13 inches thick. The upper 12 inches of the subsoil is a claypan of light brownish gray clay (CL/CH) that has light gray bleached coatings. The lower 7 inches is mixed pale yellow and light yellowish brown sandy clay loam (SC/CL). The substratum is a pale yellow hardpan that is strongly cemented with silica. It is about 18 inches thick. Pale yellow, weakly consolidated sediments are at a depth of about 50 inches. In some areas the surface layer is gravelly sandy loam (GM/SM), sandy loam (SM), or loam (CL/ML). In other areas the subsoil is gravelly clay (GC). Permeability is very slow in the Vleck soil, and the shrink-swell potential is high.
- The Whiterock loam (No. 237) typically consists of a thin layer of brown loam (ML/CL), silt loam (ML), gravelly silt loam (GM/ML), or gravelly loam (SM/GM) underlain by highly fractured metasedimentary rocks. Permeability is moderate, and the shrink-swell potential is low.
- Xerorthents, dredge tailings (No. 245) consists of material that has a high content of gravel and cobbles deposited as tailings after most of the fine-grain soils were washed from them during gold dredging activities.

Site Geology

As shown on Figure 3, the southern property is underlain by Gopher Ridge Volcanics, Salt Springs Slate, and gabbroic rocks in the eastern portion, and by the Laguna Formation and Ione Formation in the western portion as identified by the California Department of Conservation: Mines and Geology publication, *Generalized Geologic Map of the Folsom 15-Minute Quadrangle.* The northern property is underlain by the Salt Springs Slate and the Laguna Formation.

The Gopher Ridge Volcanic formation consists mostly of metamorphosed volcanic mafic to andesitic pyroclastic rocks, lava, and pillow lava. The Salt Springs Slate consists mostly of dark gray slate with subordinate tuff, greywacke, and rare conglomerate. Quartz veins are associated with the Salt Springs Slate and the Gopher Ridge Volcanics, and generally trend southeastnorthwest. The gabbroic rocks underlying the southern property belong to the Foothill Melange-Ophiolite Terrane. The Laguna Formation consists of alluvial sands, silts, and conglomerate, and the Ione Formation consists of interlayered beds of kaolinitic clay, quartz sand, and sandy clay.

A geologic map included in the *Mineral Land Classification of the Folsom 15-Minute Quadrangle, Sacramento, El Dorado, Placer, and Amador Counties, California* (California Department of Conservation Division of Mines and Geology Open-File Report 84-50, 1984) and the *Fault Activity Map of California and Adjacent Areas* (California Department of Conservation Division of Mines and Geology Geologic Data Map No. 6, 1994) indicate the west branch of the Bear Mountains Fault is located approximately 5 miles east of the site, and represents the westernmost fault within the "Foothills Fault Zone." The property is not identified within an *Alquist-Priolo Fault Study Zone*, meaning that the State has not identified any active faults (activity within the last 11,000 years) on the property. The Bear Mountains Fault is mapped as a pre-Quaternary fault (not active within the last 1.6 million years), except for the "Rescue Lineament," which may have been active in late Quaternary time. The Rescue Lineament is located about 13 miles northeast of the site.

Subsurface Conditions

Test pits excavated on adjacent properties with geologic conditions similar to the subject site generally encountered clayey, sandy silts and silty clays less than two feet thick in areas underlain by slightly weathered metamorphic and gabbroic rock. Depth of excavation with a Case 580 backhoe within the metamorphic and gabbroic rocks was generally limited to five feet; however, hard rock that could not be excavated was also encountered at depths less than five feet in some areas. Subsurface conditions in areas underlain by the Laguna Formation consisted of silty sands, sandy silts and sandy gravels underlain by cemented sandy gravels and cobbles to a maximum depth of about 10 feet. The zone of cementation was encountered at variable depths generally starting at depths between two and six feet below the ground surface.



Ground Water

Ground water elevation maps prepared by the Department of Water Resources Public Works Agency County of Sacramento (Spring and Fall, 1979 through 2003) indicate the ground water elevation in the site vicinity fluctuating between approximately 110 feet above mean sea level and 140 feet above mean sea level. This information would place ground water depths at least 100 feet below site elevations.

CONCLUSIONS

Building Support

We anticipate that undisturbed native soils and weathered rock at the site would be capable of supporting the proposed construction provided the appropriate foundation system is used to support the buildings. We also anticipate that engineered fills composed of on-site materials or approved import soils that are placed and compacted in accordance with general engineering practices will be suitable for support of the proposed structures and pavements.

Loose soils resulting from previous site use (including shallow surface mining deposits, dredge tailings, and soils disturbed during environmental remediation activity) should not be relied upon for structural support unless the loose materials are completely removed and placed as properly compacted engineered fill.

Existing Pond Embankment

Evaluation of the stability of the on-site pond embankment is beyond the scope of this preliminary report. A detailed stability evaluation should be accomplished for the embankment during future geotechnical investigations to determine if the embankment requires improvement. Improvement, if required, could include construction of a buttress fill on the downstream side of the embankment to increase embankment stability.





Depending on embankment height and storage capacity, the embankment may be within the jurisdictional oversight of the Division of Safety of Dams. Jurisdictional dam size is typically any embankment greater than 25 feet in height (measured from the downstream toe to the spillway crest elevation) that has a storage capacity of greater than 15 acre-feet, or any embankment with a storage capacity greater than 50 acre-feet unless the embankment height is less than 6 feet.

Naturally Occurring Asbestos Potential

The southern property is underlain by gabbroic rock and the Gopher Ridge Volcanics geologic unit. Special Report 192 prepared by the Department of Conservation California Geological Survey "Relative Likelihood for the Presence of Naturally Occurring Asbestos in Eastern Sacramento County, California" indicate these geologic units are moderately likely to contain naturally occurring asbestos. These geologic units are not present on the northern property.

In September 2004, the Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality Management District (SMAQMD) issued an advisory (Advisory #04-05 revised) that the potential exists for NOA to be encountered in gabbroic rocks and the Gopher Ridge Volcanics. Consequently, the SMAQMD currently requires that earthmoving activities performed in areas underlain by these geologic units be performed in accordance with dust mitigation measures described in the California Air Resources Board's *Asbestos Airborne Toxic Control Measure for Construction, Grading, Quarrying, and Surface Mining Operations (ATCM)*. The SMAQMD requires that specific dust mitigation measures proposed for such projects must be outlined in an Asbestos Dust Mitigation Plan, which is to be approved by the SMAQMD prior to commencing earthmoving activities.

A project may be granted exemption from the ATCM requirements (by SMAQMD) if a geologic evaluation has been conducted by a registered geologist who makes a determination that asbestos does not exist in the area to be disturbed. To obtain a geologic exemption for projects within the specified geologic units, the SMAQMD currently requires that sampling and testing for NOA be performed in accordance with the California Air Resources Board Method 435 (CARB 435), which specifies testing of one three-point composite sample (one sample consisting of material from three different locations) per acre of land to be disturbed.



Excavation Conditions

Excavation of the on-site rock units will vary throughout the property due to differences in composition, fracturing (jointing) and degree of weathering. The subject site contains rocky surface soils, underlain by variably weathered metamorphic and gabbroic rock. The uppermost soil and weathered rock should be excavatable with conventional excavation equipment typically used in the area. The metamorphic and gabbroic rock will be more difficult to excavate, and likely will require large dozers and excavators or possibly blasting to achieve deep excavations.

Rippability

Seismic refraction traverses performed at adjacent sites with similar subsurface rock conditions indicate compressional seismic wave velocities up to approximately 2,500 feet per second (fps) within the upper few feet of the ground surface. Less weathered (harder) metavolcanic and gabbroic rock with interpreted seismic wave velocities between 10,000 and 16,000 feet per second (fps) exist at greater depths.

Based upon the interpreted seismic velocities and the Caterpillar Performance Handbook, 36th Edition, dated April 2006, the near-surface soil/rock profile across most of the property would be rippable with a Caterpillar D8R or larger bulldozer equipped with a single tooth ripper. Less weathered metamorphic and gabbroic rock at greater depths would require larger equipment (D10 or larger) or blasting to achieve excavation. It is possible that local harder deposits of rock could be encountered at shallow depths within the upper portions of the site that also could require either larger construction equipment or blasting to achieve excavation. Based on our experience on nearby projects and the variable hardness of rock within the vicinity of the site, we conclude that it would be prudent to select equipment larger than a Caterpillar D8R that will be capable of excavating harder deposits of rock that will likely be encountered at the site.

Soil Expansion Potential

Laboratory testing of the surface and near-surface soils at adjacent sites indicates soils with moderate to high expansion potentials when tested in accordance with the ASTM D4829 (UBC 29-2) test method. Previous experience also indicates highly expansive clay soils may exist directly above the weathered rock at the site, and that highly expansive materials may be

associated with the Ione formation near the intersection of Prairie City Road and White Rock Road. Use of expansive materials should be avoided within building pads. If expansive materials are exposed at subgrade level, they should be excavated and replaced with low expansion materials.

Material Suitability

The native soils and weathered rock will be suitable for use as engineered fill, provided they do not contain significant concentrations of vegetation or debris, and they are at an appropriate moisture content to allow proper compaction. Clay soils and expansive materials should not be used near the surface of building pads, or directly behind retaining walls, but will be suitable for use in deeper fills. However, experience suggests that the volume of clay in relation to rocky materials is relatively small, resulting in a mixture of materials that is not very expansive. Deeper excavations may result in larger rocks that will not be suitable as engineered fill unless broken down into smaller fragments (about 12 inches or less) that can be properly compacted.

Ground Water and Seepage

Review of available ground water information in the vicinity of the site, suggests that the static ground water table should not adversely affect construction of the proposed improvements. However, experience at other sites underlain by weathered bedrock at shallow depths indicates that seepage likely will be encountered during development of the property, requiring the construction of subdrainage. Typical subdrains consist of perforated pipe and gravel, surrounded by nonwoven geotextile fabric. Design of subdrains should be performed during construction when actual seepage conditions are exposed; however, there should be a contingency in the project budget for subdrain construction.

Seasonal Water

The near-surface soils will be in a near-saturated condition during and for a considerable period following the rainy season. Grading operations attempted following the onset of winter rains and prior to prolonged drying periods will be hampered by high soil moisture contents. Such soils,



intended for use as engineered fill, will require considerable aeration to reach a moisture content that will permit the recommended compaction to be achieved.

Seismic Code Parameters - 2007 CBC/ASCE 7-05

The 2007 California Building Code (CBC) references Chapter 11 of ASCE 7-05, Seismic Design Criteria. ASCE 7-05 seismic design uses the Maximum Considered Earthquake (MCE) ground motion for most design not requiring site-specific response analysis. Section 11.4 requires the determination of parameters S_s and S_1 , the 0.2 second and 1.0 second spectral response accelerations for code site class B, respectively, as determined by the maps prepared by the United States Geological Survey (USGS) presented in ASCE 7-05 Figures 22-3 and 22-4. Alternatively, the site parameters may be determined based on the site latitude and longitude using the public domain computer program developed by the USGS. In our opinion the following parameters may be used for seismic design at the project using the 2007 CBC.

Latitude: 38.6231° Longitude: 121.1419°	ASCE 7-05 Table/Figure	Factor/Coefficient	Value
Short-Period MCE at 0.2s	Figure 22-3	Ss	0.40 g* ·
1.0s Period MCE	Figure 22-4	S ₁	0.20g*
Soil Profile Type	Table 20.3-1	Site Class	С
Site Coefficient	Table 11.4-1	Fa	1.2
Site Coefficient	Table 11.4-2	Γ _ν	1.6
Adjusted MCE Spectral	Equation 11.4-1	S _{MS}	0.47
Response Parameters	Equation 11.4-2	S _{M1}	0.32
Design Spectral	Equation 11.4-3	S _{DS}	0.32
Acceleration Parameters	Equation 11.4-4	S _{D1}	0.21
Seismic Design Category	Table 11 6_1	Occupancy I to III	В
Seisinie Design Category	1 2010 11.0-1	Occupancy IV	С
Seismic Design Category	Table 11.6-2	Occupancy I to IV	D

* Values calculated by linear interpolation.

Soil Corrosion Potential

Published literature¹ defines a corrosive area as an area where the soil and/or water contains more than 500 ppm of chlorides, more than 2000 ppm of sulfates or has a pH of less than 5.5. Results of corrosivity tests accomplished on soils from adjacent sites that are similar to the subject site suggest that the native soils are not unusually corrosive to buried metal or to steel reinforcement properly embedded within Portland cement concrete, and that ordinary Type I/II Portland cement would be considered suitable for use at the site, assuming minimum concrete cover is maintained over the reinforcement.

PRELIMINARY RECOMMENDATIONS

Foundation Alternatives

Our experience in the area and on nearby projects indicates that the proposed single- and multifamily residential structures and commercial/office structures can be supported on conventional, shallow foundations bearing in nonexpansive soils and/or rock materials. Foundations deepened to bear on undisturbed bedrock could be used for additional support capacity. Special foundation design could be required in areas where expansive materials are present. Foundation design alternatives would include using deepened and heavily reinforced conventional foundations.

Typical foundations for one- and two-story residential construction supported on such soil/rock would consist of conventional foundations. Conventional foundations would be at least 12 inches deep containing at least two No. 4 rebar, one each placed top and bottom. Minimum foundation widths of 12 inches for continuous foundations and 18 inches wide for isolated spread foundations would be applicable. We anticipate bearing capacities on the order of 2500 pounds per square foot (psf) for dead plus live load would be applicable for residential foundations bearing in recompacted native materials, engineered fill, or a combination of these materials.



¹California Department of Transportation, Division of Engineering Services, Materials Engineering and Testing Services, Corrosion Technology Branch, *Corrosion Guideline*, Version 1.0, September 2003.

Commercial and office structures one- and two-stories in height could be supported upon continuous and isolated spread foundations extending roughly 18 inches below grade. Bearing capacities on the order of 3000 psf likely may be suitable for sizing foundations. Deepening of foundations would increase the allowable bearing capacity. Conventional foundations would contain reinforcement, such as No. 4 reinforcing bars placed near the top and bottom of the foundations.

Earthwork

Project specific geotechnical engineering investigations should be performed to develop sitespecific grading recommendations. Of special importance for earthwork operations for this site will be the adequate removal of loose soils and undocumented fill material associated with previous site usage (mining, dredging, and environmental remediation) within proposed structural areas. Loose and undocumented materials should be removed to expose firm undisturbed ground. Excavations and depressions resulting from the removal of these items must be backfilled with engineered fill.

Removal of surface organics would depend on the condition and quantity of the organics at the time grading is to begin. Discing of the organics may be suitable for construction, if the organic concentrations are not too thick at the time of grading. Stripping of the organics likely would be required if organics are very thick, with strippings being completely removed from the site or used only in landscape areas. Tree removal (if any) at this site would include the entire rootball and all roots larger than ½-inch in diameter. Deeper ripping and processing to a depth of about 12 inches will be important to facilitate removal of root systems. Excavations and depressions resulting from the removal of trees must be backfilled with engineered fill.

Standard fill construction and compaction procedures, including uniform moisture conditioning of the on-site soils to an optimum moisture content at the time of compaction, will be important for proper support of the planned structures.

On-site soils and rock materials that are predominately less than 12 inches in maximum diameter may be used as engineered fill if they do not contain debris, organics or other deleterious materials. Rocks greater than 12 inches in diameter should be broken into pieces less than 12

inches across. Engineered fill is typically placed in thin lifts and compacted to not less than 90 percent relative compaction, or by several passes with a heavy, self-propelled sheeps foot compactor if the material is rocky, at a moisture content of at least optimum moisture.

Sloping ground steeper than six horizontal to one vertical (6:1) is typically benched during placement of engineered fill with each bench consisting of a level terrace excavated horizontally at least four feet into the sloping ground. Benching should be done progressively at vertical increments not exceeding two feet. Fill placed on slopes that are steeper than four horizontal to one vertical (4:1) is typically keyed into the ground at the toe of the fill slope by excavating a 15-foot wide toe key along the toe of the fill slope that is excavated to a depth of at least two feet into dense soils or weathered rock.

Permanent excavation and fill slopes should be constructed at a slope gradient of two horizontal to one vertical (2:1) or flatter.

Typically only native soils (in lieu of select sand backfill) are recommended for use as backfill for utility trenches located within building footprints and extending at least five feet beyond the perimeter foundation to minimize water transmission beneath the homes. Utility trench backfill is generally thoroughly moisture conditioned to at least the optimum moisture content and mechanically compacted to the recommended density.

Monitoring During Earthwork

Based on our document review and surface reconnaissance, the property is underlain by metavolcanic and gabbroic rock. Although we did not observe asbestiform minerals in the project area during our preliminary site reconnaissance, it must be noted that naturally occurring asbestos (NOA) has occasionally been associated with metavolcanic and gabbroic rocks in close proximity to the site.

Based on our experience with other projects in the region, periodic geologic reconnaissance of soil/rock exposed by grading operations on the property may be recommended to document the absence/presence of NOA. Due to the geologic conditions at property, it is possible that Sacramento County would require submission of an *Asbestos Dust Mitigation Plan* for grading



operations at the site. Such a plan is commonly required to be in place for implementation in the event that NOA is encountered during the course of a project. Requirements for such plans are described in the California Air Resources Board's *Asbestos Airborne Toxic Control Measure for Construction, Grading, and Surface Mining Operations* (ATCM).

Interior Floor Slab Support

Interior residential and commercial/office concrete slab-on-grade floors can be suitably supported upon the properly prepared soil subgrades that are maintained in that condition (optimum moisture). Interior concrete slabs should be reinforced with reinforcing steel bars. Placement of the reinforcement near the mid-depth of the slab would be crucial to its performance. If expansive soils exist at subgrade elevation, pre-saturation of subgrade soils would be required for conventional floor slab systems used for residential construction. Pre-saturation of subgrade soils for concrete tilt-up construction is typically not recommended.

A typical capillary break (crushed rock) should underlie interior slabs-on-grade. If potential heavier floor loads are anticipated with commercial construction, the crushed rock thickness beneath interior slab-on-grade floors could be increased or Class 2 aggregate base compacted to at least 95 percent of the maximum dry density could be used. A vapor retarder membrane could be used where moisture sensitive floor coverings are to be used.

Pavement Subgrade Quality

Due to the rolling site terrain, we anticipate that subgrade conditions will vary considerably. Near surface clayey soils typically possess a Resistance ("R") value of 5, which would be an appropriate design value for clay subgrades. Laboratory testing and experience also suggests that subgrades consisting of weathered rock materials likely will possess an R-value of around 40. Using these design values and the design traffic indices contained in the "Design Practice Guide" prepared by the Sacramento County Transportation Division, dated June 1, 1999, we have calculated the following pavement section alternatives. The procedures used for designing the pavement section are in general conformance with the "Flexible Pavement Structural Design Guide for California Cities and Counties" and applicable portions of the Caltrans Highway Design Manual.



PAVEMENT DESIGN ALTERNATIVES					
	R-Value = 5				
Street Right-of-Way	Traffic Index (TI)	Type B Asphalt Concrete (inches)	Class 2 Aggregate Base (inches)		
40' and 50' Residential	5.0	21⁄2	11		
56' to 74' without Bus Routes	6.0	2½ 3½*	15 13		
56' to 74' with Bus Routes and Cul-de-Sacs	6.5	3 4*	16 14		
84' Streets	9.0	4 5½*	23 21		
108' and 130' Streets	10.0	5 6*	25 24		

PAVEMENT DESIGN ALTERNATIVES				
	R-Value	= 40		
Street Right-of-Way	Traffic Index (TI)	Type B Asphalt Concrete (inches)	Class 2. Aggregate Base (inches)	
40' and 50' Residential	5.0	21⁄2	5	
56' to 74' without Bus Routes	6.0	2½ 3½*	8 6	
56' to 74' with Bus Routes and Cul-de-Sacs	6.5	3 4*	9 6	
84' Streets	9.0	4 5½*	12 10	
108' and 130' Streets	10.0	5 6*	13 12	

• includes Caltrans safety factor

Future Studies

We assume that the site will be developed individually with a variety of structures. Site-specific geotechnical engineering investigations must be performed for each project or group of projects as plans are developed and building types and locations are determined. The final report(s) should present specific recommendations for site preparation, foundation design, floor slab support, retaining wall design, site drainage, and pavement design. Future geotechnical investigations of this property should include test pits, soil sampling, laboratory testing and engineering evaluation. When the project reaches this stage of planning, we would be pleased to provide separate cost estimates for these services.

LIMITATIONS

The proceeding sections of this report should be considered a general overview of the geotechnical engineering aspects of site development. They are not intended for specific design or construction of any of the project improvements. At an appropriate time prior to development, our firm should be retained to conduct a comprehensive, site-specific geotechnical engineering investigation for this project.

We appreciate this opportunity to be of service. Please contact our office if you have any questions regarding our report or the geotechnical aspects of site development.

Wallace-Kuhl & Associates, Inc.



Senior Engineer





Adapted from the U.S. Geological Survey 7.5 minute topographic maps of the Folsom and Buffalo Creek quadrangles, California, 1980.



VICINITY MAP GENCORP SOUTH FOLSOM SPHERE OF INFLUENCE PROPERTY Sacramento County, California

	Ň	
0	1000	2000
SC	ALE IN FE	EET
FI	GURE	1
AWNB	Y	HCS

FIGURE	I
DRAWN BY	HCS
CHECKED BY	EJU
PROJECT MGR	EJU
DATE	1/08
WKA NO. 7'	712.03





SOIL SURVEY MAP GENCORP SOUTH FOLSOM SPHERE OF INFLUENCE PROPERTY Sacramento County, California

SCALE IN FEE	1
FIGURE	2
DRAWN BY	HCS
CHECKED BY	EJU
PROJECT MGR	EIU
DATE	1/08
WKA NO. 77	/12.03



Note: Adapted from the Generalized Geology of the Folsom 15-minute Quadrangle, compiled by R.C. Loyd, 1984.



WALLACE-KUHL & ASSOCIATES, INC.

GENCORP SOUTH FOLSOM OF INFLUENCE PROPERTY

GEOLOGIC MAP

Sacramento County, California

Legend:



Project Boundary Geologic Contact Quartz veins Dredge Tailings Quaternary Alluvium Turlock Lake Formation Laguna Formation Mehrten Formation Ione Formation Copper Hill Volcanics Salt Springs Slate Gopher Ridge Volanics gb Gabbroic Rock



) 1500 3000 SCALE IN FEET

FIGURE 3				
DRAWN BY	HCS			
CHECKED BY	EJU			
PROJECT MGR	EJU			
DATE	1/08			
WKA NO.	7712.03			

		UNIFIE	D SOIL	CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM
MA	JOR DIVISIONS	SYMBOL	CODE	TYPICAL NAMES
		GW	0, + 0, + 0, + 0 0, + 0, + 0, + 0 0, + 0, +	Well graded gravels or gravel - sand mixtures, little or no fines
10	(More than 50% of	GP		Pooriy graded gravels or gravel - sand mixtures, little or no fines
SOILS f soil ize)	coarse fraction >	GM		Silty gravels, gravel - sand - silt mixtures
AINED 50% o sieve s	10. 4 316 46 3126)	GC		Clayey gravels, gravel - sand - clay mixtures
sE GR/ e than o. 200 :	CANDO	SW		Weil graded sands or gravelly sands, little or no fines
OARS (More > no	(50% or more of	SP		Poorly graded sands or gravelly sands, little or no fines
0	coarse fraction <	SM		Silty sands, sand - silt mixtures
	110. 4 Sieve Size)	SC		Clayey sands, sand - clay mixtures
		ML		Inorganic silts and very fine sands, rock flour, silty or clayey fine sands or clayey silts with slight plasticity
OILS soil ize)	$\frac{SILTS \& CLAYS}{11 < 50}$	CL		Inorganic clays of low to medium plasticity, gravelly clays, sandy clays, silty clays, lean clays
VED So ore of sieve si		OL		Organic silts and organic silty clays of low plasticity
GRAIN % or m · 200 s		MH		Inorganic silts, micaceous or diatomaceous fine sandy or silty soils, elastic silts
FINE (50%	$\frac{SILTS \& CLAYS}{ > 50}$	СН		Inorganic clays of high plasticity, fat clays
		ОН		Organic clays of medium to high plasticity, organic silty clays, organic silts
HIGH	HLY ORGANIC SOILS	Pt	د عائد عائد عائد عائد عائد عائد بالد عائد عائد عائد عائد د عائد عائد عائد عائد عائد	Peat and other highly organic soils
	ROCK	RX		Rocks, weathered to fresh
	FILL	FILL		Artificially placed fill material
	OTHER	SYMBOL	S	

	= Drive Sample: 2-1/2" O.D. Modified California sampler
	= Drive Sample: no recovery
	= SPT Sample
Ţ	= Initial Water Level
	= Final Water Level
**	 Estimated or gradational material change line
	= Observed material change line
	Laboratory Tests
	

- PI = Plasticity Index
- EI = Expansion Index
- UCC = Unconfined Compression Test
 - TR = Triaxial Compression Test
 - GR = Gradational Analysis (Sieve)
 - K = Permeability Test

GRAIN SIZE CLASSIFICATION

CLASSIFICATION	RANGE OF GRAIN SIZES			
	U.S. Standard Sieve Size	Grain Size in Millimeters		
BOULDERS	Above 12"	Above 305		
COBBLES	12" to 3"	305 to 76.2		
GRAVEL coarse (c) fine (f)	3" to No. 4 3" to 3/4" 3/4" to No. 4	76.2 to 4.76 76.2 to 19.1 19.1 to 4.76		
SAND coarse (c) medium (m) fine (f)	No, 4 to No. 200 No. 4 to No. 10 No. 10 to No. 40 No. 40 to No. 200	4.76 to 0.074 4.76 to 2.00 2.00 to 0.420 0.420 to 0.074		
SILT & CLAY	Below No. 200	Below 0.074		

FIGURE	4
DRAWN BY	GJF
CHECKED BY	EJU
PROJECT MGR	EJŲ
DATE	1/08
WKA NO. 77	12.03



UNIFIED SOIL CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM GENCORP SOUTH FOLSOM SPHERE OF INFLUENCE PROPERTY Sacramento County, California

APPENDIX F6

Conceptual Grading Plan



